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| am pleased to present the annual results of DreamEast
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2019 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$120.0 million, representing a decrease
of 24.9% from approximately HK$159.8 million in 2018.
The decrease in revenue mainly resulted from the
decrease in rental income upon the completion of the
disposal of a subsidiary in 2018. The Group recorded
a net loss of HK$201.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 as compared to a net profit of HK$158.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The loss
was primarily attributable to a significant decrease in
gain on fair value change of investment properties for
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 as
compared to the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$2,423.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$196.7 million as compared to
HK$2,620.6 million as at 31 December 2018.

Basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Company for the Year amounted to HK$0.6999 (2018:
Basic earnings per share: HK$0.6057).

In the course of business transformation and rapid
development, the Company shall reserve sufficient
capital for development of existing and new projects,
hence the Board of the Company has resolved not to
propose a final dividend for the Year (2018: Nil).

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my greatest appreciation to the
entire staff of the Group for their hard work and efforts
in the Year. | would also like to extend my gratitude
to the investors, business partners, suppliers, local
governments and shareholders of the Company for
their support and confidence in the Group over the
years, in particular their advice and help offered to the
Company in the critical time of business transformation.
I am highly confident that, with the existing strategic
planning, the Group is well-positioned to overcome
challenges and create value for customers, thereby
generating significant shareholder value. | look forward
to sharing with you our rapid developments in years to
come.

Zhou Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 May 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, the global economic growth slowed down. In
the face of the complex situation of rising risks and
challenges at home and abroad, China’s economy
achieved generally stable growth while making further
progress, and China’'s annual GDP exceeded RMB99
trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 6.1%,
which is in line with the projected target of 6% to
6.5%. According to the statistics from the Ministry
of Culture and Tourism, in 2019, the tourism economy
continued to maintain faster growth than GDP growth.
The domestic tourism market and the outbound
tourism market have grown steadily, and the inbound
tourism market has a more stable foundation. During
the year, the number of domestic tourists amounted
to 6.006 billion, representing an increase of 8.4%
from the same period last year; the total number of
inbound and outbound tourists amounted to 300 million,
representing a yearon-year growth of 3.1%; the total
annual revenue from tourism amounted to RMB6.63
trillion, representing a yearon-year growth of 11%. The
comprehensive contribution to GDP from the tourism
industry was RMB10.94 trillion, representing 11.05%
of the GDP 28.25 million people are directly employed
due to tourism and 79.87 million people are indirectly
employed due to tourism, representing 10.31% of the
total employed population in China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWEDN

NEW TYPES OF BUSINESS AND NEW OPPORTUNITIES

The integration of culture and tourism is undoubtedly an
important issue in the development of tourism in recent
years. In particular, the official establishment of the
Ministry of Culture and Tourism marked the beginning
of a new era of culture and tourism in China, and the
cultural tourism industry is also recognized as a new
blue ocean for the development of the tourism industry.
The establishment of the Ministry of Culture and Tourism
is a reflection of the government’'s emphasis on the
culture and tourism market in recent years, indicating
that “Culture + Tourism” will become an important
driving force for domestic economic development, and
will promote cultural tourism enterprises to increase
the intensity of excavation in the cultural industry,
inject more cultural connotation while creating tourism
hardware projects, and create super tourism IPs to
reconstruct the entire tourism industry system, so as to
boost the overall upgrade of the cultural tourism industry
and lead the development of the tourism economy
into a virtuous circle. At the same time, the “Cultural
Tourism +", a new type of business, also brings greater
opportunities to the regional tourism industry.

According to the results of sample surveys on domestic
tourism, in 2017 the number of domestic tourists in
China exceeded 5 billion and reached 5.001 billion,
representing a year-on-year growth of 12.8%. As of
2018, the number of domestic tourists in China reached
5.539 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of
10.8%. In 2019, the number of domestic tourists in
China exceeded 6 billion. It is predicted that the number
of domestic tourists in China will exceed 7 billion in
2021, and increase to approximately 8.547 billion in
2023, representing a CAGR of approximately 8.82%
from 2019 to 2023.
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Due to nationals’ strong demand for tourism, the cultural
tourism industry has become one of the industries
most worth investing. In the past three years, cultural
tourism projects have been implemented frequently, and
the enthusiasm of tourism enterprises for developing
cultural tourism products have run high. A number of
tourist towns, tourism properties and theme parks were
built and have also attracted a lot of capital to rush in.
For example, with the development of the “Parent-Child
Economy”, a number of parent-child parks have emerged
in various places. In addition, many scenic spots also
include parent-child parks as a necessary project for
upgrading.

The Group adhered to the cultural entertainment
industry as the core, closely followed social
opportunities, and continued to promote the
implementation of its strategy, focusing on project
development in the three major metropolitan areas,
including Greater Beijing, Greater Shanghai and Greater
Shenzhen. During the period under review, the principal
activities of the Group included the development and
operation of cultural tourist resorts and theme parks
under the brand of “DreamEast”, property development
and leasing businesses.

During the period under review, the DreamEast Shooting
(Clay) Centre with a site area of approximately 103 mu
in the Hengyang DreamEast Resort was completed, and
held the clay shooting match of the thirteenth sports
game of Hunan province and the Hunan “DreamEast
Cup” Youth Shooting Championship (Clay Project)
successfully. The DreamEast Jiashan won the title of
“Most Popular Chinese Paradise for Tourists” under
“2019 Asia Attractions e Golden Crown Award”, and
was included in major development plans such as
“Zhejiang Province's ‘4 + 1" Major Project Construction
Plan” and “Zhejiang Province's ‘Five 100 Billion’
Investment Project”. DreamEast Future World and the
China Association of Science and Technology launched
the “China Mobile Science and Technology Museum”
public welfare project, which attracted nearly 100,000
primary and middle school students and members of
summer camp research and study groups to visit and
experience, and received extremely considerable social
and economic benefits.

Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWEDN

CULTURAL ENTERTAINMENT BUSINESS

Adhering to the promotion of Chinese culture with the
focus on Chinese stories in the form of entertainment,
original designs and craftsmanship, the development
concept featuring “all-IPs” in our projects and the
principle of User First, DreamEast is committed to
delivering new entertainment experience with perfect
online and offline integration by creating a unique
offline entertainment platform. Meanwhile, with the
vision of “Share the Beauty of China with the World
(2ERIELZHRAFZE) ", it commits to the development
approach of “Innovation and Globalization” which
integrates Chinese history, humanities, art, aesthetics
and fashion into its works, and creates unigque new
entertainment experience for customers with its oriental
craftsmanship.

Hengyang DreamEast Resort

The Hengyang DreamEast Resort is situated in
Hengyang, Hunan Province, China. It is at the south of
Mount Heng, which is surrounded by time-honoured
cultural heritage and magnificent natural landscape, and
is the important origin of Huxiang Culture. The project
is conveniently located and approximately 20 minutes’
drive from the downtown area. By taking High-Speed
Rail, it takes around 40 minutes to Changsha, the
capital city of Hunan Province, and nearly 2.5 hours to
Shenzhen. Hunan was named by the most prestigious
personal travel guide Lonely Planet as the Top 10 best
value places in 2018, and was the only Asia tourist
destination on the list.

¥

.'..E - e [ e — =
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

The development of the Hengyang DreamEast Resort
comprised of “Four Towns and Five Parks”, including
the cultural town, the science and technology town,
the forest town and the agricultural town as the Four
Towns, and the DreamEast Adventure Park, the Fantasy
Waterpark, the Pets Kingdom, the Agricultural Cultural
Park and the International Sports Park as the Five Theme
Parks. The project would facilitate the development of
a new tourism landscape featuring “Mount Heng in the
North and DreamEast in the South”. It has become a
model of coordinated development across the primary,
secondary and tertiary industry sectors and a benchmark
of development characterized by industry and city
integration, thereby presenting the world a city of
Huxiang Culture.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DN

In July 2017, the Group succeeded in the bid of a
land parcel with a site area of approximately 330,000
square metres at a consideration of RMB131 million
for the development of Phase 1 of the Hengyang
DreamEast Resort. The Hengyang DreamEast Resort
will be developed in phases. The Fantastic Hunan Town
(Z2EHMEIHE) N Phase 1 embraces Hunan's core
academic culture, water transport culture and religious
culture in the construction of an international cultural
tourism town originated from Hunan culture boasting
natural landscape, marvellous architecture and business
prosperity. At present, the experience centre of the
Hengyang DreamEast Resort is opened to the public.
The design integrates Hunan-style elements, such as the
horse-head wall, and brings out the project’'s essence
to visitors by highlighting the atmosphere of Huxiang
Culture. The DreamEast Shooting (Clay) Centre with
a site area of approximately 103 mu in the Hengyang
DreamEast Resort was completed, and held the clay
shooting match of the thirteenth sports game of Hunan
province and the Hunan “DreamEast Cup” Youth
Shooting Championship (Clay Project) successfully. The
shooting centre will be opened to tourists for shooting
experience in the future as one of the entertainment
activities.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DM

The Hengyang DreamEast Resort has been included in
the “Key Construction Projects in Hunan Province (7
LEIERIEH) " as an “all-forone tourism” project.
It was highly recognized in the practice of differentiated
regional tourism reform in Hengnan County, and was
named “Hengyang Reform and Innovation Quality
Project 2018 (20185 &G MK E &M ELIHEE) ". By
virtue of the successful hosting of the clay shooting
match of the thirteenth sports game of Hunan province,
Hengyang DreamEast Resort won two awards, namely
“Outstanding Contributor” and “Special Contributor”.
The characteristic Huxiang-style buildings, and the
vast and magnificent national AAA scenic spot Yumu
Mountain reflect the epitome of Huxiang Culture in
every detail, and have gradually become one of Internet
celebrities’ favourite scenic spots in Hengyang due to
their impressive style of Instagram.

In addition, the DreamEast Group ploughed deep in
the cultural industry, marched towards the south of
Hengyang, and created the Hengyang DreamkEast
Resort. It has not only presented the world a city
of Huxiang Culture, but also never forgotten to
practice social responsibility. In 2019, Hengyang
DreamEast assisted retired soldiers and their families
in employment, and was honoured as “Innovation
Demonstration Base for the Employment and
Entrepreneurship of Retired Soldiers in Hengyang”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DN

DreamEast Jiashan

The DreamEast Jiashan is positioned itself as a children
dream world for the whole family and located in
Jiashan County, Jiaxing, Zhejiang Province in Greater
Shanghai, China. In terms of comprehensive strength,
Jiashan County is one of the top 100 counties in China.
Situated at the intersection of Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang
Province and Shanghai, Jiashan is the core district
of the Yangtze River Delta city cluster and the first
connection between Zhejiang Province and Shanghai.
The DreamkEast Jiashan is located in the tourist
resort of Dayun Town, Jiashan with a planned area of
approximately 1,700 mu and will be developed in three
phases. Phase 1 covers DreamEast Jiashan Experience
Zone, Deer EIf Discovery Park, Dream Theatre, Dream
Space, Hyatt Place Hotel, etc.; Phase 2 and Phase 3
comprise of a water village incorporating the millennia-
old Wuyue culture with the functions of cultural
experience, homestay tour, themed business, boutique
inn and tourist residence, which is a children dream
world that connects the whole family with art, aesthetics
and innovation.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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On 27 December 2018, the DreamEast Jiashan was
awarded the “Boutique Special Small Town Award (#&
miFE/NEEE) " in the “2018 Forum on the Integrated
Development of the Cultural Tourism Industry in China
(2018 BN IRE B & # E®18) " held by people.com.
cn. On 5 December 2019, the “2019 Asia Attractions
Theme Cultural Tourism Leisure and Entertainment
Development Summit Cum Asia Attractions e Golden
Crown Award Ceremony (201937 4 57 7 82 S ik AR (B 4R 44 3%
RIESEELER & RERMAEES)) ” was grandly held
by the Asia Attractions magazine in Guangzhou, which
commended excellent theme parks and outstanding
elites in the cultural tourism industry in 2019. The
DreamEast Jiashan stood out from many Chinese
participating companies and won the title of “Most
Popular Chinese Paradise for Tourists” under “2019 Asia
Attractions ® Golden Crown Award”.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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At the beginning of 2019, the 101 Experience Centre,
which integrates cultural and artistic display and
experience, was opened to the public. Later, it will serve
as a tourist reception centre and image display window
of the Dream€East Jiashan and even the Sweet Town, and
be used to display various art forms such as painting,
photography, sculpture, Jiangnan folk culture and
Jiashan non-heritage culture, so that the whole family
can be baptized with art and culture in happiness.

In 2019, Phase 2 of the DreamEast Jiashan was included
in the plans including “Zhejiang Province's ‘4 + 1’
Major Project Construction Plan”, “Zhejiang Province's
‘Five 100 Billion" Investment Project”, “Major Projects
Intensively Commenced in Zhejiang Province” and
“Major Project Plan of the Service Industry in Zhejiang
Province”. After the project is completed and put into
operation, it will bring considerable benefits. It will
further increase the development level of the culture and
tourism industry in Jiashan, strengthen the integration
and upgrade of cultural and tourism projects in the
region, accelerate the construction of Jiashan Chocolate
Sweet Town, promote the transformation and upgrading
of service industries in the region, to achieve a win-win
situation for enterprises and local fiscal revenue.

DreamEast Xiake Island Ecological City

DreamEast Xiake Island Ecological City is located in Xu
Xiake Town, Jiangyin City in Jiangsu Province within the
greater Shanghai region. With the Yangtze River on its
north and Taihu Lake a little way on its south, Jiangyin
has been an important transportation hub and a key
military site since ancient times. It has a long history
and rich cultural heritage, and was the home of the
famous explorer Xu Xiake, and has been called “the
Ancient County of Yanling” and “a loyal and righteous
state”. Having the most listed companies in the county,
it is also called the “Number One County-level City with
the Most Capital in China”. By leveraging on its nearly
5,000 mu of natural wetland resources, DreamEast Xiake
Island Ecological City will turn itself into a highland to
present and promote the Xu Xiake culture, and a tourist
destination for “its original wetland life forms and an
exceptional experience of the Xu Xiake culture”.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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L
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On 22 January 2019, the Group made a successful bid
for the land use rights of three pieces of lands situated
at Xu Xiake Town, Jiangyin City in Jiangsu Province for
commercial use at the total price of RMB474 million
(approximately HK$551 million). Meanwhile, the
Group entered into the cooperation agreement with
EERBEREEER (RKE)BRAF (Jinmao Suwan
Corporate Investment (Tianjin) Company Limited)
("Jinmao Investment”) on 30 January, in relation to
the establishment of a joint venture company for co-
development of DreamEast Xiake Island Ecological
City. Jinmao Investment was an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Jinmao Holdings Group Limited
(Stock Code: 817.HK).

Pursuant to the cooperation agreement, the joint venture
company will be owned as to 51% by the Group and
49% by Jinmao Investment. The joint venture company
will be accounted for as a jointly controlled entity of
the Group and the Group will recognise its interest in
the joint venture company using the equity method in
accordance with the relevant accounting principles.
The revenue, assets and liabilities of the joint venture
company will hence not be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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The Group and Jinmao Investment would benefit from
the cooperation in order to exert their strengths, grasp
market opportunities and enhance their investment
portfolio in the property market in the PRC. In view
of the location and the designated use of the lands,
the management considers that the acquisition and
the entering into of the cooperation agreement for
undertaking the DreamEast Xiake Island Ecological City
are in line with the business development strategy and
planning of the Group.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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DreamEast Future World Aerospace Theme Park

Being China’s first and the world’s second aerospace
theme park, DreamEast Future World is an AAAA
National Tourist Attraction and located at Yanjiao National
High-Tech Industrial Development Zone in East Beijing.
The scenic spot has an exceptional geographical
location. It is only 30 minutes’ drive from Beijing
Tiananmen Square and just across the river from the
Beijing Sub Centre. It is also adjacent to transportation
hubs such as Capital International Airport and Yanjiao
Railway Station. It has won such honours as Beijing
Social Classroom Resource Unit, Hebei Province's
Top Ten Cultural Industry Projects, Hebei Province's
National Science Quality Education Base, Municipal
Aerospace Science Popularization Base, and Best
Research and Study Scenic Spot. In December 2019, in
view of DreamEast Future World's high-quality tourism
resources and huge social influence, it was successfully
upgraded to an AAAA National Tourist Attraction and
officially entered the ranks of national high-quality tourist
attractions.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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DreamEast Future World covers a total area of 16,000
square metres and contains more than 30 high-tech
experience projects. It is a comprehensive aerospace
science and technology museum that integrates
aerospace technology exhibitions, extracurricular science
popularization education, and high-tech interactive
experiences. The scenic spot adheres to the mission
of “Popularizing Aerospace Knowledge and Spreading
Aerospace Spirit” and has accumulatively received more
than one million primary and middle school students and
members of research and study groups at home and
abroad. Through entertaining science popularization, it
stimulates children’s love for the aerospace undertaking,
plants the seeds of science for children, and enlightens
their aerospace dream. It is the second classroom
for primary and middle school students to learn and
grow and has developed into an influential aerospace
technology research and study destination in Beijing.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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In 2019, DreamEast Future World ploughed deeply and
cultivated intensively in the domestic tourism market.
In January, it launched a ticket-buying carnival event,
which had 624,000 page views and 239,000 visitors
throughout the warm-up and sales period. In less than
24 hours, 100,000 tickets were sold out, setting off a
nationwide rush for buying tickets and greatly improving
the brand exposure of the scenic spot. At the beginning
of March, the Lantern Festival culture temple fair of
DreamEast Future World was grandly opened. With
“Celebrating the Lantern Festival with Happiness,
Enjoying the City That Never Sleeps” as the theme, the
event offered splendid temple fair folk activities such
as celebrating the Lantern Festival, admiring festive
lanterns, tasting delicious food, and learning intangible
cultural heritage. More than 100,000 people in the
suburbs of Beijing came to feel the charm of traditional
culture. The event has gradually become a brand project
of folk activities in the region, and has been reported by
Beijing Satellite TV for many times.

The aerospace science popularization month launched
on 24 April has been successfully held for four sessions.
As the biggest highlight of this event, the 2019 China
Aerospace Day Commemorative Envelope was first
issued in DreamEast Future World, and the aerospace
post was settled in Future World, which officially kicked
off the aerospace science popularization month. In
addition, it successively launched a series of science
popularization activities including aerospace science
popularization exhibitions, aerospace expert lectures,
calligraphy and painting exhibitions, and public welfare
lectures on letters from home carrying the dream,
which opened a new chapter in aerospace science
popularization, and was reported by more than 30
authoritative media such as Xinhua News Agency,
People's Daily, and Science and Technology Daily. In
June, the scenic spot and the China Association of
Science and Technology launched the “China Mobile
Science and Technology Museum” public welfare
project, during which nearly 100 science popularization
projects were open to the public for free. The event
was launched during the summer peak tourist season
and attracted nearly 100,000 primary and middle school
students and members of summer camp research and
study groups to visit and experience, which received
extremely considerable social and economic benefits.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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DreamEast Future World
Aerospace Theme Park
Operational Data

ERFARRUAMATBELELERE

As of As of
31 December 31 December
2019 2018 Change
HZE2019% HZE20184F
12H31H 124318 25
(Unit: HK$'000) (Ef7 - BEBFr)
Revenue A
Entrance fee income A5 & WA 13,987 14,094 1%
Food and beverage ZR 2,838 3,346 -15%
Total tourism park operations — JR#Z44[E & & 4A%E 16,825 17,440 4%
(Unit: people) (&7 - AX)
Total tourists miERsE 339,872 298,658 14%
Average weekend tourists FHRERERS 1,430 1,099 30%
Average weekday tourists FHIEAERE 732 708 3%
(Unit: people/day) (B AXK-X)
Maximum tourists EEER=E 53,858 * 50,663 * 6%

* The data was recorded on the Chinese Lantern Festival, which *
falls on 19 February 2018, among which 52,880 people took a

20194F2 198 T & £ - B # 35 /N52880 A X - A £R
978 A IR

tour at the outside of DreamEast Future World Aerospace Theme
Park and 978 people attended the museum.

The data was recorded on the Chinese Lantern Festival, which
falls on 2 March 2018, among which 50,000 people took a tour

201843 A2 H 7T & & - H §135 550,000 A )% * A £
663 AKX °

at the outside of DreamEast Future World Aerospace Theme
Park and 663 people attended the museum.
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND LEASING BUSINESS

Beijing Fangshan “COMB+" Project (the “Fangshan
Project”)

The Beijing Fangshan “COMB+" Project is located
between the Southwest 5th and 6th Ring Roads in
Beijing, China and only 2 minutes’ walk from Suzhuang
Station on Fangshan Line of the Beijing Subway. In
July 2014, the Group acquired 3 land parcels for the
North, Central and South Zones of the project at a
total consideration of approximately HK$3.3 billion.
The project occupies a total site area of approximately
147,000 square metres, with a gross floor area of
approximately 434,000 square metres and a planned
gross floor area of approximately 322,000 square
metres. The project is the first large-scaled integrated
community in the district.

In the second half of 2017 the Beijing government
implemented various adjustment measures to cool
down the property market. In view of this, the Group
made corresponding adjustments. As of the end of
2019, the North and Central Zones of the project were
completed and were sold and rented out. The sold
area was approximately 59,900 square metres and
the rented area was approximately 49,200 square
metres. The enterprises settled in include well-known
international and domestic enterprises such as Ping
An of China, Pacific Insurance, and Haichuang Talent
(Beijing) International Innovation Centre. At present,
the South Zone is under continuous construction. In
2019, approximately 176,000 square metres has reached
the structural roof-sealing. The construction of the
remaining 68,000 square metres in the South Zone
will be accelerated. In the future, the management
will keep abreast of the market trend and make timely
adjustments to the marketing strategy, with the aim of
maximising profitability and shareholders’ returns.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROSPECTS

At the beginning of 2020, the global economy was
hit hard by the new coronavirus pneumonia epidemic,
and the global tourism industry also raised alarms.
Preliminary estimates from the World Travel & Tourism
Council indicate that the new coronavirus pneumonia
epidemic will cause losses of at least US$22 billion to
the global tourism industry. China’s tourism industry
has also suffered heavy losses. According to the data
from the National Bureau of Statistics, affected by
SARS, China's total revenue from tourism in 2003
was RMB344.227 billion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 11.24%. Taking into account the year-on-year
growth of 10% in 2002, SARS affected approximately
20% of revenue from tourism. With reference to the
total scale of China’s tourism industry in 2019, which
is RMB6.63 trillion, the impact of the epidemic on the
tourism industry may exceed RMB1 trillion.

The COVID-19 outbreak has brought about additional
uncertainties in the Group's operating environment in
China. As far as the Group's businesses are concerned,
the outbreak has so far caused operational delays. The
Group has put in place contingency measures to lower
the impact from this outbreak. However, the situation
remains fluid at this stage.

Against this background, many places in China have
successively introduced policies to support and revitalize
the development of the tourism industry. The policies
supporting the development of the tourism industry
have been simultaneously issued in many places across
China to solve the widespread survival problems of
enterprises and promote the rapid recovery of the
tourism industry. Various places have continuously
issued a series of related policies to support the stable
operation of enterprises, strengthen financial support,
reduce enterprises’ operating costs, reduce, exempt and
delay tax payments, and explore innovative technologies
to support the tourism industry through difficult times.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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The Group has resumed work gradually on the premise
of ensuring the safety of employees and fulfilling social
responsibilities and will adhere to the existing strategy,
“all-IPs” concept and “new entertainment” principle.
With the vision of “Share the Beauty of China with the
World"” and the mission of “Fill the World with Joy",
the Group will concentrate on tourist resorts, films and
animations businesses in the three core areas, including
Greater Beijing, Greater Shanghai and Greater Shenzhen.
Also, with the progress and successive openings of the
Hengyang DreamEast Resort, the DreamEast Jiashan
and the DreamEast Xiake Island Ecological City, the
Group will also focus on the operation, the cooperation
and the creation and introduction of IPs to create classic
projects and operating cases. This will make the Group
stand out from the cultural entertainment tourism
industry with promising potential, and become a first
class offline entertainment platform in China.

The integration of culture and tourism brings a new
content revolution. Due to the involvement of culture,
the production, distribution, and consumption of the
content of tourism will be subverted, and the content
of culture can also create unique scene value and
flow economy due to the integration of tourism. In
addition, as the tide of technology continues to move
forward, the related industries will change quietly and
the tourism industry is no exception. Innovation will
become an important force to promote the development
of the industry. The Group will continue to explore
and integrate technology into the development of the
industry.

In the long run, DreamEast will develop into a cultural
and entertainment conglomerate, so as to create
stable and sustainable returns for shareholders. With
the progress of project development, the Group's
cultural entertainment business will enter a positive
development stage consisting of leasing, operation,
ticket income and self-developed IPs, and will establish
an ecosystem that centres on the cultural entertainment
industry. In the future, DreamEast will inherit and
innovate Chinese culture with its masterpieces, boost
the profile of Chinese culture and connect the world
with the culture.

2020 is the final year of the 13th Five-Year Plan.
According to the “13th Five-Year Plan for the
Development of the Tourism Industry ( {[+=F ]}k
WEZREMRE) ), by 2020, the total scale of China's
tourism market will reach 6.7 billion person-times, total
investment in tourism will reach RMB2 trillion, and total
revenue from tourism will reach RMB7 trillion. In the
year when the blueprint is turned into reality, China's
tourism will surely be shown to the world with a better
development outlook.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, the equity attributable to
the owners of the Company amounted to HK$2,423.9
million, representing a decrease of HK$196.7 million
from that of 31 December 2018.

On 12 November 2015, the Company issued a two-year
term RMB 8.5% secured convertible bonds due 2017 in
an aggregate principal amount of RMB29,520,000 (the
“Convertible Bonds |”) to an independent third party. In
addition to which, on the same date, the Company also
issued a two-year term HK$8.5% secured guaranteed
bonds due 2017 in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$270,000,000 (the “Bonds |”) to the same holder of
the Convertible Bonds I.

On 24 December 2015, the Company issued a five-year
term RMB zero coupon convertible bonds due 2020 in
an aggregate principal amount of RMB1,500,000,000
(the “Convertible Bonds I1”) to SkyOcean Investment
Holdings Limited, the immediate holding company of the
Company which is beneficially owned as to 80% by Mr.
Zhou Zheng.

On 28 June 2016, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with the same holder of the
Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds |, for the purpose
of issuing three-year term 8% secured guaranteed
bond due in 2019 in an aggregate principal amount
of HK$470,000,000 (the “Bonds II"). The Company
issued the first tranche of the Bonds Il amounting to
HK$70,000,000 on 30 June 2016. The second tranche of
the Bonds Il amounting to HK$400,000,000 was issued
on 5 July 2016.

On 28 June 2016, SkyOcean Investment Holdings
Limited, the holder of the Convertible Bonds Il entered
into a deed of charge with the holder of the Bonds I,
and charged over certain part of Convertible Bonds Il
amounting to RMB450,000,000 in favour of the holder of
the Bonds II.

On 28 June 2016, the Company reached an agreement
with the holder of the Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds
| to extend the maturity date of Convertible Bonds | and
the Bonds | from 12 November 2017 to 30 June 2019.

In March 2017, the holder of Convertible Bonds |
converted part of the Convertible Bonds | with principal
amount of RMB9,840,000 into 1,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company at the specific conversion
exchange rate and conversion price.
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In July 2018, holders of Bond Il with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$70,000,000 have given notice
to exercise their rights of redemption at 100 per cent
pursuant to the terms and conditions of Bond I, which
are cancelled forthwith upon such redemption. In
November 2018, the holder of Convertible Bonds Il
converted part of the Convertible Bonds Il with principal
amount of RMB930,000,000 into 172,663,070 ordinary
shares of the Company at the specific conversion
exchange rate and conversion price, as a result of which
172,663,070 new ordinary shares issued for cancellation.

On 18 December 2018, the holders of Convertible
Bonds Il converted part of the Convertible Bonds Il with
principal amount of RMB120,000,000 into share capital
of the Company, as a result of which 22,279,106 new
ordinary shares were issued.

On 28 June 2019, the Group repaid part of the Bond | in
an aggregate principal amount of HK$100,000,000.

On 27 August 2019, the Company reached an agreement
with the holder of the Convertible Bonds I, the Bonds
| and the Bonds Il to extend their maturity date with
an extension fee of HK$8,910,000 representing 1.50%
of the outstanding principal amounts. Pursuant to
the agreement, the Company will repay Bonds | with
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 on 30 November
2019 and the remaining outstanding principals of
the three bonds will be repaid on 30 June 2020. The
exercise price of Convertible Bonds | was adjusted from
HK$12 to HK$7.2482. In addition, the interest rates of
the Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds | were adjusted
from 8.5% to 9.5% whereas that of the Bonds Il
adjusted from 8% to 9.5%.

On 30 November 2019, the Company repaid the principal
of Bonds | of HK$10,000,000. The Company is in the
process of negotiation with the holder of Bonds | on the
repayment schedule of remaining HK$90,000,000 at the
end of the reporting period,
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWEDN

The Group normally supports its business with the
operating fund that comes from internal cash flow
and the credit provided by principal correspondent
banks in Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 December
2019, the Group's cash and bank balances amounted
to approximately HK$41.0 million (31 December 2018:
approximately HK$185.5 million), the majority of which
were held in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and Renminbi
("RMB"). As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank
and other borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$3,983.0 million (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$3,968.6 million) and were principally settled in RMB
carrying interest at fixed and floating lending rates.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's liability
component of Bonds and Convertible Bonds with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$1,041.0 million
(2018: HK$1,121.2 million) comprised of four portions,
including bonds in the amounts of HK$160,000,000 and
HK$400,000,000 respectively and convertible bonds in
the amounts of RMB450,000,000 and RMB19,680,000
respectively. During the period, the interest expenses
incurred were approximately HK$108.1 million (2018:
191.1 million).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's current ratio was
1.2 times (31 December 2018: 1.0 times), based on the
current assets of approximately HK$5,993.4 million
(31 December 2018: HK$3,512.8 million) and current
liabilities of approximately HK$4,843.4 million (31
December 2018: HK$3,351.2 million). As at 31 December
2019, the Group's gearing ratio was approximately
2.9 times (31 December 2018: 2.8 times) based on
total liabilities of approximately HK$7704.5 million (31
December 2018: HK$7,843.0 million) and total equity of
approximately HK$2,654.1 million (31 December 2018:
HK$2,853.0 million).

CURRENCY AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

With the majority of the Group’'s businesses transacted
in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, the aforesaid
currencies are defined as the functional currency of the
Company and some subsidiaries respectively. Apart from
certain bank balances and cash and bonds denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group is not subject to any
significant risk from fluctuations in exchange rates. No
currency hedging arrangement had been made by the
Group during 2019. The Group will closely monitor and
manage its exposure to fluctuation in foreign exchange
rates.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, properties under development
for sale with carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,083.9 million (2018: HK$736.4 million), investment
properties with carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,567.9 million (2018: HK$5,512.1 million),
completed property held for sale with carrying amount
of approximately HK$283.8 million (2018: HK$358.8
million), property, plant and equipment with carrying
amount of approximately HK$54.5 million (2018:
HK$55.2 million), and right-of-use assets/prepaid lease
payments with carrying amount of approximately
HK$48.4 million (2018: HK$50.9 million) were pledged
to certain banks, a financial institution and a related
party to secure borrowings obtained from the aforesaid
parties.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
held 51% equity interests of SkyOcean Real Estate
(Tangshan) Co., Ltd. and 51% equity interests of
TianMao Cultural Development (Jiangyin) Co., Ltd.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

For the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
associates by the Group except for the disposal of
Sophie USA Holdings Limited on 4 July 2019.

MANAGEMENT AND STAFF

At 31 December 2019, the total number of
employees (including both full time and part time)
was approximately 338. Total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$59.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: HK$76.8 million). The Group
offers competitive remuneration packages, together with
discretionary bonuses to its staff, based on industry
practices, and individual and Group performances.
The Group also offers training courses and continuous
education sessions as part of the Group's emphasis on
staff training and development.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EERERITHAE-B

DIRECTORS
ZHOU ZHENG

Mr. Zhou, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive
Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since January 2014. He is the sole director and
beneficial owner of 80% equity interest in SkyOcean
Investment, the immediate holding company of the
Company. Mr. Zhou also serves as a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhou has over 25 years
of experience in culture and entertainment industry,
property development and commercial retail industries,
and financial investment industry. He is currently a
shareholder, chairman of the Board and president of
SkyOcean Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (KF1ZREEFR
NA)) , a company established in the PRC and principally
engaged in cultural, technological, financial investments
and property development and consumer goods
industries. Mr. Zhou is also a director of China Minerals
Mining Corporation, the shares of which are listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhou resigned as the chief
executive officer of the Company on 2 January 2020,
but continues to serve as the executive director and
chairman of the Company.

ZHOU JIN

Ms. Zhou, aged 47 was appointed as an executive
director and chief executive officer of the Company
on 2 January 2020. She was an executive director of
the Company from 6 January 2014 to 9 January 2015.
Ms. Zhou is currently the vice president of SkyOcean
Holdings Group Co., Ltd. She has over 25 years of
working experience in the property development and
commercial retail industries of the People’s Republic
of China. Ms. Zhou is the younger sister of Mr. Zhou.
Ms. Zhou has not held any other directorships in public
companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the past
three years.
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YANG LEI

Mr. Yang, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company since June 2017 Mr. Yang
also serves as a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. He has more than 20 years of experience in
property development in relation to culture and tourism.
He had been the deputy general manager of Tourist
Administration of Qinhuangdao City, Hebei Province,
PRC. Mr. Yang is currently the chairman of DreamEast
Pictures — US Branch which majority equity interest is
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhou Zheng. Mr. Yang holds
a bachelor degree in education from Beijing Normal
University and a master degree in education from Beijing
Sport University.

CHEN GUANGLEI

Dr. Chen, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 20
December 2019. Dr. Chen received his doctorate degree
in accounting from Central University of Finance and
Economics (AR BT € K2 ) in June 2008 and conducted
his postdoctoral research in applied economics at the
Research Institute of Fiscal Science affiliated to Ministry
of Finance (B Ex B &I Z 8 FT A7) (currently known as
Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences) ( /B Bf B & £
75kt ) from June 2012 to September 2014. Dr. Chen
received a certificate of “National Leading Accountant”
(2 &= AAEZ) issued by Ministry of Finance
in November 2015. He has over 27 years' experience in
accounting, auditing, taxation and financial management.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
EERARITHRAE-E

From 1992 to 2018, Dr. Chen worked in various financial
institutions and now also serves as an INED of BabyTree
Group (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1761) and Hainan Jingliang Holdings Co., Ltd.
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code 000505,200505), and has been appointed
as an external director of Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited (b RiER &£ E B R A 7)) delegated
by Stated-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council of Beijing since 2018.
Dr. Chen is currently an off-campus graduate advisor
at Central University of Finance and Economics ( #14
Bf 4&& K 2)  Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences (1
Bl Bf BRI 95F% ) , Capital University of Economics
and Business (B #f4&EZ K2 ), Beijing Technology and
Business University (1t IR T X&), China University
of Mining and Technology, Beijing (1 B #& % A2 - 1
), Shanghai National Accounting Institute ( & B
K €527 ) and Beijing National Accounting Institute
(IEREREZF) . He is also an invited member of
the financial committee of Western Returned Scholars
Association (IR 2 € )  a deputy secretary of Green
Manufacturing Association of China (7 [ 4% & i) ¥ B
83), a member of the Professional Steering Committee
of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a managing director of the Chinese Medical Accounting
Association (F BB &2
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MENG XIAOSU

Dr. Meng, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since March
2014. Dr. Meng holds a Ph.D. degree in economics
from Peking University and was employed as a visiting
professor at various colleges and universities, including
Peking University, Renmin University of China and
China University of Political Science and Law. Dr. Meng
received a special subsidy in recognition of his academic
achievement in business administration aspect as “An
Outstanding Expert” by the State Council of China in
2005.

Dr. Meng is currently a consultant of China National
Real Estate Development Group Corporation (“CRED")
(FEEMEMZSEERR), a company established
in the PRC, the chairman of Huili Investment Fund
Management Company Limited ([E HREH L S8
BRAT), an investment fund management firm
established in the PRC, and the chairman of the
supervisory board of Shanghai Life Insurance Co., Ltd.
(EBASHEBERMBR2AR), an insurance company
established in the PRC. Dr. Meng worked in CRED from
1992 to 2006, where he has served as general manager,
chairman, and etc..
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YANG BUTING

Mr. Yang, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since June
2014. He graduated from Changchun College of Geology
(EZ&ZHEZPT) (now known as College of Earth Science
of Jilin University (EM K EB#MIRRIEBEET)) in 1969,
and has been engaged in the film industry since 1972.
He is currently a member of the China Film Association
and the National Board of Film Censorship (Bl X &
¥ EELZEE). He is a visiting professor of Beijing
Film Academy, University of International Business
and Economics, and the Communication University of
China. Mr. Yang was a manager of Hebei Film Company
(mdbBEF A7), a vice general manager of China
Film Company (FFEIE & A F]), a director of China
Research Institute of Film Science and Technology, the
deputy head of the Bureau of Film under the State
Administration of Radio, Film and Television of the PRC,
and chairman of China Film Group Corporation. He has
been awarded the State Science and Technology Awards
and Huabiao Awards and is entitled to government
allowance by the State Council of the PRC. He has
extensive experience in film investment, production,
promotion and distribution, establishment of cinema
network and application of digital film technology.
With over 30 years of experience in the film industry,
Mr. Yang has led a number of influential film projects,
such as the development of the national e-ticket
administration system and IMAX movie camera,
application and research of digital film technology, and
the establishment of a national digital film production
base (namely, the State Production Base of China Film
Group (Huairou)), making substantial contribution to film
development in China.
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ZHAO DAXIN

Mr. Zhao, aged 65, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since December
2014. He graduated from the Chinese Faculty of
Northwest University in 1977 After graduation, he
served as the secretary of Youth League committee and
the deputy Party secretary in the Direct Subordinate
Organization of Shaanxi Provincial Government. In 1989,
he became the deputy chief of Yanta District, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province. Mr. Zhao then served as the general
manager and chief editor of China Record Corporation
from May 2001 to February 2008, and the Party
secretary and vice chairman of China Record Corporation
from February 2008 to October 2014.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

ZHAO BENCAI

Mr. Zhao, aged 47, appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company with effect from 8 October
2019. Mr.Zhao was the vice president of the capital
operation department of Lerthai Group Limited before
joining the Group, responsible for asset mergers and
acquisitions ("M&As"), asset backed securitization
("ABS"), M&As funds operation and the investigation
and research on real estate investment trusts and
capital market. He has also been appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of SkyOcean Group Holdings Limited
on 25 September 2019. He holds a postgraduate’s
degree in accounting from Xiamen University and is a
certified public accountant in China and an International
Certified Commercial Investment Member. Mr. Zhao
has extensive experience in commercial real estate
investment and M&As, asset management, ABS and real
estate trust funds in Greater China.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

CHAN TAK KWONG

Mr. Chan, aged 50, was appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company since
October 2018 and January 2019, respectively. He has
over 20 years of experience in financial management,
financial audit, group reorganisation, and merger &
acquisition. He served as an Executive Director and
Chief Financial Officer of the Company from January
2014 to May 2018 and from March 2016 to May 2018,
respectively. He also served as the company secretary
of the Company from January 2014 to January 2016. He
has joined SkyOcean Group Holdings Co., Ltd. ( X/E#E
[y 2@ A BR A F)) since July 2013 as a financial controller.
Prior to that, Mr. Chan mainly worked in Ernst & Young
and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 1994 to 2013. Mr.
Chan holds a Bachelor's Degree in Accountancy from
the City University of Hong Kong and is a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr. Chen resigned as the company’s chief
financial officer on 8 October 2019 in order to focus on
the financial work at SkyOcean Holdings Group Co., Ltd.,
but remains as the company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company.
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The Company attached great importance to
communications with investors, financial institutions,
the media and other stakeholders in order to establish
a more efficient communication channel between
the Company and the capital market. The investor
relations department has maintained effective mutual
communication and close relationships with investors,
financial institutions and media through various channels
such as the publication of annual report and interim
report, press release, and announcement, as well as
the website of the Company. We believe that effective
investor relations will help reduce financial costs and
improve the liquidity of the shares of the Company,
leading to a more solid shareholder base. The Company
therefore undertakes to maintain high transparency and
to release the financial and operation conditions and
the latest news to the market promptly and accurately
in compliance with the principle of “accurate, timely,
and transparent” information disclosure. The Company
strives to make the market have a deep understanding
of the Company and maintain high corporate
transparency in order to create maximum value for
shareholders and other stakeholders.

SHARE PERFORMANCE

Investor Relations Report
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SHARE PERFORMANCE IN 2019 (2 JANUARY 2019 TO 31
DECEMBER 2019)

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had a total of
285,490,845 Shares and the market price per Share was
HK$4.83. Based on the closing price as at 31 December
2019, the market capitalisation of the Company
amounted to HK$1,379 million.

The investor relations department will continue to
enhance the quality of communication with investors
and maintain corporate transparency. To ensure easy
access to the Company's updated information, all of our
published information including announcements, interim
and annual reports and press releases, are posted on
the Company's website www.dreameast.com in a timely
manner. Interested parties can also make enquiries by
contacting the investor relations department (email:
investor. inquiry@dreameast.com).

2019 F IR BRI (201951 H2H £2019512
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - #HERERA®RS

INTRODUCTION, ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the "ESG Report”) summarises the environmental,
social and governance (“ESG") initiatives, plans and
performances of DreamEast Group Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”
or “we"), and demonstrates our commitment to
sustainable development.

The Group is adhering to develop sustainably in
accordance with the ESG management principles, and
is committed to effectively and responsibly handling
the Group's ESG issues as a core part of our business
strategy since we believe this is the key to our
continued success in the future.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has established an ESG Taskforce (the
“Taskforce”). The Taskforce comprises of core members
from different departments of the Group and is
responsible for collecting relevant ESG information
for the preparation of the ESG Report. The Taskforce
reports to the Board of Directors (the “Board”) assists
in identifying and assessing the Group's ESG risks
and evaluates the effectiveness of the Group’'s ESG
and internal control mechanisms. The Taskforce also
examines and assesses our performance on the
environment, health and safety, labour standards,
product responsibility and other aspects. The Board sets
the direction of the Group’s ESG strategy and ensures
the effectiveness of ESG risk management and its
internal control mechanism.

REPORTING SCOPE

The ESG Report mainly covers the Group's head office
in Hong Kong and three tourism resorts in the People’s
Republic of China (the “"PRC"), including Dreameast
Jiashan, Hengyang Dreameast Resort, and Dreameast
Future World (the “Reporting Scope”). We will continue
to expand the scope of disclosure in the future when the
Group's data collection system becomes more mature
and the sustainability work is enhanced.
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide"”) as set out in the
Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“"HKEX").

Information relating to the Group's corporate governance
practices has been set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on P84 to R108 of this annual report.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges
and measures taken by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2019 (the “Reporting Period”).

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We value our stakeholders and their feedback on
our business and ESG issues. Therefore, stakeholder
participation is an integral part of the Group's continuous
improvement in its sustainability performance. To fully
understand, respond and address the core concerns
of different stakeholders, we have maintained close
communication with major stakeholders, including but
not limited to shareholders and investors, customers,
suppliers, employees, government and regulatory
bodies, communities, non-governmental organisations
("NGOs") and media.
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Bz HEREARE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT - continued

Through diversified stakeholders’ engagement and
communication channels, we bring the stakeholders’
expectations into our operation and ESG strategies. The
Group's communication channels with stakeholders and

their corresponding expectations are summarised as

follows:

Stakeholders
&

Communication channels

BERE

BFhESHEH-&
BRTENFHEL2ELERRE BM2EF
PENPEEARNEEBNIRE LG REABEE
o AEBEZFDERNEREREMMBEL
BRSBONR ¢

Expectations
HE

Shareholders and Investors

BREHERBRR

Customers
®F

e Annual general meeting and
other shareholders meetings
RERBEFREREMRREE

e Financial reports
RS

e Announcements and circulars
NE KB

e Customer satisfaction survey
BEPmEERE

e (Customer service center
B RBH O

e (Customer service manager
BR&KE

e Complaint review meetings
KR &%

e Hotline
B AR

e Social media platform
HREETE

e Emails and website
BED 2 Auh

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

e Complying with relevant laws
and regulations
BTRBERER

e Disclosing latest information of
the corporate in due course
SN S5 2R PN

e Financial results
LpE L

e (Corporate sustainability

EAFERRE

e Product and service
responsibility
EITER KRB EE

e Customer information
protection
P ARRE

e Compliant operation
BRKE



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT - continued

Stakeholders

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Communication channels

R HERERES

KHhE2R-&

Expectations

10 & BIERE HE
Suppliers e Supplier management e Fair competition
e meetings and events NS
HEFEESEREY e Business ethics and reputation
e Supplier on-site audit and PFERREREE
management system e Cooperation with mutual
HEMRSETEEGE benefits
BIERR
Employees e Employee opinion survey e Health and safety
BT BIERFAE fERREAZ 2
e Channels for employees’ e Equal opportunities
feedback (forms, suggestion T EE

Government and Regulating
Bodies

BT e B2 R

Communities, NGOs and Media

LB IRBUT R R IR

The Group is committed to work with our stakeholders
to improve the Group's ESG performance, and to
continue creating greater value for the wider society.

boxes, etc.)
BTIXREEANES (RE BER
%

Performance reviews
THERIAZ

Internal media platform

WEBREEF &

Regular performance reports
EHZmMAR

Written response to public
consultation
EEEERRET

Field inspections

B E R

Public and community
activities
NBREARES)
Community investment
program

HRIRE &

ESG Reports

RIE g RELARE

Remuneration and Benefits
BN B AR
Career development

BEER

Tax payment in accordance to
laws

HOE MR

Business ethics

[HES LG

Complying with relevant laws
and regulations

BTIREERER

Giving back to society
Ef -t

Environmental protection
RIBIRE

Compliant operations
BRGE

AEBBIREZHNERFARSZAKEER
B -HekEaTENRER AT EZHHER
BREEAMERE-
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RE-HERERBRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group's management and staff in major functions
are involved in the preparation of the ESG Report in
order to assist the Group in reviewing its operations
and identifying the relevant ESG issues, and assess the
importance of relevant ESG matters to our business and
stakeholders. We have compiled a survey in accordance
with the identified material ESG issues to collect
information from relevant departments, business units
and stakeholders of the Group. The following matrix is a
summary of the Group’'s material ESG issues during the
Reporting Period:

EEHETML
AEESTERENEREEE THHL2ERE
AR DAY B AN S Bl s HAE (RIS M EE R4
RS HeREAEE YAHMEHBEEESE M
MEBARSFHNENEZER -HME2ELE
RHEBERRE HEMEABERRRALTHS
AR AR BAERABEPT R RIS B R B L - X
SENBERENEERE e REAHEER
fEan R :

ESG Materiality Matrix

EERE HERELIHER
Labour and Employment
BT HFZESEH

- Tourism Resort Safety
§ Development and Training EEZR ®
% SREE ® ® Anti-corruption

=

% Occupational Health and Safety ® L Labour Standards ° R
o B¥gREZe TR
£ Corporate Social
g » Responsibility
é b Wate%ir;g}g_;ment e
2 g;g Supplier Management =
b HEmEE Emissions Control
cFs : ° P
£ 3 Customer Services ® °
g fp St ° Waste Management
c By EE
§ Greenery
§ ARt ® Energy Management
= NEL=E
= Noise Control ® REREE
< =g
g

Level of Significance of Economic, Environmental and Social Impacts

B REMENETEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that it
has established appropriate and effective management
policies and internal control systems for ESG issues and
confirmed that the disclosed contents are in compliance
with the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US

We welcome stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions. You are welcome to provide valuable
feedback on the ESG Report or our sustainability
performance by email at investor.inquiry@dreameast.
com.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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A.

The Achievements of DreamEast i

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B -dE8RERKRE

n Corporate Sustainability

BERAFHECEAFERRE EWEF
s )
Gender ratio is Approximately
[Q\ [Q] BRMRILAADS
ZLL> |'|J 1 - 1 Work-related
fatalities or injuries
TN
Average training hours RTHET
o] FAg8E5I N
~|J] gxgh hn:rs/empluyees 1
ol L Material —
service complaints
, BERRBRF
Proportion of Local Procurement
(The PHC)
A FEEIEL (
— (y
@ >710%
- J
ENVIRONMENTAL A R
A1. EMISSIONS Al.  HERWD

The Group values the importance of
good environmental management, and
is committed to fulfilling the Group's
commitment on social responsibility.
The Group has formulated related
environmental management systems and
procedures for daily operations, regulates
the emissions and waste generated
during operations, and strives to protect
the environment, reduce carbon footprint
in order to fulfil the goal on sustainable
development.

AEBESHERTMNREEE UE
OAREBEEAENTEET AE
ERAEEELTE T AERRERE
FIEFRE RELEPEE Y
BRNBEEYS DL ARERE R
DB PEL ERL  BICGERT
BERERMNBIE-
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RE-HERERBRS

A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A1l.

EMISSIONS - continued

The responsible personnel of the Group's
environmental affairs will supervise
the implementation of environmental
management measures and related
environmental policies. Under strict
supervision and guidance, all departments
will do their best to implement the Group's
environmental protection policies, and
ensure all business processes comply
with legal requirements. The responsible
personnel of environmental affairs at all
levels will continue to review the Group's
policies and implementation procedures,
and report to the management when
appropriate, recommended measures will
also be suggested when necessary.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with environmental related
laws and regulations in relation to
exhaust gas and greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions, water and land discharge,
and the generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited
to the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC, Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes of the PRC, and the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued
A1. EMISSIONS - continued
Emissions Control
Exhaust Gas Emissions

During the course of commercial operation,
the Group's emissions are mainly derived
from petrol and diesel consumed by
transportation. In response to the above
sources, we actively take the following
emission reduction measures:

Maintain vehicles on a monthly
basis so to effectively reduce fuel
consumption, thereby reducing
carbon emissions and exhaust air
emissions;

Purchase regular petrol for vehicles,
and conduct annual inspections to
ensure vehicles are meeting relevant
emission standards; and

Actively adopt measures to reduce
emissions, and the relevant
measures will be described in the
section “"GHG Emissions” under this

Aspect.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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exhaust gas emissions performance was as WLt

follows:

Category of exhaust gas Unit Emissions
BRER B BB
Nitrogen oxides kg 85.88
AE P (NOx) NIy

Sulphur oxides kg 0.44
AL (SOx) NN

Particular matter kg 8.21
SERL Y (PM) N
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RE-HERERBRS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A1l.

EMISSIONS - continued
Emissions Control - continued
GHG Emissions

The Group's GHG emissions mainly derived
from direct GHG emissions generated
from petrol and diesel consumed by the
Group's vehicle (Scope 1), and indirect
GHG emissions from purchased electricity
(Scope 2). To best manage GHG emissions,
the Group actively adopts electricity
conservation and energy saving measures
to reduce GHG emissions. Relevant
measures will be described in the section
“Energy Consumption” under Aspect A2.

A- i‘%iﬁ - Ilg

Al. BRI -&

PRz - &

BEREHH

AEENTERERBHBOORRN
BB BFTERER TR LR E
BEREREIN (HBE—) MIMNEE
HEREOEER=E RN (HE
) REZEERBEREHN A
S EEGRENENE K BT R e - A
AR E RSB - BRI AR
BRAEE ) [BERE IR | — &
FEA BB ARER B TERAR
ERBHMNEHFTIARES R
SHIR AEBEHRERBYME

Through the implementation of related WL LT
measures, employee's awareness of GHG
emissions reduction has been raised.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
GHG emissions performance was as
follows:
Indicator! Unit Emissions
BE By BB
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO2e 78.97
EEAEREHEWR (HE—) Mg — b E &
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO2e 2,798.61
MEREREBHR (EE ) WE — bk E =
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2) tCO2e 2,877.58
BERBHMEE (HE— k) WE — bk E =
Total GHG emissions intensity?? tCO2e/employee 13.64
MERBHRAERE? W_EtiREE (EE

tCO2e/thousand m? 0.92
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

Al.

EMISSIONS - continued
Emissions Control - continued
GHG Emissions — continued

Notes :

1. GHG emission data is presented in terms
of carbon dioxide equivalent and are based
on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse
Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the
latest released emission factors of China’s
regional power grid basis, “"How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
the HKEX, the latest released emission factors
of China’s regional power grid basis, the Global
Warning Potential Values from the IPCC Fifth
Assessment Report 2014 (AR5) and the “2018
Sustainability Report” published by Hong Kong
Electricity Investment

2. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a
total of 211 full-time employees in respect of
the Reporting Scope. The data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

3. As at 31 December 2019, the Group's total
floor area in respect of the Reporting Scope
was 3,139 thousand m? The data is also used
for calculating other intensity data.

Domestic Sewage

Since our business activities do not
consume significant volume of water
during our daily operation, therefore we did
not generate material portion of sewage.
As the sewage discharged by the Group
will be discharged into the municipal
sewage pipe network to the regional water
purification plant, the water consumed
by the Group is considered as sewage
discharged. The data on water consumption
will be described in the section “Water
Management” in Aspect A2.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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RE-HERERBRS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A1l.

EMISSIONS - continued
Waste Management
Hazardous Wastes

Despite the Group did not generate
hazardous wastes during the Reporting
Period, the Group has established
guidelines in governing the management
and disposal of hazardous wastes. In
case if there are any hazardous wastes
produced, the Group must engage
a qualified chemical waste collector
to handle such wastes, and comply
with relevant environmental rules and
regulations.

Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group adheres to the principles of
waste management, and is committed
to handling and disposing all wastes
generated by our business activities
through abiding by the principle of
sustainability and the methodology of
“Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Replace”.
All of our waste management practices
comply with relevant environmental laws
and regulations, while maintaining a high
standard in waste reduction. We educate
employees the importance of sustainable
development and provide relevant supports
in order to enhance their awareness and
knowledge in sustainability.

The non-hazardous waste generated by
the Group's business activities is mainly
paper, general wastes and food wastes.
After collection and sorting, such wastes
will eventually be collected and processed
by general waste service providers.
Recyclables (such as paper) will be
recycled and reused. The Group's offices
have also provided suitable facilities, and
encouraged employees to sort waste at
source and recycle, so as to achieve the
goals of waste reduction, reuse and recycle
during operations.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

Al.

EMISSIONS - continued
Waste Management - continued
Non-hazardous Wastes — continued

The Group is committed to establishing
a paperless operation environment, we
regularly monitor the consumption of
paper, and conduct various measures to
minimise the use of different resources
by employees. In addition to promoting
the use of electronic tickets in our
tourist resorts so as to reduce paper
consumption, we also post “Green
Messages” reminders on office equipment
to remind employees the importance
of environmental protection in order
to increase employees’ environmental
awareness. We have implemented the
following measures in order to encourage
employees to take responsibility in waste
management and minimising waste
production:

° Utilise the online system in offices,
conduct general transaction
notification and data transmission
through the network system to
establish an electronic workflow;

° Avoid printing and copying
documents;

o Use double-sided printing and
photocopying;

° Reuse old envelopes and recycled
paper, cartons, envelopes and
folders; and

° Minimise the use of disposable

paper products, such as paper cups
and paper towels.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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RE-HERERBRS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A1l.

EMISSIONS - continued
Waste Management - continued
Non-hazardous Wastes — continued

Since both DreamEast Future World and
Hengyang DreamEast Resort provides
catering and staff meal service, we will
produce a significant amount of food waste
during our course of operation. To manage
food wastes in an appropriate and effective
manner, the Group has developed various
measures and procedures in managing
food wastes. The Group has appointed a
qualified wastes collector in collecting and
processing the food wastes generated.
A number of designated garbage bins
were placed in different areas in kitchens
for staff to centralise food wastes. The
qualified wastes collector will collect these
garbage bins on a daily basis to ensure the
hygiene of kitchens. In addition, we have
encouraged to reduce food waste at source
by promoting various measures, such as
better use of food ingredients in order
to support environmental protection and
wastes reduction.

Through the implementation of the above
measures, employees’ awareness on
waste management has been raised.

A- i‘%iﬁ - Ilg
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During the Reporting Period, the Group's PERRERIR AT
performance of non-hazardous wastes was
as follows:
Category of waste Unit Discharge
BEE Y E B By B E
Paper tonnes 1.21
S 148
General wastes tonnes 430.00
ATEBIIR i}
Food wastes tonnes 2,518.00
T £ U7
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 2,949.21
BEEEMEIRESE U
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/employee 13.98
EBEEEVENEE W, g8

tonnes/thousand m? 0.94

WE,F 75 oK
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A2,

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group actively promotes the
effective use of resources, and monitors
the potential impact that our business
operations brought to the environment.
We promote green office and operating
environmentally through the four basic
principles of waste reduction “Reduce,
Reuse, Recycle and Replace” so as
to minimize the environmental impact
by the operation of the Group and its
subsidiaries. As stated in Aspect AT,
the Group has formulated relevant
environmental management policies and
procedures to manage the use of water,
electricity, diesel and petrol. We also focus
on the management of the major energy
consuming equipment, standardise the
operational flow and process to consume
energy fully and effectively.

Energy Management

During the daily operations, the Group's
major energy consumption is electricity
consumed in offices and tourism resorts,
and petrol and diesel consumed by
vehicles. The Group has formulated
rules and regulations to achieve the
goals of electricity saving and efficient
consumption, the relevant measures are as
follows:

° Install LED lamp systems in offices
and tourism resorts;

° Selects energy-saving equipment
and electronic appliances in offices
and tourism resorts, and gradually
replace energy-inefficient electrical
appliances with new certified
energy-saving facilities :
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Bz HEREARE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued
A2. USE OF RESOURCES - continued
Energy Management - continued

o Strengthen the maintenance and
repair of equipment,
electronic equipment at optimal
state so to use electricity effectively;

and

o Switch off lights, air conditioners,
computers and other office
equipment in office areas when not
in use so to avoid wastage.

Besides, the Group promotes the
awareness of energy conservation and
environmental protection to employees by
posting power-saving slogans. During the
Reporting Period, the Group's performance
of energy consumption was as follows:

maintain the

Al }%iﬁ_ﬂg
A2. ERFER-&
RREE-E&

. s E AR ERE
?-E% 5 4 IR 7R S EE AV SR
R BRUBEREN &

. MAENE =

#)J#"‘“ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬂl
EREREER BRRE-

HON REBBBR A ERA
F BERERREB LB EE
SR TAEMAEEF - iﬁﬂuiiﬁﬁiﬁ

HZ/ETEI i B B ¥ 5N

ﬁ*x

BRRES Fﬁﬁiﬁﬂf‘ﬁ $%IE’J

/J? /ﬁﬁ?ﬁfﬁﬁﬁ% AN

Type of energy Unit Consumption
BE R 3 By HIEE
Total energy consumption MWh 3,271.72
BEREEAESE JK FL B
Total energy consumption MWh/employees 15.51
BERERERTE KEE &S
MWh/thousand m? 1.04
KRR, FFHAK
Direct energy consumption
BEEmRER
Gasoline MWh 23750
i JKEL B
Diesel MWh 53.52
e JK FL B
Indirect energy consumption
B ERERE
Electricity MWh 2,980.70
B JK FL B
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A2,

USE OF RESOURCES - continued
Water Consumption

The Group's water use is mainly domestic
water in office areas. The water supply
managed by the Group includes toilet
water and water for washing and cleaning.
We encourage all employees and
customers to develop the habit of saving
water consciously, and has developed the
following water conservation measures:

° Inspect the condition of water
supply facilities, if leakage is
found or failure of various control
devices, measures should be taken
in a timely manner or report to the
supervisor in order to formulate a
plan in time to prevent long-terms
loss of domestic water;

° Use water supply facilities with good
water-saving capacity whenever
possible;

° Establish the concept of water

conservation, turn off faucet when
people are absent to prevent water
leakage; and

° Inspect water supply channels
regularly to prevent the wastage of
water resources.
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RE-HERERBRS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A2,

A3.

USE OF RESOURCES - continued
Water Consumption — continued

We encourage all employees and
customers to develop the habit of saving
water consciously. The Group has been
strengthening water-saving promotions,

i‘%iﬁ - IIE

A2. ERFER-&
AKEE @&
BPSEREE INEPEKEE
BRI E B - AEBE —E A
BIKEE  sRBAEDKIZEE - B EE T
BIEAK - ARSI - ANEEFEK

posting water-saving slogans and guiding FESa T
employees to use water reasonably.
During the Reporting Period, the Group's
performance of water consumption was as
follows:
Unit Consumption
v JHIEE
Water m? 7.543.00
FoKkE AVAPSI
Water intensity ms/employee 35.75
BKk®E MFKR/EE
m?3/m? 2.40
SRS T K

Due to the geographical location of our
offices and tourism resorts, we have not
identified any issues in sourcing water that
is fit for purposes.

Use of Packing Materials

As the Group has sourced the product
production process to third-party factories,
therefore we do not consume a significant
amount of packaging materials in our daily
operations.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group focuses on the impact of the
Group's business on the environment and
natural resources, and pursues the best
practices for environmental protection. In
addition to complying with environmental
regulations and international standards
to protect the natural environment,
the Group also integrates the concept
of environmental and natural resource
protection into the internal management
and operation activities so to achieve the
goal of sustainable development.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

ERBFIRAERIREE REA M
BB RFDIBERRBUERAK
R _EE ] -

BRMHEH
HRASEEBEREEII GRS
=HIR AREMAEREZESR
BRI EREABREME -

A3. BERRRER

AEBEZEEERBHRENRAR
ROTE BRFRERRNREE
o bR T BRBRBMERER LER
2R ETIREE ARTIN B
NERRBKEZ BIR NEETT
RIRIE R AR ERRENBSBA
NHEEM AR EERHES -



A.

ENVIRONMENTAL - continued

A3.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES - continued

Noise Control

The Group realises that noise will be
created during the course of operation,
and the major sources of such noise are
from facilities and vehicles in the tourism
resorts. Therefore, we closely follow the
latest national and regional laws and
regulations of noise management, and
focus on measures of reducing noises so
as to comply with related local laws and
regulations and implement environmental
policies. To create a comfortable
environment and lower the impacts of
noise generated, the design of our tourism
resorts and offices have incorporated the
noise reduction function. We also monitor
the use of equipment, broadcast, and
vehicle operation regularly. If there is any
noise pollution identified or complaints
received from tourists, responsible
personnel will be penalised in accordance
to the Group's administrative regulations.

Greenery

The Group is committed to continuously
enhancing the greenery of tourism resorts,
and aim to provide a clean and green
environment and beautiful scenery for our
employees and tourists. The Group will
conduct greenery assessments before the
construction of facilities in the tourism
resorts to reduce the impacts generated
to the natural environment. At the same
time, the Group has formulated related
policies on existing greenery in the tourist
resorts, and regularly provide related
notices to remind employees in complying
with the tourism resorts’ greenery
management measures. Apart from that,
the Group designates personnel to carry
out inspections to the park environment,
and manage and conserve plants and green
belts, immediate actions will be carried out
when problems are identified. The Group
also consistently seeks for opportunities to
develop a greener environment and raise
the employees’ awareness of greenery.
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RE-HERERBRS

SOCIAL

B1.

EMPLOYMENT

Human resource is the Group’'s most
valuable asset and the core of competitive
advantage, and serves as the basis for
the continuous development of the Group
at the same time. The Group’s success
relies heavily on the ability to attract,
develop and retain employees. The Group
adheres to the people-oriented principle,
respects and protects the legitimate
rights and interests of each employee. It
regulates labour employment management,
safeguards employees’ occupational
health and safety, strengthens democratic
management, safeguards the interests of
employees, and fully respects and values
employees’ enthusiasm, initiative and
creativity so to build a harmonious labor
relationship. The Group has formulated the
Recruitment Management Policy, Employee
Performance Management Policy, and
the Salary Adjustment Management
Policy and other related human resource
management related regulations to provide
a healthy, energetic and positive working
atmosphere, while guiding employees to
actively integrate personal pursuits into the
long-term development of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with employment related
laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but not limited to
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Labour Law of the PRC, and the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC.
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SOCIAL - continued

B1.

EMPLOYMENT - continued
Labour and Employment Practices
Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group actively implements the
strategy of strengthening talents and
continuously establishes and improves the
talent recruitment system. The Group has
formulated the comprehensive Recruitment
Management Policy, which lists out
the details of recruitment application,
recruitment process, prohibit items and
responsibilities. The Group plans the
human resources and recruitment plan
for the following year according to the
Company's overall strategic planning and
business development goals. The Human
Resource Department will recruit talents
through external and internal channels
based on the planned procedure. External
channels include online recruitment, job
fairs, referrals, campus recruitment, etc.;
while internal channels include internal
competition, internal referrals, etc. The
Human Resource Department will first
interview the shortlisted candidates,
candidates will be arranged to conduct
interviews with department managers
or responsible personnel. Qualified
candidates can only be employed upon the
approval from relevant personnel and the
general manager.
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RE-HERERBRS

SOCIAL - continued

B1.

EMPLOYMENT - continued

Labour and Employment Practices
- continued

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
- continued

The Group has clearly documented the
rationales and procedures of employees’
promotion, transfer and demotion in the
Salary Adjustment Management Policy,
and regulated the adjustment management
of employees’ salary and position.
The Group has implemented a fair and
open performance assessment system
and supervision mechanism to assess
employees’ performance at each level
quarterly in accordance to the Employee
performance Management Policy,
evaluation results of work performance
and technical ability levels in providing
promotions and development opportunities
for employees so as to discover their work
potential.

Besides, the Group does not tolerate
the dismissal of employees under any
unreasonable basis. We have established
a comprehensive Dismissal Policy to
regulate the management of employees’
dismissal and handover in order to ensure
such processes are conducted in an orderly
manner. The dismissal process will only
be carried out on a reasonable basis,
and issues will be fully communicated
before formal dismissal. In addition, when
employees resign voluntarily, the direct
supervisor, department manager and the
Human Resource Department will conduct
a resignation interview with the employee
to understand the reason of resignation,
the opinions and improvement suggestions
for the Group and work at the department,
and record the interview in the Employee
Dismissal Application Form.
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SOCIAL - continued

B1.

EMPLOYMENT - continued

Labour and Employment Practices
- continued

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group has established a relatively
reasonable, competitive remuneration
system of fairness and integrity to provide
remuneration for employees. In order to
retain talents, strengthen the initiatives
of employees and employees’ sense
of belonging and form good corporate
solidarity and cohesion, the Group has
established comprehensive systems
including the Employee Welfare System
and Social Security Provident Fund System.

Apart from basic salary, we also offer
employees with comprehensive benefits,
including the provision of free lunches
or lunch allowance of RMB15, different
holidays including breastfeeding leave,
paternity leave and maternity leave,
various cash rewards including festival
cash reward, wedding cash reward, birth
cash reward and birthday cash reward.
The Group also regularly organises festival
celebrations, internal ticket purchases
campaigns, and the provision of priority
tickets for stage performances, etc.
to enhance employees’ morale and
belongingness. Besides, the Group pays
“five social insurance and one housing
fund” for employees in the PRC in
accordance with the Social Insurance Law
of the PRC, namely, endowment insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, employment injury insurance,
maternity insurance and housing provident
fund, to ensure employees are covered
by social insurance. The Group also pays
Mandatory Provident Fund for employees in
Hong Kong in accordance to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance of Hong
Kong.
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RE-HERERBRS

SOCIAL - continued

B1.

EMPLOYMENT - continued

Labour and Employment Practices
- continued

Remuneration and Benefits — continued

The Group also protects the legitimate
rights and regulates management of
attendance and rest periods to maintain
work order in accordance to the Contract
Law of the PRC and other national and
local laws and regulations in order to
safeguard employees’ working time and
rights to enjoy different rest periods
and holidays. We have implemented the
paid annual leave system for employees
according to the Attendance and Holiday
Management Policy, and pay for overtime
work that exceeds the legal working hour.

Equal opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

The Group strictly complies with all
national and local governmental laws and
regulations by adopting a fair, equitable and
open recruitment process, and developing
relevant policies to prevent discrimination
in the recruitment process to ensure no
discrimination regardless of race, social
status, religion, nationality, disability, age,
marital status, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, trade union membership or
political association, allowing them to enjoy
fair treatment in every aspect including
recruitment, remuneration, training and
promotion, dismissal, retirement or
other aspects in relation to employment
so to attract professionals with diverse
backgrounds to join the Group. Any
employee who is intimidated, humiliated,
bullied or harassed (including sexual
harassment) may report to the employee’s
representative, or file complaints directly
to the general manager, and we will take
serious approach to resolve these issues
upon receiving the said complaints.
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SOCIAL - continued

B1.

EMPLOYMENT - continued

Labour and Employment Practices
- continued

Equal opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination — continued

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’'s has
a total of 211 employees in respect of the
Reporting Scope, details of employees are
shown as below:

Employee Distribution by Age

REREDETHNETHEE
9%
25%
66%
@ Below30 ® 30-50 Above 50

\ 30BEAT 30Z505% Sﬂﬁl»)U:J

Employee Distribution by Employee Category

RERRBIEIHETAH
1%
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@ Senior @ Middle Junior
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Employee Distribution by Gender
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Employee Distribution by Region
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RE-HERERBRS

SOCIAL - continued

B2.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group highly values employees’ health
and safety, and is always committed to
providing employees with a healthy, safe
and comfortable working environment.
We strive to eliminate potential workplace
health and safety hazards, and implement
safety management in all aspects to
ensure employees’ health and safety
during work.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not record any work-related accidents
that resulted in death or serious physical
injury, and no claims or compensation
were paid to our employees due to such
events; the Group had also not lost any
working days due to work injury. The Group
was also not aware of any material non-
compliance with health and safety related
laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but not limited
to the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labor Law of
the PRC and the Prevention and Treatment
of Occupational Diseases Law of the PRC.

Occupational Health and Safety

In order to maintain a safe and healthy
working environment, the Group has
formulated the Safe Working Responsibility
Policy to regulate the management of
safety responsibility. We strictly regulate
the dangerous sources found within
various activities of the Group, and identify,
assess and control the potential health and
safety deficiencies that could possibly lead
to accidents, so as to improve the working
environment.
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SOCIAL - continued

B2.

B3.

HEALTH AND SAFETY - continued

Occupational Health and Safety
- continued

Since the Group’'s business operation is
mainly the operation of tourism resorts,
the guard security is of high importance.
To ensure the safety of employees and
customers, we verify personnel for enter
and exit, inspect and register for any tools,
equipment and products that are brought.
We will detain and examine items if they
are found to be suspicious. Besides, we
will also arrange employees for physical
examinations, and regularly provide
information relating to health and safety in
order to raise the awareness of occupation
health and safety.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group pays attention to the
establishment of internal management
training and development system.
Through diversified training modes
such as induction trainings and on-the-
job trainings to satisfy the different
requirement of employees, improve
employees’ technical skills so as to assist
the Group's sustainable development while
improve employees’ personal growth and
development.

Development and Training

In order to strengthen training
management, enhance employee's
business capability and understanding
of corporate culture, improve talent
performance, and strengthen core
competitive advantage, the Group has
formulated the Training Management Policy,
and provides diverse training courses for
employees.

Environmental,

B. #H&-

B2.

B3.

Social and Governance Report
RE-HERERRSE

&
REREZ2 &
MERERZ2 M

ERAREEEXBEERRER
BRANZE FIRLTEURERE -5
BREILBEERZZ RAHEA
ABRENT HETTA RE-

WEmH ARG ETIRR LB

AN %R 3R R B A] SRR Dm0 AP
SHRBES - Mo RPITFERHE
THITERMEPRABRRENZ 2
B ARRRBERENZE2EE

=z Ayl
SN0

BREIEI
AEBITELF A E IR
RAERNET - BB AR N
5% 2 T IR A m R &
REBBINIRABTF R/ABT
EE BIOAREE R ERE [
BHETEARERER-

BREEEI
RTRICBIEETIE-BRET
B S5 e 0 B R 3 L ROBR R -
RRANERMIERZOEBF N -
AEEHIET GEIEEHE) @A
RETRHZTEIIRE-

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

65



66

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HERERBRS

SOCIAL - continued

B3.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
— continued

Development and Training — continued

Our training courses are categorised
into new employee induction trainings,
corporate culture trainings and business
skill set trainings. Induction trainings
are organised and carried out by the
Human Resource Department and the
Administration Department, the purpose
is to assist new employees to adapt the
new working environment quickly and
integrate into the corporate culture so
as to smoothly delve into the working
mode. The training content includes the
introduction of the Group's systems and
business functions, etc. Corporate culture
trainings are also organised and carried
out by the Human Resource Department
and the Administration Department, it
aims to assist employees to understand
the Group's core vision, business mission,
working style and social responsibility
to enhance the sense of belonging and
responsibility; the training content includes
the introduction of the organisational
structure. Business skill set trainings
are organised and implemented by each
department, and it aims to improve the
business ability of specific positions. The
training content includes position workflow
and skills improvement, etc.

The Group will draft the training plan
for the following year according to
business requirement at the end of each
year. The Group will also evaluate the
effectiveness of training courses based
on training requirements and trainings’
target audience. Evaluation results will
be considered as part of the employee
performance assessment results. We will
constantly improve the quality of trainings
through the employees’ evaluation on
trainers, effectives and structure.

During the Reporting Period, all employees
of the Group have received training. We
have provided a total of approximately
9,218 hours of training, and the average
training hour was approximately 43.69
hours per employee.
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SOCIAL - continued

B4.

LABOUR STANDARDS
Labour Standards

The Group prohibits the employment of any
child and forced labour by its operations,
and clearly stipulates that only employees
over the age of 16 will be recruited. Prior
to the employment of employees, we
will review their identity documents to
prevent the employment of child labor.
Labor contracts of every employees clearly
specify the work time, location, tasks,
and main responsibilities to ensure that
employees are not required to execute
work that is not within their terms of
reference. If employees need to work
overtime, overtime work is consensual
and compensated by overtime pay or time-
off in lieu according to relevant laws and
regulations to prevent forced overtime
working. The Group also prohibits any
punishments, management methods and
behaviors involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression,
sexual harassment (including inappropriate
languages, postures and physical contact),
etc. against employees for any reason.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with child and forced labour
related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group.
Such laws and regulations include but not
limited to the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC,
and the Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labor of the PRC.
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SOCIAL - continued

BS.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group expects to have long-term
cooperation relationship with suppliers so
as to develop sustainably together and
take initiatives of innovation. The Group
has always been conducting procurement
with the principles of openness, fairness
and equitability. We have established
rigorous and standardised procurement
system and a systematic supplier selection
process, while imposed with the relevant
environmental and social risk control
requirements on suppliers. During the
Reporting Period, we have cooperated with
154 suppliers, for which 114 suppliers are
from the PRC, while 40 suppliers are from
Hong Kong.

Supplier Management

To strengthen procurement management,
the Group has formulated the Procurement
Management Procedure that specifies
the procurement procedures and
responsibilities relating to engineering
construction, material, equipment,
engineering consulting, etc. A special
working group will be set up for each
bidding activity, who are responsible for
selecting suppliers from the qualified
supplier database, or evaluating suppliers
who are not within the qualified supplier
database.
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SOCIAL - continued

B5.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
— continued

Supplier Management - continued

The Group has also developed a Minor
Procurement Management Policy. Minor
procurement includes procurement
of special engineering projects with a
single procurement amount of less than
RMB200,000, administrative procurement
and other minor procurement work.
Suppliers for minor procurement in
relation to engineering projects are
required to be selected from suppliers
in the Group's suppliers list, supplier
database, or purchased from the specified
supplier website (www.vvupup.com),
while administration procurement and
other minor procurement will have to be
procured on the Jingdong Hui Cai (&
HE ) online platform. We will update
our major supplier list regularly, and will
regularly comment by evaluating suppliers’
performance in fulfilling their agreements,
such comments will be used as basis for
selecting suppliers and enhancing the
management of suppliers.

Apart from environmental factors, the
Group also adopts measures to monitor
suppliers or contractors in complying with
relevant laws and regulations or meeting
other standards in relation to health and
safety, forced labour and child labour, and
evaluate the performance of the above
aspects though site visits and on-site
inspections.
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RE-HERERBRS

SOCIAL - continued

BS.

B6.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
— continued

Supplier Management - continued

The Group also believes anti-corruption
is very important throughout the
procurement process. The Group conducts
procurement in an open, fair and equitable
manner without any discrimination or
special treatment against any suppliers.
Employees and related personnel with
interest in the suppliers are prohibited
to participate in relevant procurement
activities. The Group stresses heavily on
the integrity of its suppliers, and will only
select suppliers who have a good track
record in the past and have no serious
violations of business ethics. The Group
has zero tolerance for acts of bribery and
corruption, and strictly prohibits suppliers
from acquiring procurement contract or
partnerships through any forms of benefit
transmission or gift.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Customers’ satisfaction is the Group's
foundation to sustainable development.
We believe customers’ satisfaction reflects
the Group's success, thereby the Group
constantly emphasises the customer
centric business philosophy at all levels
of the Group’'s operation. We strive to
continuously optimise and improve the
service quality based on customers’
requirements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations
in relation to the quality of products
and service provided that would have a
significant impact to the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but not limited to
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests of the PRC, and Advertising
Law of the PRC.
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SOCIAL - continued

B6.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY - continued
Customer Services

The Group highly values the importance
of customer services, and believes that
customers’ satisfaction is one of the key
factors for the sustainable development
of the Group's business. The Group
has established different complaint and
feedback channels, such as customer
opinion cards, hotlines, social media
platforms, email and website in collecting
customers’ opinions and suggestions.
We have also set up a complaints related
function for handling complaints, for which
it is responsible to explain the complaint
procedures to complainants, conduct
detailed analysis of root causes, carry
out in-depth fact investigation, actively
monitor and manage complaint procedures,
coordinate and communicate with all
parties involved, accurately record all
relevant results in a confidential manner,
and properly reply to complainants.

The Group requires each complaint to
be dealt and reported properly relevant
department, and prohibits employees to
reach private settlement with complainants
in order to ensure that the Group can
accurately receive feedbacks from
customers or tourists, for which they
serve as an important basis for improving
the quality of business operations. The
Group considers customer complaint
management as an important element to
continuous quality improvement. We are
committed to understanding the facts and
root causes of each customers’ or tourists’
complaint, identifying responsible parties
and areas for improvement, and making
recommendations to ensure corresponding
department has made necessary
improvements in order to enhance the
quality of the Group’'s services. This
ensures customers’ or tourists’ loyalty
to the Group's services and enable us
to retain a customer base for fostering
the Group's future development. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has not
received any material customer complaints.
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SOCIAL - continued

B6.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY - continued
Tourism Resort Safety

Tourism resort safety is the essence to
all development. The Group highly values
the operational safety of tourism resorts,
and we have safeguarded tourists’ safety
through the implementation of a series of
operational safety management system,
stardardising management, regulating
investigations, and proceduralised
emergency responses proceedings.

We regularly provide employees with
information relating to operational safety
management, reminding employees to
follow the operational safety management
measures. Such measures include
strengthening the cooling and pest control
management measures, and establishing
eye-catching safety tips and warning signs.
Besides, to ensure the personal safety
of tourists within the tourism resorts,
we conduct emergency drills regularly,
and identify the hidden issues in the
emergency plans, while continuously refine
the feasibility and practicability of such
emergency plans. To effectively respond
to emergency situations such as extreme
weather events, sudden injury events, and
fires, we will also carry out various kinds of
emergency drills.
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SOCIAL - continued

B6.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY - continued
Tourism Resort Safety — continued
Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group values trademark management,
and has formulated the Trademark
Management Policy in accordance to the
Trademark Law of the PRC, Regulations
on the Implementation of Trademark
Law of the PRC, and other related laws
and regulations in protecting trademark
ownership rights and rights to use. We
have clearly divided the responsibilities for
trademark management, and specifically
set up the brand center to ensure the
design, registration, use, change and
archive management of trademark.
We require all business groups and
subsidiary companies to jointly safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of
trademark, and also require employees to
keep trademark related issues confidential,
and timely report behaviors of trademark
infringements.

Protection of Privacy

The Group is committed to safeguarding
and protecting personal data, and has
implemented high security and confidential
standards to protect personal data privacy.
We strictly abide by the regulatory
provisions on data privacy.

The Group has established the Personnel
File Management Policy to safeguard the
integrity and confidentiality of personal
information. We require relevant personnel
to keep confidential on information that
involves the Group's or departments’
confidential matters, and must not disclose
such information to third parties. We also
require former employees to handover
information and documents such as
customer’s information, projects, contents
and progress of various tasks, and
pending tasks to responsible department.
In addition, the Group will not disclose
personal data to anyone for promotional
purposes.
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SOCIAL - continued

B6.

B7.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY - continued
Tourism Resort Safety — continued
Advertisements and Labelling

The Group emphasises the importance of
appropriate advertising and compliance
with requirements relating to media
advertisements. We will advertise our
resorts on online platforms, the Group
sees the importance of risks on the
products and souvenir labelling. The Group
has formulated relevant policies and
procedures to ensure that the information
on advertisement and labels do not contain
false product information, misleading
or incomplete information, false marks
and false statements in order to protect
the interest of consumers from being
deteriorate by improper advertisement and
label descriptions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION
Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to building a
clean and healthy corporate system,
vigorously combating corruption and other
improper business practices. We strictly
implement laws and regulations such as
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Criminal Law of the PRC,
Company Law of the PRC, and Anti-
Unfair Competition Law of the PRC, and
specifically stipulate that employees must
discharge their duties with loyalty and
integrity, and shall not abuse their positions
to seek any improper interests. We have
formulated a series of policies on anti-
fraud and anti-bribery as a part of corporate
governance.
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SOCIAL - continued

B7.

ANTI-CORRUPTION - continued
Anti-corruption - continued

We have adopted a clear avoidance
system, prohibiting direct subordinate
relationship among employees who are
have spouse relationship, immediate
family relationship and other close family
relationships. Besides, we clearly stipulate
that employees should be honest and
loyal to their duties, and shall not abuse
their official powers to seek any improper
benefits. We require employees, in
particular the management to discharge
their duties with loyalty and integrity, and
prohibits from tolerating any behavior
in relation to malpractices, corruption,
bribery, opportunism, and concealment,
stringent penalized measures will be taken
immediately once such acts are violated.

During the Reporting Period, there were no
filed and concluded legal cases regarding
any forms of fraud brought against the
Group or its employees. The Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
Such laws and regulations include but
not limited to the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Criminal Law of
the PRC, and Company Law of the PRC.
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SOCIAL - continued

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
Corporate Social Responsibility

In pursuit of business development, the
Group spare no effort in contributing the
community. Therefore, we are committed
to contributing the society through
continuous participation in community
services in order to fulfill the Group's
corporate social responsibility. The Group
hopes to foster employees’ sense of social
responsibility, thus encouraging them to
participate in charitable activities during
their work and spare time to make greater
contributions to the community.

During the Reporting Period, we have
actively planned various themed that
aims to achieve happy learning. They
include the “Dreameast Future World
Aerospace Carnival” organised by the
Dreameast Future World from June to
August, which aims to popularise space
science knowledge through the exhibitions
of aerospace and high-tech interactive
experience; and “Dreameast Art Carnival
for children” held in December, which
invites youngsters to explore the art
world. At the same time, we have actively
participated in other charitable activities,
such as the “Warm Silent World” co-
organised by Hangyang Dreameast Resort
and Hangyang Lan Sidai Zhiyuan Zhe Xiehui
to develop children’s team spirit, hand-
eye coordination, spatial perception, and
sport ability. On the day of the event,
nearly 40 deaf children had spent a day in
Dreameast Archery Park with their families
and volunteers. We believe these activities
coincide with the Company’s philosophy.

We believe that the participation in
activates that repay society can increase
our employees’ civic awareness and
establish correct values. We will
continuously contribute to the community
and seek opportunities to further support
It.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

OF HKEX

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HERERES

BERH (R HERERREE

5) RBRERSIX

FTEHE -EBEHE- - —MI®E Description Section/Declaration
N B RERIER ut 3008 1
Aspect A1: Emissions
[EEAT - BER
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
— R EE (a) the policies; and BER
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to Exhaust Gas and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
EHEERRAEREEN KETHAES B
REEEEYNELESH:
(a) % &
(o) BTHBITABBERTZENEREERAT
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective Emissions —

(“comply or explain”)
BB AETUEEAL
(ITMEBFREERE])

KPI A1.2
(“comply or explain”)
B8 AR B IE A2
([E<FRiEEE])
KPI A1.3
(“comply or explain”)
B4R B R A3
([TE-FRiERE])

KPI A1.4
("comply or explain”)
AR EBUIEIEA14
([TEBFRERE])

KPI A1.5
(“comply or explain”)
BB TUIEEALS
([E<FRLEERE])

KPI A1.6
(“comply or explain”)
B R E I 1EALG
([TE<FRiEERE])

emissions data.

BEE SR AR R B R B R -

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.
BERBEHNE (UWBHAE)REE-

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.
FTEXBEEEMEE (UBEHE)REE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity. \
FFEEREEEYEE (NEE)REE-

Description of reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

AR R BE R B IR R PSR -

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.

HAREBERBEEREVN L BEELEEN
e M FTIS PR ©

Emissions Control,

Waste management
PER ) — HE izl

BEEME IR

Emissions —
Emissions Control

BERCY) — BERUE

Not applicable —
Explained
TER - B RE

Emissions — Waste
Management

B —EERYEE

Emissions —

Emissions Control,
Waste Management
PER ) —HE iz il BEZE

Mg R

Emissions —
Waste Management

B —EEYEE
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RE-HERERBRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF HKEX — continued

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

BEMKN (RR HERERREE
5) RRRSIR-E

and KPlIs
FEHE-EH - —RIFE Description Section/Declaration
M ERENIER it % 1
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
[BEA2 - EJRE A
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, Use of Resources
— MR including energy, water and other raw &R{EA
materials.
BERERER (BEREIR KREAMRME)
BB o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Use of Resources —
(“comply or explain”) type in total and intensity. Energy Management
B4R 8 BB 1R A2 RENESMNEER SEEEREEERTE . BARFEA-FERERE
([TEFRiaE])
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources —
(“comply or explain”) BFEKERTE - Water Management
B A IERA2.2 BERERA-AKERE
([TEFRiaE])
KPl A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives Use of Resources —
(“comply or explain”) and results achieved. Energy Management
B A IERA2.3 ot g IR E A R s 5T Bl SR PR 1S AR © BRER—ERER
([TEFRiaE])
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Use of Resources —
(“comply or explain”) sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Water Management
FREIUETEA2.4 efficiency initiatives and results achieved. BRER—-AKER
([TEFRiaE]) 3t SKERGE A /KR _E AT B R RRE - DA R R A
e st & R PT1SECR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Not applicable —
(“comply or explain”) products (in tonnes) and with reference to per Explained
BB BUBIEA2.5 unit produced. TEA-BmE

(ITETHLAEE]) HRMAAEEMBNEE (UEFE) REEE

BIEE-
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF HKEX — continued

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs
FTEHRE -EH- - —KRIFEE Description
LR ENIEE 3t

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HERERRSE

BERH (R HERERREE
5) RRRSIR-F

Section/Declaration

i1

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[BEA3 IRERRAER

General Disclosure

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant

The Environment and
Natural Resources
REBERRAAEIR

The Environment and

— A ER impact on the environment and natural
resources.
BIRBITAHRRERRAAERERERTZEN
B -
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of

(“comply or explain”)
2 AR B IR A3

(IMEBTRLAERE]) them.

A B EBHHIREMNRARERNEAZERE
ROEEEHETENTE-

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : &%

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

General Disclosure

—RWE

activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage

Natural Resources
— Noise Control,
Greenery
RERRANEIR—
Rl B R AR b

Employment

(=

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

BT E BEREA TIERS R F

EHE - ZoTb - RIER AR E MRS LTI -

(a) BUR: &

(o) BTHETABERZENEREIZLRAN

B R

KPI B1.1
("Recommended
Disclosure”)

R E BB IEB 1.1
(IE&EEED

e

Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region.

BRI BERE FRANRBESSNES

Employment

(=
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HERERBRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX BMEN (BE HERERTERE
OF HKEX - continued gl) RBRESIKR-—&F

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs
TEHE-EHE: - —MIEE Description Section/Declaration
R RAEENIEE i Z8 8%

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[BEB2 : | EEHEL Z

General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
— MR (a) the policies; and ML E

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

ERARFZ2TEREMEEEBRBEN

EER:
(a) B3R &
(b) BFEEITABERZENMBBAERRIIN
B -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
(“Recommended ETIEBEME T A AB R X fREELs
Disclosure”)

B4R 48 WUIE 1R B2.1
([EEEEE])

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
(“Recommended ETEEXIERH- L
Disclosure”)

B A IEEB2.2
([EEBEE])

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety
(“Recommended measures adopted, how they are implemented #EREZ 2
Disclosure”) and monitored.

B A IE1EB2.3 Fo PR AN B B ZE R R B 2 B 4 B - A AR R AT
([EEEEE]) NEEET L
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF HKEX — continued

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs
FTEHRE -EH- - —KRIFEE Description
LR ENIEE 3t

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HERERES

BERH (R HERERREE

5) RBRERSIR-

-

Section/Declaration

i1

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : #E RiF

General Disclosure

— R E

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.

Description of training activities.

BRARTTE B BT TIEBI R A0 A3 M B BE OB R »

it FFE S -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[ETEB4 : 8 T%A

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

General Disclosure

—RWE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and

forced labour.
BRI E T ekoa b4
(a) BIR : &

5TH)

(b) BTHBEITABEAZENHBEERMRIIK

BFte

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BHEB5 : fEHREIE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social

— MR R risks of the supply chain.
EEMEENREREERREK -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
(“Recommended EEE S HEMEE -

Disclosure”)

4 48 B 12 B5.1
([EZWE])

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging
("Recommended suppliers, number of suppliers where the
Disclosure”) practices are being implemented, how they

8§ 45 FIE 15 B5.2 are implemented and monitored.
([ZEEE]) it EEEREEENED  mERITE BB

HEBHE URBREMNATRERT A

Development and
Training

=Y

Labour Standards
4 T %

Supply Chain
Management

HEHEEIE

Supply Chain
Management

HEEEE

Supply Chain
Management

2yt Agtd
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HERERBRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX BMEFHN (RIE -2 RERBETE
OF HKEX - continued gl) RBRESIKR-—&F

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPls
FEHE-EH - —RIFE Description Section/Declaration
RBREXRIEE iz ZHBH

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 - EmAE

General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility
— MR (a) the policies; and EmBf

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

BRAMRHEERMBRBOREELZ 2 BEE BHK

&MI%%HM&%%ME%E’J :
a) K I
b) BFHBEITABEARTENERERERRIH
Bk o
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related Product Responsibility
("Recommended complaints received and how they are dealt EmEF
Disclosure”) with.
52 4B 5 1R B6.2 BEREENERERGHRFEE A REE FE-
(MEZEBEL)
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing Product Responsibility
("Recommended and protecting intellectual property rights. EmEF
Disclosure”) it R RSB ERE R EER -
75245 1512 B6.3
(MEZEBEL)
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Product Responsibility
("Recommended privacy policies, how they are implemented EmEF
Disclosure”) and monitored.
75245 B 1R B6.5 HlE B E B RHRIE RALBEER - ARMEARIT R
(MEZEBEL) Eﬁf?ijj_/ii
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HERERRSE

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX BEmn (BE HERERFEE
OF HKEX - continued 5 RBES|IR-—&

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPls
FEHE -EE  —RIEE  Description Section/Declaration
FREENIEE 1 it i1

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EEB7 : RE)S

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
— A ER (a) the policies; and RES

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.

BRAM LB B8R RFFRAREN:

(a) BREE: &
(b) BFHETAGBERLENBBEZERROID
B o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption
("Recommended corrupt practices brought against the issuer or R &E)5
Disclosure”) its employees during the reporting period and
eS8 B 1ZB 71 the outcomes of the cases.
([EZEE]) REBRARNEETAXEEERLVEFTENE

AR EARIT BB RARAER

Aspect B8: Community Investment

BB : ttEmIE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to Community Investment
— = understand the needs of the communities HEEE

where the issuer operates and to ensure

its activities take into consideration the

communities’ interests.
BENMES2ERTRETASENCHERE

MBREEBR ST S ZE R R TSR -
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance within a sensible
framework with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence. The
board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes
that good corporate governance is essential to the
success of the Company and to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”), the Board has reviewed the corporate
governance practices of the Company with the adoption
of the various enhanced procedures which are detailed
in this report. The Company has applied the principles
of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions
of the CG Code during the year ended 31 December
2019, except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reasons for such deviations as explained
below. The Board will review the current practices
at least annually, and make appropriate changes if
considered necessary.

TREER®ME

TREREHE
RRRBORABERZBERNERHKFEZ2E
XeER WafHeERE AEEREIERR
Q- ARREFE ([EFC ) HEERZEEE
BHARBZKNRRITEREBEEREE -

TEREATARCXELRRS

BEEBHERSMARARZEHF EMHAA ([ £
TARA]) s+ PO pTEl e CREEATAD & (b
¥R mE) ([DEERTA) E=22EEH
ARBZEEETAER TERNZELEREY
B #FRERAHREN -BRTIXHEEZETER
AREZ REEHTAIN REZE2019F 128318 IEF
B ARREEALCEERTHZRAIR—HE
FHEAZ TG -EEEHELTBFRITRIT
ZEBR— TEERATERELEEER-
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TEERBRSE

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises 7 directors (“Directors”)

in total, with 3 Executive Directors (“EDs") and 4

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs"). The

composition of the Board during the year and up to the

date of this report is set out as follows:

EDs: Zhou Zheng (Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned as Chief Executive Officer
on 2 January 2020)

Zhou Jin
(Chief Executive Officer, appointed
on 2 January 2020)

Yang Lei

NED: Lam Yu Yee, Benjamin (Vice Chairman,
resigned on 24 May 2019)

INEDs: Chen Guanglei (Appointed on
20 December 2019)

Li Chak Hung (Resigned on
20 December 2019)

Meng Xiaosu

Yang Buting

Zhao Daxin

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other, except
those as set out in the “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” section on pages 32 to 38 of this report.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring Directors
to disclose the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose
their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

BOARD PROCESS

During the year, the INEDs provided the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) with a wide range
of expertise and experience. Their active participation in
the Board and committee meetings brought independent
judgment on issues relating to the Group's strategy,
performance and management process, taking into
account the interests of all shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”).

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

Exg

ExeHAAkd7RES ([EXF)AX 38/
WITES ([WTEF)) MR RELIFMTES
(MBZIFATESR]) REARBEARE B
b EFERBEINT

HiTES: B (EERITHAEE)
(20201 28 SHETIEAB %)
E&
(7TB B
R2020F 1 H2H Z(F)
FUTES: MR (FLE
201995 F24 H FHT)

BAKNTES: MEE (K019F 125208 Z1(F)
220 (R2019412H20H BHE)

i
BAKH

R IECENAREFRNAEEIBALZ[E

% RBSHMBE MEHHNER-

EREXERTABUREEERETAREE
KRB AR SHAAMBEEBRLNBE LT R EAM
BEARASE  UREEEA RS LPS KRR
WEZCRBERAARARERENAE-

EEEER

RER BIFFRTEZTRARAREHKE QR
(fehe [N E ) IR EIZ 2 B M S &5 - 1)
FRB2HEZTENTBREH HAKEZR
B RIBLEREF 2 EHRMUB A6 WEE K
ARBZEBIR ([BER]) 2 Mz



Throughout the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has had 4 INEDs representing not less
than one-third of the Board. At least one of the INEDs
have the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise
under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence and considers that all of the INEDs met
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and all the INEDs are independent in
accordance with terms of the guidelines.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group's annual
and interim results and other ad hoc matters which
need to be dealt with. During the year, Board meetings
were held and the individual attendance records of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and general meetings during the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out below:

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

REFARBEAREARRIL  AARHEAIS
BIFRITES HEFEARTIR =2 —-
EL—BFIIFAITERAME EHRAE300K
PIE 2 EEERENR St HMM B EREE
EAB EFTQCRESRBEIUINTEZAR
EBY M FEBRE URRAABILIFNTT
ERME EmRRESNMGHE 2B IEES]
KIRIRBRAE S| 2 &K FRA B IERITE R
REIY AL

EXeTHRTEH  IwAREZ ERERIEAN
LENVHRR WEHRMEAEEZ2F R
FHREUN L EMTEREEEEH -NFR-E

SRRTEFSeH MEESNEE2019F12
ANRLEFERTNESTE FTMZES BRZ
B REZEGZeR MBRRXRENERLE
FCEREDIEA T

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BTERE2NE
Remuneration Audit Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Directors EEfE Exg FMZEES ERZER REZEE RERAE
EDs: HiTES:
Zhou Zheng B 10/10 - - 1N 17
Zhou Jin A&
(Appointed on 2 January (#2020
2020) 128 %) - - - - -
Yang Lei HE 10/10 - - - 11
NED: FHTES:
Lam Yu Yee, Benjamin HHR
(Resigned on 24 May (F2019%
2019) 5A24AFT) 2/10 - - - -
INEDs: BUFBTES:
Chen Guanglei BES
{Appointed on (Fa0m9%E
20 December 2019) 12208 %fT) - - - - -
Li Chak Hung TR
(Resigned on (720195
20 December 2019) 128208 &) 8/10 - 202 - 3
Meng Xiaosu AEH 10/10 1 2/2 i 111
Yang Buting hE=E 10/10 11 2/2 1 11
Zhao Daxin HAH 10/10 1n 2/2 17 17

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

87



88

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
approval of Directors’ appointment or re-appointment
(based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and
transactions, corporate governance as well as other
significant policy and financial matters. The Board has
delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive
management. The respective functions of the Board and
management of the Company have been formalised and
set out in writing and will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time to ensure that they are consistent with the
existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in
advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors.
At least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally
given to all Directors who are given an opportunity
to include matters for discussion in the agenda.
The company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. The agenda and
the accompanying Board papers are normally sent to all
Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such
other Board or Board committee meeting). Draft minutes
of each Board meeting are circulated to all Directors
for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

According to current Board practice, if a substantial
Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the
Board has determined to be material, the matter will
be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. The Bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-Laws”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided
therein, a Director shall abstain from voting on any
board resolution and not be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving any contract or arrangement
in which such Director or any of his associates has a
material interest.
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials and has access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access
to the Company’s senior management. Directors will
be continuously updated on the major development
of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of
good corporate governance practices. In addition, a
written procedure was established in June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE AND
INDEMNITY

The Company has purchased appropriate and sufficient
liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and senior
officers in respect of legal actions against the Directors
and senior officers.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that
he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under statute and common law, the
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements
and the Company’'s business and governance policies.
The Company also provides Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the statute
and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other
regulatory requirements and the Company’s business
and governance policies from time to time. The Directors
are also provided with regular updates on the Company's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Corporate Governance Report
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BUESHAREHESS AN EEER
LARAARWESKER MR EFENEES
IRAIE R M BB AR B 2 S BITRAR -
ESRRSER‘ETRANEMEREERTE
ZEIMERBRE 2 ER NERRFETEREE
FERERBH - UIN EEEFEHN200596 7
B REEFEETREE  AIEEE BT
STEVEXRER ARAEBRAARAEEE-

EENEERRRBERE

RAEBEEE MR ENETRR AN HES
REMABHERFRNEZTLSRAEEHR

fEfRE -

EEABREEEXRERE

IAMZENESORIEHOZOARZIILE
o EREANARANEEREBARERER
KERE - EMRA AR REMEERE UL
RAMEFREEBR THERENETAEER
BN TE - RNRBNIERESRIEIANER
A ETRRRN AR M EMEERTEARANRFN
B MEABRNBNBERNEHNENER
EENMEHEREHABARRRR A RATR
MERMEN EEFS2BREEETUETR
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Participation in Continuous Professional Development Activities

SHEBBEEERRED
Attending
trainings/
briefings/
seminars/
conferences
relevant to
Directors’ duties
Reading HEHREERSE
Regulatory BEMEN
Updates ILE =04
Name of Directors EEHR MEZREH BEAE WHE
EDs: HITES:
Zhou Zheng B K v/ v
Zhou Jin IEka

(Appointed on 2 January 2020) (20201 A28 & 1T) v/ v
Yang Lei mE v/ v
NED: FHITES:

Lam Yu Yee, Benjamin R

(Resigned on 24 May 2019) (M2019F5 A24H BHT) v v
INEDs: BYFHTES:

Chen Guanglei PR & &2

(Appointed on (FA2019F12 8208 £ 1F)

20 December 2019) v v
Li Chak Hung PR

(Resigned on (R2019%12 A20H B 1T)

20 December 2019) v v
Meng Xiaosu S EER v v
Yang Buting BE= v v
Zhao Daxin B AT v v
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.
There has been a deviation from this code provision
since the appointment of Mr. Zhou Zheng as the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company with effect from 27 January 2014. The
Board considers this arrangement to be appropriate for
the Company in view of Mr. Zhou Zheng's extensive
experience in the property development industry in
the PRC and his in-depth knowledge of the Group's
tourist resorts and property development operation and
business. The Board believes that a balance of power
and authority is adequately ensured by the operation of
the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals including 4 INEDs. Nevertheless, the Board
will identify an appropriate person to take up the role of
chief executive when necessary.

Mr. Zhou Zheng resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 2
January 2020, and remained as the company's executive
director, chairman and authorized representative. Ms.
Zhou Jin has been appointed as an executive director
and chief executive officer of the Company on the same
day.

Corporate Governance Report
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In June 2005, the Board established and adopted a
written nomination procedure (“Nomination Procedure”)
specifying the process and criteria for the selection
and recommendation of candidates for directorship
of the Company. The Chairman of the Board shall,
based on those criteria as set out in the Nomination
Procedure (such as appropriate experience, personal
skills and time commitment, etc.), identify and
recommend the proposed candidate to the Board for
approval of an appointment. The existing Nomination
Procedure has been included in the terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee with effect from the
establishment of the Nomination Committee on 20
March 2012.

All INEDs of the Company were appointed for a
specific term of three years, but subject to the relevant
provisions of the Bye-Laws or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office but shall be eligible for re-election.

According to the Bye-Laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company ("“AGM"), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation.
Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company whilst for
those appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold
office until the next following AGM and in both cases,
those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at
the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate
governance duties and has adopted the written terms of
reference on its corporate governance functions in April
2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

In 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Board
has performed the corporate governance duties in
accordance with its terms of reference.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
an Audit Committee, a Nomination Committee and a
Remuneration Committee, each of which has its specific
written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which
are kept by the Company Secretary, are circulated to
all Board members and the committees are required
to report back to the Board on their decision and
recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned
in the section headed “The Board” of this report,
have been adopted for committee meetings so far as
practicable.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 20
March 2012 and is chaired by the Chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of INEDs. During the
year and as at the date of publication of this report, the
Nomination Committee was made up of 5 members,
namely:

Mr. Zhou Zheng

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Chen Guanglei (Appointed on 20 December 2019)
Mr. Li Chak Hung (Resigned on 20 December 2019)
Dr. Meng Xiaosu
Mr. Yang Buting
Mr. Zhao Daxin

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the
Company's policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company's corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

EEXZEg
“%Aa&in§§@~a%%ﬁé\@~%%

EeLFHEEE S8 NERARS
%ﬁ%%ﬁl §AEZ%E§%£ﬁ&%%%
BhRARWERT ARHEBATE2REZTENX
BEN MEZBEARNEFSERIRE ME
& (HEm) EFERZEF RTH (KA
FIEEE] R ZATER T IRE R
MRZEBEe%-

REZEY
REZERRN012F3A0HRT MEFTEH
BEEXR PEABIBUIENTESAR -F
RRIAREHE B R R E B RmsAKEM
B

AREE

(tBEZE2F/E)
PR 82 S 4 (A20195E12 A20B & 11)
A2 S 4 (2019512 320 H B E)
mEsE LT
BEEEE
BAFRAE

RAZBQREHANERABITERS XA
BRARRIZBREARTERSIBIERER -

REZEGZIZAGNEEE

(i *T%%Am A ABUREK (B
£ HBNER)  YAEREARFMNEE
%%ﬁ%%@%ﬁ&ﬁ&@%%?

(i) YeEESRERTETESEREMA
T WPk iR %*ﬁﬁ%)xiﬁ&%%%ﬁﬂt
BES %@%ﬁt



(iii) to assess the independence of INEDs; and

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are available on the websites of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the
Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when
necessary in accordance with its terms of reference
and may also deal with matters by way of circulation. In
2019, one Nomination Committee meeting was held. In
2019 and up to the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for Board approval
the proposed resolutions for re-election of the
retiring Directors at 2018 AGM; and

(ii) reviewed and recommended for Board approval
the renewed terms of appointment of INEDs with
reference to the structure, size and composition
of the Board and the independence of each INED.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new
Directors, which provides that the selection of Board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and
professional experience.

The above measurements were also reviewed and
adopted when the Nomination Committee reviewed the
composition of the Board. After assessing the suitability
of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company's
business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that
the existing Board was appropriately structured and no
change was required.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been established
since September 1997

During the year and as at the date of publication of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprised of:

Mr. Chen Guanglei
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
appointed on 20 December 2019)

Mr. Li Chak Hung
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee,
resigned on 20 December 2019)

Dr. Meng Xiaosu

Mr. Yang Buting

Mr. Zhao Daxin

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the
Company's policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are:

(i) to make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and packages of the Directors
and, where appropriate, to consult the Chairman
of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer
about the Remuneration Committee’s proposals
relating to the remuneration of other EDs;

(ii) to review and recommend EDs’ remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objectives;

(iii) to review and recommend the compensation
payable to EDs relating to any loss or termination
of their office or appointment;

(iv) to review and recommend compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of

Directors for misconduct; and

(v) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding
his own remuneration.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company are in compliance with the code
provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a deviation
from the code provision that the Remuneration
Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of the EDs only and not
senior management (as opposed to EDs and senior
management under the code provision). The reason for
the above deviations are summarised as below:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration
Committee is not properly in a position to
evaluate the performance of senior management
and that this evaluation process is more
effectively carried out by the EDs;

(ii) a majority of Remuneration Committee members
are INEDs who may not be industry skilled and
come from differing professions and backgrounds
and they are not involved in the daily operation
of the Company. They may have little direct
knowledge of industry practice and standard
compensation packages. The Remuneration
Committee is thus not in a position to properly
determine the remuneration of the EDs;

(iii) the EDs must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be
able to control their compensation; and

(iv) there is no reason for EDs to pay senior
management more than industry standards and
thus Shareholders will benefit by reducing costs
in the fixing of such compensation packages.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once
a year in accordance with its terms of reference. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held in 2019 and
the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “"The Board” of this report.
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In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way
of circulation during 2019. In 2019 and up to the date of
this report, the Remuneration Committee performed the
works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed the existing policy and structure for the
remuneration of the Directors;

(ii) reviewed the performance of the EDs; and

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board's
approval the service fees of the Directors.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’'s fee which
is to be proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at
the AGM each year. Further remuneration payable to
Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs)
for their additional responsibilities and services will
depend on their respective contractual terms under
their employment contracts or service contracts as
approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established since
September 1997 To retain independence and objectivity,
the Audit Committee is chaired by an INED with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

During the year and as at the date of publication of this
report, the Audit Committee was made up of 4 INEDs,
namely:

Mr. Chen Guanglei
(Chairman of the Audit Committee,
appointed on 20 December 2019)
Mr. Li Chak Hung
(Chairman of the Audit Committee,
resigned on 20 December 2019)
Dr. Meng Xiaosu
Mr. Yang Buting
Mr. Zhao Daxin

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the
Company's policy if considered necessary.
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The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee

are:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

to consider and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

to consider and discuss with the external auditor
the nature and scope of each year’s audit;

to act as the key representative body for
overseeing the Company's relations with the
external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity;

to review the interim and annual consolidated
financial statements before submission to the
Board;

to discuss any problems and reservation arising
from the interim review and final audit, and any
matters the external auditor may wish to discuss;

to review the external auditor’'s management
letters and management’s response;

to review the Group's financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

to review the internal audit plan, ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external
auditors, and ensure whether the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Group; and

to consider major investigations findings on risk
management and internal control matters and
management’s response.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
revised from time to time to comply with the code
provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, but with deviations
from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the
external auditors to supply non-audit services;
and

(ii) ensure the management has performed its duty
to have effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall
recommend (as opposed to implement) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit
services for the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and
its committees to develop policy and make
appropriate recommendations;

(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism
for implementation of such policy and
recommendations is through the Executive
Director and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to
implement policy and follow up the same on a
day-to-day basis.

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee
only possesses the effective ability to scrutinise
(as opposed to ensure) whether management has
performed its duty to have an effective internal control
system. Where an internal audit function exists, the
Audit Committee is not equipped to ensure that the
same is in place as this would involve day-to-day
supervision and the employment of permanent experts.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a
year in accordance with its terms of reference. Two
Audit Committee meetings were held in 2019 and the
attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the
Audit Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2019. In 2019 and up to the date of
this report, the Audit Committee performed the works as
summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees
proposed by the external auditor;

(ii) reviewed the reports from the external auditor in
relation to the final audit for the year ended 31
December 2018 (“2018 Final Audit”), the interim
results review for the six months ended 30 June
2019 (“2019 Interim Review") and the final audit
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (“2019
Final Audit”) of the Group;

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board's
approval the financial reports for the year ended
31 December 2018, for the six months ended 30
June 2019 and for the year ended 31 December
2019;

(iv) reviewed the effectiveness of internal control
system and risk management, including reviewed
the internal control review reports from the
independent internal control reviewer;

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board's
approval the report on substantiation of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group's accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and
budget; and

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board's
annual review the Related Party Transaction
Policies and Procedures, the Connected
Transaction Policy and the Whistle Blower Policy.

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

RIFEBRELE EnLEeE ¢2 9\%‘5??
REH - BEREEGN2019F BRIT—RE:
BB 2 HFEE ﬁ%@%ﬁi&iF =

BETEREESEHI  BREEETA2019F
PEBEN TR AR EE  K20I0F AR EE
ABEBAL BRERSCETL TR
e

(i 200 M AL/ SN AZ BT i 2 BR
NERM:

(il EEINEZ BB A LB E £20185 128
3T L FE 2 FREZ ([2018F F 185
%) B ZE201996 5308 LA B 2 HA
¥EED ([2019FF 82 ) KEZE2019
F12A318 ILF[E 2 FiRE% ([2019F F
mEZ]) Z®RE

(i) ERLEZEEIERE2018512831
HIEFE #HZ2201996 A30H (7~ @ A &
HE2019F12 A3 B IEFE 7 R

(iv) EFANBEZERGLREABEIR 2 WEE B
EREIRE ﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁz%ﬁ/\% A0
BEPE R iR

v EBHNEIEESHERAEEG LM
BERBETENER BTEERER
AEBRETAEINBIRERARELZ
HE: R

M) EBRERBEN S R PR R B
RPHERBHE B AEE AT
R -

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

101



102

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2019, in compliance
with Rule 3.28 of Listing Rules, the Company’s existing
Company Secretary (the "Company Secretary”) is a
full-time employee of the Company and familiar with
the ordinary affairs of the Company. The Company
Secretary is responsible for giving advice to the Board
on corporate governance matters in order to assist the
Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment
and to suit different commercial needs. Details of the
Company Secretary are set out in the section headed
"Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” of this
report.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
Secretary had complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

MODEL CODES FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
("Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the Company,
that they have complied with the required standard as
set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2019.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as
the Code for Securities Transactions by Relevant
Employees to regulate dealings in the securities of
the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be
likely in possession of inside information in relation
to the Company or its securities. No incident of non-
compliance of the Model Code by the Relevant
Employees was noted by the Company.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility
to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Group's performance, position and
prospects in the consolidated financial statements of the
annual and interim reports in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the
management provided such explanation and information
to the Board to enable the Board to make an informal
assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval. The Directors confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors have
selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, and have made judgements and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable.

The Group has announced its interim results and annual
results in a timely manner within the limits of two
months and three months respectively after the end of
the relevant financial periods, as laid down in the Listing
Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard the interest of the
Group and the Shareholders, review and monitor
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis to ensure that
the systems in place are adequate.

The Group's risk management and internal control
systems comprise, among others, the relevant
financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management procedures, a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Each department is
accountable for its daily operations and is required to
implement the business strategies and policies adopted
by the Board from time to time.
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The Company has the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In practice, employees of the Group who
become aware of any events and/or matters which he/
she consider potentially inside information, will report
to the designated personnel of the Company who, if
considered appropriate, will pass such information to
the Board for the purpose of considering and deciding
whether or not such information constitutes inside
information and disclosure of which shall be made
immediately.

The internal audit department of the Company supported
the Board and the Audit Committee in reviewing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems and performed its functions during the year
following an annual audit plan and submitting their
reports of their findings to the Board and the Audit
Committee at the meetings. The Audit Committee
provides independent review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
and gives their recommendation to the Board. The Board
is responsible for reviewing the internal audit report
and approving policies and procedures designed by the
management.

The Board conducted a review and assessment of
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems and procedures during
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 by way
of discussions with the management of the Group,
members of the Audit Committee and the external
independent auditor.

The Board believes that the existing risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification
and experience of staff of the Group’'s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training schemes
and budget and was satisfied with their adequacy.

The Board also assessed the effectiveness of the
Group's internal audit function and external audit
process, and satisfied itself, through the work of its
Audit Committee, that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and is effective at providing
assurance to the Board on the relevant risks faced by
the Company, and that the external audit process is
effective.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibilities to ensure that the financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely
manner.

The management has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable
the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company's financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members
of the Board with monthly updates on Company's
performance, positions and prospects.

The reporting responsibilities of our Company’s external
auditor on the financial statements of the Group are set
out in the "Independent Auditor’'s Report™ in this report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Group’s external auditors was HK$1,650,000.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good
communication with the Shareholders. Information
in relation to the Group is disseminated to the
Shareholders in a timely manner through a number
of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. Such published
documents together with the latest corporate
information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company at www.dreameast.com and
the website of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Company’'s AGM is a valuable forum for the
Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders.
The Chairman actively participates at the AGM and
personally chairs the meeting to answer any question
from the Shareholders. The chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee or in their absence, another member of the
respective committees or failing that their respective
duly appointed delegate, are also available to answer
questions at the AGM. The chairman of any independent
board committee formed as necessary or pursuant to
the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed,
at least a member of the independent board committee)
will also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting of the Shareholders to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.

The 2019 AGM was held on 5 June 2019. The attendance
records of the Directors at the general meeting are set
out in the section headed “The Board"” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general
meetings for each substantial issue, including the re-
election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent, in the case
of AGM, at least 20 clear business days before the
AGM and to be sent at least 10 clear business days in
the case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is
provided to the Shareholders at the commencement
of the meeting. The Chairman answers questions from
Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll
results are published in the manner prescribed under the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company can request the
convening of a special general meeting according to
Bye-law 58 of the Bye-Laws and Section 74(1) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Act”) by written
requisition, with the stated business proposed to be
transacted, which must be validly served at the head
office and principal place of business of the Company
registered in Hong Kong (“Head Office”). Besides,
Shareholders may make a proposal at a Shareholders’
meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board at
the Head Office in the form of a proposed resolution,
which shall be clearly and concisely set out the proposal
for discussion and be relevant to the Company's
business scope.

The Board established a shareholders’ communication
policy. A Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board
at our Head Office for the attention of the Board in
written form, which shall state the nature of the enquiry
and the reason for making the enquiry. In addition,
Shareholders can contact Boardroom Share Registrars
(HK) Limited, the share registrar of the Company, for any
guestions about their shareholdings.

Furthermore, to foster two-way communication amongst
the Company, its Shareholders and potential investors,
and to update them abreast of the latest industry
updates, corporate communications and the Group's
announcements and business development in a timely
manner, the Company has appointed two investor
relation professionals as a formal channel to respond to
enquiries from Shareholders and the public.

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

RBARBHEEARANDR 92 —0EER 7]
RIBARARELBGL ARZIBIFRADE ([
AED FBNEZRERLERMER  UERAEH
BRERNAS AR ATRERERECER I
BRMMREEARBNBBEMOERFRE N
TEEXMH ([RARBR]) UL BRRAIES
RERBRNZAEFSRIEBAIAZREA
SREUXEERFR ARABLELEEMD
AT AR IRERAENAARA 2 EBHE-

EXeCHE —ERFBRAEE -BKRAKER
EEeRXZEANEAAAREEEARER
NAREEATHNEE MR SR RE - 1) -
PR A LA B E R B A AR R B P
BRERREESFECARARER-

BEAN RATEARR R HBIR MBHEREE 2 B
EmABARMBRERFEHNNTEER 2
AT ARARENRE REHER  AAF
EZEMEREEBFEREFEEAL FREERR
RABERNEARE

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

107



108

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The major task and objective of the Group's investor
relations is to clearly introduce the Group, including
the business positioning, existing operations and future
development of the Group, to the media, Shareholders,
investors, analysts and investment banks through
different communication channels. In future, the Group
shall further enhance communication with the media,
Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment
banks on various aspects such as development
strategies, operation and management, financial
prospects and business operation through meetings,
senior management’'s participation in investor forums,
conferences and roadshows. The Group is confident in
establishing and maintaining a good relationship with the
international capital institutions through the continued
enhancement of information transparency.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no change in the Company's
constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a
matter of applying and complying with the CG Code
of the Stock Exchange but also about promoting and
developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. We
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience,
regulatory changes and developments. Any views and
suggestions from our Shareholders to promote and
improve our transparency are also welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 May 2020
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”)
presents its annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
at 31 December 2019 are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s principal
activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance, including a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Group's business, can
be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 8 to 31 of this annual report. No
important event affecting the Group has occurred since
the end of the financial year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the
Company are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 133 to 134 and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend (2018: Nil) or a special dividend (2018: Nil) for
the year ended 31 December 2019. Details are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

FOR DETERMINING THE ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND
AND VOTE AT THE FORTHCOMING ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING OF THE COMPANY (“2020 AGM")

The 2020 AGM is scheduled to be held on 16 June
2020, Wednesday. For determining the entitlement
to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 11 June
2020, Thursday to 16 June 2020, Tuesday (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order for a
Shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2020
AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share
Registrars (HK) Limited of Room 2103B, 21/F, 148
Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 10 June 2020, Wednesday.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities
(including both continuing and discontinued operations)
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and reclassified/restated as appropriate, is
set out below. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12ANALEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET THT FET AT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E55) (£55])
RESULTS £
REVENUE A 119,998 159,837 1,278,298 83,754 140,472
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE BRETEBA (BR) &7
INCOME TAX (162,545) 329,330 222,735 179,411 870,259
INCOME TAX EXPENSE FrEBiEX (38,626) (170,881) (95,804) (129,859) (256,015)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FORTHEYEAR AL F#HHE AEM
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS ER(FR) /BmF
OF THE COMPANY (199,812) 159,932 115,575 39,741 547200

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT



Directors’ Report

ExgRE
31 December
128318
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTET FiET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(BE7) (BE7)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Total assets BEE 10,358,567 10,695,955 11,217,361 10,205,737 7,978,433
Total liabilities R 7,704,462 7,842,982 8,162,285 7,396,411 5,187,104
Total equity Bt 2,654,105 2,852,973 3,055,076 2,809,326 2,791,329
Total liabilities and total equity BEBERESEE 10,358,567 10,695,955 11,217,361 10,205,737 7978,433

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ME- -BMERZE

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of movements in the properties under
development for sale of the Group during the year
are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected and related transactions
undertaken in the ordinary course of business by the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements. Saved as disclosed
therein, none of these related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or a continuing
connected transaction of the Group as defined in and
required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Group confirms that it has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain
agreed upon procedures in respect of the continuing
connected transactions of the Group. The auditor has
reported their factual findings on these procedures to
the Board. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions
and the report of the auditor, and have confirmed that
the transactions have been entered into by the Company
in the ordinary course of its business, on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than
terms available to or from independent third parties,
and in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole.

The auditors have confirmed that nothing has come
to their attention that caused them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions: (1) have not been
approved by the Board; (2) were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and (3) have
exceeded the annual caps.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
137 to 138 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’'s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended from
time to time), amounted to approximately HK$1,602.1
million (2018: HK$1,559,7 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the
year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Zhou Zheng

Zhou Jin (Appointed on 2 January 2020)
Yang Lei

Non-Executive Director:
Lam Yu Yee, Benjamin (Resigned on 24 May 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Chen Guanglei (Appointed on 20 December 2019)
Li Chak Hung (Resigned on 20 December 2019)
Meng Xiaosu

Yang Buting

Zhao Daxin

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 86(2), Ms.
Zhou Jin and Dr. Chen Guanglei shall hold office until the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-elecction.

In accordance with the Company’'s Bye-laws 87(1) and
(2), Mr. Yang Lei shall retire from office by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company has an
unexpired service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, every Director or
other officers of the Company acting in relation to any
of the affairs of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he may incur or sustain
in or about the execution of his duties in his office. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year under review.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors were
appointed for a specific term of three years but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Bye-laws of the
Company or any other applicable laws whereby the
Directors shall vacate or retire from their office.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executives in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFQ")), as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO or pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows or
as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” below:
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Name of Director

Nature of interests

Number of shares
and underlying
shares held
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Approximate % of
the relevant issued
share capital

BEROR EEBERITREAZ

EENE Bt E HERDEE BHAE DL

Zhou Zheng Interest of controlled 288,728,934 101.13%

corporation (Note 1)

R XEGEE 2w (M)

Yang Lei Beneficial owner (Note 2) 205,790 0.07%

BE XmEE A (ME2)

Meng Xiaosu Beneficial owner (Note 2) 61,737 0.02%

R XmEE A (MFE2)

Yang Buting Beneficial owner (Note 2) 61,737 0.02%

BT XmEE A (MFE2)

Zhao Daxin Beneficial owner (Note 2) 61,737 0.02%

AT XmEE A (MFE2)

Notes: it -

1. This includes interests in (i) 205,182,287 shares of the 1. ZREEBERFREERER AR ([RFRE]
Company, and (ii) convertible bonds (upon exercise of the BAEEABRARZZ2EMNBABEE ZI
conversion rights attached to which, 83,546,647 shares will 7N A 205,182,287 B& 1 + R (i) A8 A B Al 4 ik (&
be alloted and issued by the Company) of the Company A (RBEMT AR HE AT B - AN Q B AR 2 R 31T
held by SkyOcean Investment Holdings Limited (“SkyOcean 83,546,647 % i% {5 ) o Ak AE A AR A A B F L
Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Knowledge Silicon RAEBRAR ([BH]) (BAREEZEHRR)EE
Valley Limited. Knowledge Silicon Valley Limited was owned 80% 2 o IRIBFFEFH LG RN BBELE - BEFL
as to 80% by Sheng Bang Holdings Limited (“Sheng Bang”), RABEAERAASEHRANRKFIREREZ
which in turn was wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou Zheng. By virtue of It N AB BE AR (0 R #E A M A o
the SFO, each of Mr. Zhou Zheng, Sheng Bang and Knowledge
Silicon Valley Limited was deemed to be interested in the shares
and underlying shares owned by SkyOcean Investment.

2. These interests in shares of the Company are held pursuant to 2. RAQNRBRNDNZEERIRIBIEERETERE
the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme. R HE R IESS A -

3. All interests stated above represent long positions. 3. FiE Ll igir A -

PURPOSE OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is (i) to closely
align the interests of the Directors and senior executives
of the Company with the Company's performance
and strategic objectives, so as to lay a foundation for
the Company's future development and maximize
shareholder value, and (ii) to attract, retain and motivate
key personnel to achieve the Company’'s strategic
objectives by providing them with compensation that is
as a whole competitive in the talent market.
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ELIGIBLE PARTICIPANTS

The specific eligible participants of the Share Option
Scheme (“Eligible Participant(s)”) shall be determined by
the Board at its sole discretion, and such determination
shall be interpreted by the Board. Subject to the
discretion of the Board, the eligible participants shall
belong to any of the following class(es):

(i) executive Directors, independent non-executive
directors and senior executives of the Company
who are responsible for the decision-making,
operation and management of the Company as
determined by the Board; and

(ii) any other groups or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute to the
development of the Group including but not
limited to the qualified persons.

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
SUBSCRIPTION UNDER THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company may grant share options to Eligible
Participants entitling to subscribe for a total up to
26,321,173 Shares, representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date on which the
resolution regarding the Share Option Scheme was
passed at the Special General Meeting on 29 November
2018, being 263,211,739 Shares. The Company may
seek approval of its Shareholders at general meeting
for refreshing the 10% limit under the Share Option
Scheme, however the total number of shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under all the schemes of the Company
under the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of
the shares in issue as at the date of approval for the
limit. Share Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed or exercised under the Share Option Scheme)
will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed limit. Further, the maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
Share Options granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.
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MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE
PARTICIPANT

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the share options shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

EXERCISE TIME AND EXPIRY DATE OF THE SHARE
OPTIONS

The granted share options are exercisable in 4 tranches
of 25% each on the date after the first, second, third and
fourth anniversaries of the date of grant. The exercisable
period will expire on 29 November 2028.

EXERCISE PRICE UNDER THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The exercise price of share options shall be determined
by the Board and notified to the Eligible Participants. The
exercise price shall be the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the grant
date;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five consecutive trading days prior to the
grant date; and

(i) the par value of the Shares.

In 2018, 4,928,676 share options with exercise price of
HK$8.18 per share are granted to certain directors and
employees on 11 December 2018. These Share options
are with vesting periods from 11 December 2018 to 10
December 2022 and were exercisable in 4 tranches of
25% each, from 11 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022
to 29 November 2028.
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During the current year, the changes in share options
granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme are as follows:

BRI AN AR SRR R A ) O B R
R :

Exercise 1 January 31 December
Date of grant price 2019 Adjustment 2019
2019% 20195
REBH TEE 1818 HE 128318
HK$
BT
Directors
=
Mr. Yang Lei 11 December 2018 8.18 205,790 - 205,790
SELE 20185124118
Mr. Li Chak Hung 11 December 2018 8.18 61,737 61,737 -
FRERAE 2018F12A 118
Mr. Meng Xiaosu 11 December 2018 8.18 61,737 - 61,737
mEHEL 20185128118
Mr. Yang Buting 11 December 2018 8.18 61,737 - 61,737
BrEEE 2018F12A 1A
Mr. Zhao Daxin 11 December 2018 8.18 61,737 - 61,737
AR AL 2018128118
452,738 61,737 391,001
Other Eligible Participants 11 December 2018 8.18 4,445,069 1,224,452 3,220,617
HibaBHBBEA 2018F12A 118
4,897.807 1,286,189 3,611,618

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any
business that competes or competed or is or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business at any time during the year ended 31
December 2019 and as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, no contracts of significance to
which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which the Directors had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2019, the following Shareholders had
interests in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Number of shares Approximate % of
and underlying the relevant issued
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held share capital Note
BRERGR EEBERITREZ
RREB BHEME HERGHA BREDH i 5
Knowledge Silicon Valley Limited Interest of controlled corporation 288,728,934 101.13% 1
HABEABRAT REHEEz ER
Sheng Bang Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 288,728,934 101.13% 1
("Sheng Bang”)
BRERERAR ([BH]) REHEE 2 ER
Zhou Zheng Interest of controlled corporation 288,728,934 101.13% 1
A REHEE 2 R
Notes: i
1. This includes interest in (i) 205,182,287 shares of the Company, 1. ZREEEERFRE (RABEAERARZEZEA
and (i) convertible bonds (upon exercise if the conversion b8 A |)) 5B 2 ()4 A §]205,182,28 7 ft 1+ K&

rights attached to which, 83,545,647 shares will be allotted and
issued by the Company) of the Company held by SkyOcean
Investment, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Knowledge Silicon
Valley Limited. Knowledge Silicon Valley Limited was owned as
to 80% by Sheng Bang, which in turns was wholly-owned by
Mr. Zhou Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, each of Mr. Zhou Zheng,
Sheng Bang and Knowledge Silicon Valley Limited was deemed
to be interested in the shares and underlying shares owned by
SkyOcean Investment.

2. All interests states above represent long positions.

(iR A R AT AR B % (R BE P IR AR AR E AT S - R
N A EE [ ¥1783,546,647 1R IR 1D ) - MAEAAE
RARIEBEAS (HEABCELERE) HEE80% 2
o MIEFEFH RBE G BBE AL - BB RAZE
ARERAREERRAENRKFRERE ZRMH KB
BRG PR -
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

The Group entered into subscription agreements
containing covenants relating to specific performance of
the controlling shareholders of the Company which were
subject to announcement disclosure under Rule 13.18 of
the Listing Rules and requirements of disclosure in this
annual report under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules, the
details of which are set out below:

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bonds | and the Bonds | and II, which details are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements,
at all times throughout the terms of the Convertible
Bonds | and the Bonds | and II, (a) the controlling
shareholders, namely SkyOcean Investment and Mr.
Zhou Zheng, shall maintain an aggregate beneficial
ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 51%
in the issued share capital of the Company on a Fully-
Diluted Basis; (b) SkyOcean Investment shall not (i)
exercise any of its rights to convert all or any portion of
the Charged Existing CB into Shares; and (i) amend any
terms or conditions of the Existing CB Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Existing CB Terms and Conditions, the
Uncharged Existing CB Terms and Conditions and the
Charged Existing CB Terms and Conditions; and (c) Mr.
Zhou Zheng shall remain as a Director and the Chairman
of the Company. A breach of such covenants constitutes
an Event of Default.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

ERRRBRE LT R5E13.18(Rk A
BTzHEEEE

AEEERAR BERBIRRE LR RIFH13.18
=N EWFERTE MARE LR RIE13. 21K A
FHRBEEERABRTZREREZRE FILM
R R BT

RIB ARG S A R B 55 | SR ABE 55 112 650 B 11
FHIBEHIIN A G RN EE26 - R AR E S
A RAB 7571 S (B 2511 2 B A HR O ] iy ) (a) 2 B
PR (BIRFREMAEARELE) A —HERFEER
BMERESHAA R T INAR AR E#EERE
ZEBEITEAZB1% ¢« D RFRENMFOTTREEE
A HE A5 2 BB () B 0 B WS IR A Rl AR (E 75
BIRAKRD  RESCREAIBRESER K-
BB AR E S R R AR I R RCIR A A AR
MBI R AR R B IR RA A R E SRR
fiRAF 2 AR IR SAGRAT + R () AR AR R EAR
AEERER -ERBAREINBRENSF-



As at the date of this annual report, (a) SkyOcean
Investment and Mr. Zhou Zheng beneficially owns
approximately 71.87% of the issued share capital of the
Company; (b) SkyOcean Investment has not (i) exercised
any of its rights to convert all or any portion of the
Charged Existing CB into Shares; and (ii) amended any
terms or conditions of the Existing CB Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Existing CB Terms and Conditions, the
Uncharged Existing CB Terms and Conditions and the
Charged Existing CB Terms and Conditions; and (c) Mr.
Zhou Zheng remains as a Director and the Chairman of
the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has endeavored to comply with laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental measures to ensure
that the conducting of the Group’'s business meets the
applicable construction standards and ethics in respect
of environmental protection.

The Group adheres to environmental sustainability
from office throughout the property portfolio. As a
responsible developer, the Group strives to ensure
minimal environmental impacts by carefully managing its
energy consumption, water usage, property design and
waste production. In addition, we engaged construction
contractors with sound environmental protection and
safety track records and have closely monitored the
project at every stage to ensure the construction
process is in compliance with environmental protection
and safety laws and regulations, and would require
construction contractors to immediately resolve any
defect or noncompliance, where necessary. For further
details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular,
those have significant impact on the Group. The Audit
Committee is delegated by the Board to monitor the
Group's policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and such policies are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and relevant operation units from
time to time.
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As far as the Company is aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
WORKPLACE QUALITY

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does
not discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics.
With an aim to enhancing the quality of the Board's
performance by diversity, the board diversity policy
was adopted. Details of such board diversity policy are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report — Board Diversity Policy”. Further, the Group has
employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions of
employment, expectations for employees’ conduct and
behaviour, employees’ rights and benefits. The Group
establishes and implements policies that promote a
harmony and respectful workplace.

The Group provides on the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’' career
progression. Through different trainings, staff's
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced.
The Group also organised charitable and staff-friendly
activities for employees, such as annual dinner, to
promote staff relationship.

The Group provides a safe, effective and congenial
working environment. Adequate arrangements, trainings
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. The Group provided
health and safety communications for employees to
present the relevant information and raise awareness of
occupational health and safety issues.

The Group values the health and well-being of its staff.

In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’'S OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group maintains good relationships with existing
and potential customers as understanding of the
market trends would enable the Group to monitor and
review the credit quality of the customers and timely
adjust its operating strategies, which are crucial to the
development and success of the Group. The Group
places effort to build up and maintain good relationships
with various commercial banks and financial institutions
as the businesses of the Group are capital intensive
nature and require on-going funding to maintain
continuous growth.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and
its financial institutions and/or customers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ and senior management
emoluments and of the five highest paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
is set up on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments payable to Directors will depend
on their respective contractual terms under their
employment contracts or service contracts as
approved by the Board on the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual's performance
and comparable market statistics.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable
to the Group's five largest customers accounted for
77.01% of the Group's total revenue for the year and
the revenue attributable to the Group's largest customer
included therein amounted to 58.05%. The aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 66.97% of the Group's total
construction cost incurred for the year. The purchases
attributable to the Group's largest supplier amounted to
15.83% of the Group's total construction cost.

None of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders, which to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital, had a beneficial interest in any of the Group's
five largest customers or suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
shares on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31
December 2019.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of RMB2 million
during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance practices. Information
on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 84 to 108.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it
is confirmed that a sufficient public float of more than
25% of the issued capital of the Company has been
maintained as at the date of this report and at all times
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are set
out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Company has appointed MAZARS CPA Limited
("MAZARS") as auditors of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint MAZARS as the auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 May 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 ®RE

MAZARS

TO THE MEMBERS OF DREAMEAST GROUP LIMITED
ERFEBERAAE
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of DreamEast Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
133 to 300, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements" section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year. These matters were addressed in
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the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised

as follows:

Key audit matters

B E TSR

HAIERA TR R R ET TR AT

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AR EES P NAEEFARESEE

Valuation of investment properties

REWMRZEE

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because the
valuation process involves estimations, various
assumptions and determination of key inputs,
which are judgmental. Any changes to these
inputs may have a significant impact on the
fair value. Management determined the fair
value of the Group’'s investment properties at
31 December 2019 with the assistance of an
independent external valuer.
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Details of the investment properties and the
related key estimation uncertainty are set out in
notes 16 and 3, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to management's

valuation of investment properties included:

AR EEEAREMEETHECRBEFEE:

e FEvaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by the management;
FHMEBEEEZBNE NS EE - Bk
NREE:

e QObtaining a copy of valuation report prepared
by the independent external valuer and
discussing with the independent external valuer
to understand the basis of determination of
valuation;

B 15 98 <7 SN EP AT 4 B AR R AV AT Al R - BRI 7 SNED
SR R T REE MENEE:

e Challenging the independent external valuer the
methodologies and judgments used in valuing
the investment properties and obtaining market
evidence as to support the key inputs used by
the independent external valuer; and
BB N RT L B IR B W) 1T B R TR
R8T A R FIE - SWES B SN BT A A AR X 5
B ABEBENTISEE: &

e Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures
on the fair value measurement of investment
properties including the fair value measurement
hierarchy, the valuation technique and significant
unobservable inputs in the consolidated financial
statements.
FEREMEALBEAERENESE 2EAQ
AEEFTEER HERMREHMBREFNE
AN AT B B2 8 A B o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - continued

Key audit matters

BREEITER

FARETEE-&

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

A EERS PO MEEFERESSEE

Revenue recognised from sales of properties

MEHEZCHEIRA

We identified the revenue from sales of
properties as a key audit matter since sales of
properties represent one of the key performance
indicators of the Group which subjects to high risk
of misstatements.

ARmEHEHET EX5EN - HBEREZUER |
BR B K H) 28 SR PR At B B - ARFTIE S E W E TR A
P AR ETEE

Details of revenue from sales of properties are
set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

HEMEMBRAZFBERNA HIHBHHRKRW TS -

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of

properties included on sample basis:

KHMEHEMEMBRAZBEBAREFBEEE:

e Testing key internal controls over revenue

recognition;

A S U BE AR 2 [ 4 P BB R I ¢

e Reading the signed sales and purchase
agreements to understand the relevant terms on

timing of property delivery and title transfer;

MECEEEEhS A THOEINRFREE

2 B A% Bk 2 AR R 15K

e Obtaining evidence regarding the property

delivery and title transfer; and

EREBMERINRERERZEE &

e Reconciling the monetary amounts of recorded
transactions and related payments to the signed

sales and purchase agreements.

HECERX A EHCHREEREFEEHHE M
B8 AT I B



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are
responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the
2019 annual report of the Company, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BAGEARE

Ht &

BARES ((EF))AHEMENRERE A
EREE BRR0FFRTHAEENEHN
BT IEA G181 R AT E o X I

W

AAHEHYBREFEHNBELLRREELME
£t e T T B E b BRI B R AR IRRE M o

WEZAHMBEHRRME  AMNETEMER
ER KMEZEEREMEN ST RS HIMBRE
HARPTEEZBIETETNENFEERNNT
HUFFEERE R - HERFERE T
M TR REMER HIREXFERRM - AFHA
WEZEE - AT B FIRARS

EERGEBHSHUBERRAR
EHEE

EFAREREBEGTMASBEMNTEHH
BELEURBFERARIINBERT REEE
ARFOaHUBRE RNEBEERRRREH
BT R P s BV ERER I - DATE & BRI H5 Rk
PMrERRRFFERMERNERFRRAL -

RiRBAHIM RN ESARENME E5ME
SELENRE N XHEBERBER T REEFEL
LHRENER WERKELE RS ER RIF

BEXEEN ESEBRAFLELLFIERMD
ERMWERS R

REEAREE SREZMBHRERE-
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

BRBEHETSHUBHRERREAEDN

B

RETH B ZAHAHM SRR RS NEERLGE
SR ME R T E AR RN ES A B RE -
W HEBERERNZBEERS - NRERIE
ABIEI1981E R FLEFOBEIE AR EL -
W EAEE A R i% - AT R B AR E ABREA
Ht A+ 8 EefiETmET-

ERERERRBKIORE BETRREREESE
APEABETTHESZER —EAERRLFERZ
BETEIR - SEARMRUA P KGR BE SR E A - WRA B
BHEEEKERRRAZE R HYBHRKRER
FIRBZF AT RERAELOEERER Al
WA SEARFERRAL -

AFRIEBE BB ENRTEINIEZ— =
EREZETERETERZTRAE  RIFEXEREE -
ZNGIIE

. a5l e 5 B R R RF SR R M B A R
BRREEBAERRANRR - R K
WITENEF AR ZFRER UL RER
FRMEZNETBE FAAMERLN
Hift - ANGFRIRES RBRR BE BE
B BRI SOE B R ERE ISR
IR RE 3 3R R BRE M G B KSR AR R
MERESRREEREFERMEFNEX
BH SRR A L

. TRREERTHBEOASES ARTEE
MR ERF X IFEHEY BERBERI
EHHAREERER -



Independent Auditor’s Report
BAGEARE

BRBEEEGT SO M BHRRAEN
BEE-4&

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS - continued

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

A EEMRASTEERNRE M R EL
SETAFT AR RENSEE-

HEERMAFBEEE G ERNRE L
H s - RIBPTERNEABE BT
FHEESHEKBEAEBENERNTHETEE -

femA e By BRENFELEED
EEERRE -WRAMAB/FEEAD
HEN AV EERBEBETIRAR
AEIBAHPBRRPHOBERKE R
ERBNBETR AEFTAMNER -

A ERRENZBEIHRE B LS
MR E IR - AT - RREIARIBER A 5EE
B ESETRERELE-

AHER T BHRANERRIIT A B8
MAZ BEKE UWREHMEHRRES
NV RRAERERZ S EE -

B EEEANERKEFZHNTBER
EEGtE LEENETER WEHEH
MEHERBER -AMBEREENT
[ BB RTT - N REAT B R AR
Bffe

AFEUREE R (AP B Beteat SI8E - &
AL MBEBARNERER ZERRBEAM
FEFERT B2 BRI &Y 7 BB 0 (AR E AR

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 8 May 2020

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Fung Shiu Hang

Practising Certificate number: P04793

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

BRBEHETS U BHRERREAEDN

BEE-&

ARTEREEEH B RAAMETEEH
B MHNRAERERES R WERKRE BB
REERARSFENELIENBBE N EM
EH UREEROIER TEEAD EHEE -

REBREERBNERT AMETHAREE
HUBBRERBAEZHEZNER AMEKELR
BT EIR - APTERZBEN RS P M ZFRIR IR
EERIER T A ARBEZREFE NER
PEIERT  WMEREMEAMNBEP BB
FHERNAEERRBHEENARME AR
FRTE MRS TR BZ E A -

FERR (58 GHMEEFAERLT
HEDFED
& - 202055 A8H

HEARBYZBMBE 2 EAREESER:

B IKiE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

afEEREARSRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

2019 2018
20194 20184
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHBT FA& T
Revenue KA 4
Sales of properties S ES 84,338 89,630
Rental income HeWA 17,441 52,767
Tourism park operations and i 307 4 ) ' 58 [ ELAth AR 7%
other services 18,219 17440
119,998 159,837
Cost of sales and services $HE MARFS A AR (73,843) (84,974)
Gross profit EF 46,155 74,863
Other gains and losses H s K EE 6 (48,162) (25,883)
Other income ﬁ@ﬂk/\ 26,492 2,209
Share of results of joint ventures  DIEA S DEELS 17 (7,653) (2,702)
Fair value changes of BEMENNBEES
investment properties 16 91,594 638,953
Selling expenses HERZ (24,592) (48,160)
Administrative expenses THER (108,539) (143,076)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBATZEE 34 (7,642) -
Loss on extinguishment of ARG S BB
convertible bonds 26 (1,623) -
Finance costs R b3 7 (128,575) (166,874)
(Loss) Profit before tax BB AT (E518) &R 8 (162,545) 329,330
Income tax expense FrigfiB 2 9 (38,626) (170,881)
(Loss) Profit for the year FR(BR) =R (201,171) 158,449
Other comprehensive (loss) gain: Hftt4R4 (F5iE) W :
Item that may be reclassified to HEEHIBEFEFRZ
profit or loss: HA:
Exchange differences on translation W**?EZEPL%@ (11,392) (204,441)
Share of other comprehensive loss D1EAEDEHMLREEIE
of joint ventures (31,010) -
(42,402) (204,441)
Item that will not be reclassified HE&FTGEHIPER/ZZ
subsequently to profit or loss: HA:
Exchange differences on translation #AEE 4~ [E 4, =58 36,221 38,383
Other comprehensive loss FREMEESER
for the year (6,181) (166,058)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

AaftREREMGRSRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2019 2018
2019%F 20184
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FHET
Total comprehensive loss FRGEFIEEE
for the year (207,352) (7,609)
(Loss) Profit for the year FERTIEEZFER
attributable to: (E518) % F
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIEZE DN (199,812) 159,932
Non-controlling interests FEPES) i (1,359) (1,483)
(201,171) 158,449
Total comprehensive loss BERTIgEZ
for the year attributable to: FRAGEEEAE:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIEZE DN (200,584) (6,126)
Non-controlling interests FEVE Il 1 p 2 (6,768) (1,483)
(207,352) (7609)
(Loss) Earnings per share SR (5R)ZR 13
— Basic —BR (HK$0.699958 7t)  HK$0.6057/8 7T
— Diluted — 8 (HK$0.699978 7T)  HK$0.5205/8 7T

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a

B 55 AR &

At 31 December 2019 72019412 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHBT FA& T
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% R MR 14 286,920 235,321
Prepaid lease payments BN HEERIAE 15 = 50,913
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 15 52,441 -
Investment properties REYE 16 2,567,861 5,512,086
Investment in joint ventures NEBREZRE 17 1,313,830 1,234,984
Other non-current assets HEMIEmei&EE 21 144,119 149,865
4,365,171 7,183,169
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development BRPAEEYE
for sale 18 4,680,357 1,794,433
Completed properties held for sale D& L&Y% 283,761 358,847
Inventories FE 153 623
Trade receivables H 5 EWGIR 19 4,833 10,475
Other receivables, HEMEWGIE - Ee &
deposits and prepayments TEfTFRIE 20 93,312 35,564
Amounts due from related FE UL B R N B FOR
companies 38(G)(i) 634,833 890,586
Other current assets HEtmeEE 21 255,167 235,783
Pledged bank deposits DRIRRITER - 930
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRS 22 40,980 185,545
5,993,396 3,512,786
Current liabilities REBAGE
Trade and other payables and B 5 NEMERFIER
accruals TR I 23 716,945 805,924
Contract liabilities ARBE 24 285,872 289,975
Amounts due to related companies [EfHEEEE A FIFUIE 38(G)(ii) 1,088,762 1,098,050
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 15 4,143 =
Tax payable JEAFH IR 71,072 56,953
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMEE
— within one year ——FREH 25 1,635,613 414,270
Convertible bonds and bonds AR ES R ES 26 1,040,985 685,984
4,843,392 3,351,156
Net current assets REEEFE 1,150,004 161,630
Total assets less current liabilities B EERREBEE 5,515,175 7,344,799
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BOFREMRR T

At 31 December 2019 722019412 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B FET FABIT
Non-current liabilities FkRBEME
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 27 513,649 502,256
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE
— over one year ——F 15| Hf 25 2,347,421 3,554,364
Convertible bonds and bonds AR EAENRES 26 = 435,206
2,861,070 4,491,826
Net assets EEFE 2,654,105 2,852,973
Capital and reserves EARR#HE
Share capital A&z 28 28,550 28,550
Reserves 1 2,400,792 2,592,043
Equity attributable to owners of PN/NETE R = DN Y e
the Company 2,429,342 2,620,593
Non-controlling interests JEIE S MM 224,763 232,380
Total equity s 2,654,105 2,852,973

The consolidated financial statements on pages 133  Z133Z=3008 2 & #8174 H &R 120209F5 A8 H £
to 300 were approved and authorised for issue by the EEEHERSETE WHTIESKRES:
Board of Directors on 8 May 2020 and signed on its

behalf by:

Zhou Jin Yang Lei
Director Director
A& BE
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ShREEDE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

ERAREAEGER

Equity

Convertible attributable

Statutory Share bonds  Exchange to non-
Share Share surplus Other option equity translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

Fipitt
Kkt tERH Eft BRE TEREZ HERE RE REEE [ 3]

R& i it &t fife  EEEE Rt bl it B 4%
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Tén  FEx  FEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  TER  TER  TEx  TER  TER

(Note a) (Note b (Note ¢)
(Hiita) (b)) (M)
At 1 January 2019 1201951818 28,550 855,716 127880  (629,463) 496 398,353 (279,364) 2,118,425 2,620,593 232,380 2,852,973
Loss for the year FAFR = = = = = = - (199,812)  (199,812) (1,359)  (201,171)
Other comprehensive loss: EtGapE:
Exchange differences on translation BEEEERER - - - - - - (772) - (172) (5,409) (6,181)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FAGAFEEE - - - - - - (772)  (199,812)  (200,584) (6,768) (207,352
Transactions with owners: HBEEANRS:
Contributions and distributions HERARAE
Extension of the Convertible Bonds |~ &R EH
(Note 26) (F3t26) - - - - - 515 - - 515 - 515
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ RIEREENER B
(Note 29) EROFF (H29) - - - - 8,818 - - - 8,818 - 8,818
Disposal of subsidiaries [Note 34) HEMBAR (H34) - - - - - - - - - (849) (849)
Total transactions with owners BEEANRSEE - - - - 8,818 515 - - 9,333 (849) 8,484
As at 31 December 2019 120195125318 28,550 855,716 127880  (629,463) 9,314 398,868  (280,136) 1,918,613 2,429,342 224,763 2,654,105
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

AHEREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

RRAERAEEER
Equity
Convertible attributable
Statutory Share bonds  Exchange to non-
Share Share surplus Other option equity  translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
Fiz03 ]
Ry ERRH it BihE TRRES  HNERE 2 BREl 4
pe e G G G RERE & A @it & &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TAT TET TR TERT TER TEr TEr TEL TEL
(Note a) [Note b) [Note ¢)
(Fita) (Biztp)  (Bikc)
At 1 January 2018 M2018F1A18 26,322 347939 127880 (638,017) - 1327684 (113,306) 1,958,493 3,036,995 18,081 3,055,076
Profit (loss] for the year ERER (B8) - - - - - - - 159932 159,932 (1.483) 158,449
Other comprehensive loss: EhGaRE:
Exchange differences on translation BEEEIEHEE - - - - - - (166,088 - (166,058) - (166,058)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ ERGAEELEE - - - - - - (166,058 159,932 6,126) (1,483) 7609)
Transactions with owners: BEEANRS:
Contributions and distributions HRRAE
Issue of shares upon conversion of TAREREEARES
convertible bonds (Note 26(b)) &3 (#2600 ) 19494 1,903,996 - - - (929.331) - - 994,159 - 994,159
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBLR
(Note 26(b) and 34) (Fiz£26(b)%34) (17266)  (1,396,219) - 8,554 - - B - (1,404,931) 215,782 (1,189,149)
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ REHHENRN A
(Note 29) AR (Frt29) - - - - 496 - - - 496 - 496
Total transactions with owners EREANRSEE 2,228 507777 - 8,554 496 (929,331) - - (410,276) 215,782 (194,494)
As at 31 December 2018 #R2018%F12A318 28,550 855,716 127880 (629,463 496 398,363 (279,364) 2,118425 2,620,593 232,380 2,852,973
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Notes:

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BOEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

In accordance with the Articles of Association of all subsidiaries
of DreamEast Group Limited that established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), those subsidiaries are required
to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation to the statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of those subsidiaries. Transfer to this reserve must
be made before distributing dividends to equity holders. The
statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous
year's losses, expand the existing operation or convert into
additional capital of the subsidiaries.

Share option reserve comprise the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments.

Convertible bonds equity reserves represent equity portion of
convertible bonds.

W

BEZERAEEERIATNRFEARKLME ([H
BRI PT A B A RS A ERME ZEH
B R B R B BRRIREN 0% 25 E BB FHE
HEREBENZEME R R EMERA50% - 5
AR AEERE AD KR BAEL < J5F &6
RETARBREBEFECER BREGEBR
HEEMBARMEIIEAR-

B AR fr B2 FE AR IR L DA RR £ 70 R 7 B9 19 SR ER A 9
B BRRERNRTAEAESTRERNRITRE
BENERSGAHRENAREE

HREEsEERFRERETRRESNERETD -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHEREERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IE FE

2019 2018
201945 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETER
(Loss) Profit before tax FriiAT (BE) &H (162,545) 329,330
Adjustments for: R
Interest income FBUA (158) (1,867)
Interest expenses Wiis\ERa 128,575 166,874
Fair value change of investment REMENAABEES
properties (91,594) (638,953)
Depreciation of property, Y HENEETE
plant and equipment 3,007 3,825
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREZEENE 7,466 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease FEH & IR
payment - 1,575
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE FE &
plant and equipment Bl Fi= 1,166 692
Loss on extinguishment of I MRES BB
convertible bonds 1,623 -
Share of results of joint ventures ~ D{hASEDERELE 7,653 2,702
Allowance for doubtful debts RAREEE - 6
Provision for compensation B BB 12,013 -
Equity-settled share-based REREEURD A
payments AR 8,818 496
Exchange difference PE 5 =5 26,992 20,701
Operating loss before changes RETEEESEHER 2
in working capital Lz EE (56,984) (114,619)
Decrease/(increase) in properties  ZEEPYERGTEWE
under development and B (3Gn)
properties for sale 204,832 (556,454)
Increase in prepayment for land BRPFEMER
use rights for properties under T b TR
development for sale FRIEIE AN (7,004) -
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  TF& R4 (10) 470 (497)
Decrease/(increase) in trade 2 5 IR
receivables (3 ) 5,642 (10,487)
Increase in other current assets,  EfREEE HibfE
other receivables, deposits and WIE - Ze Rk
prepayments TR FRIBLE N (3,207) (1,297,879)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 REMER IR
other payables and accruals TEIRRIE CR) /1N (78,468) 1,042,877
(Decrease)/increase in contract BHEE L),
liabilities (4,103) 170,584
Cash generated from (used in) wEEE (A 2RE
operations 61,178 (766,475)
Income tax paid BAFSH (1,608) (503)
Net cash from (used in) e EEAE (FTA)
operating activities HeRE 59,570 (766,978)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FBT T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREES
Interest received AN 158 1,867
Investment in joint venture ReEEhEZIRE 17 (117,509) -
Acquisition of investment properties U1 & W% (159,362) (57,242)
Repayment from/(Advance to) BBt N RIER
related companies QB INGIEZE ) 255,753 (937,444)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBAF 34 141,721 -
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BRI TF R D 930 863
Prepayment for land use rights BRPREMEN T
for investment properties under F ARETE FRIB
development (4,028) -
Prepayment to a construction BIRER B E R REAE
contractor for constructing EREUNER
investment properties - (46,693)
Purchase of property, BEEWZE BEL&E
plant and equipment (59,226) (198,910)
Net cash from (used in) RETEME (FMA)RE
investing activities FE 58,437 (1,237559)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Interest paid BFE (363,801) (351,679)
Transaction costs on extension of TR AIAES MEHZ
convertible bonds and bonds R 26 (8,910) -
Advances from related companies BB Q BIEF 29,374 718,198
Disposal of subsidiaries ST - (3,192)
New bank and other FZRITREMEE
borrowings raised 552,206 743,351
Redemption of bonds BOESH 26 (110,000) (70,000)
Repayment of bank and other BEERITRHEMEE
borrowings (360,648) (119,060)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEERHESAGE (6,544) -
Net cash (used in) from RESEE (FTH) Bz
financing activities REeFE 37 (268,323) 917,618
Net decrease in cash and ReRBEEEY
cash equivalents WA FEEE (150,316) (1,086,919)
Cash and cash equivalents RBEHIZ2RER
at beginning of the ReZEY
reporting period 185,545 1,403,123
Effect of foreign exchange rate @ ERSF &
changes 5,751 (130,659)
Cash and cash equivalents REEHRZRER
at end of the reporting period, BRE&ZEY
represented by bank STARTESBRES
balances and cash 40,980 185,545
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OF Bt B R R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IE FE

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

DreamEast Group Limited (the “"Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The address of its principal place
of business is 10th Floor, COFCO Tower, No. 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
Company's shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is
investment holding. The principal activities of
the subsidiaries (together with the Company,
hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) were provision of property development
and leasing as well as tourism park operations
and other services. Particulars of the principal
subsidiaries are detailed in note 39.

The immediate and ultimate holding company of
the Company is SkyOcean Investment Holdings
Limited (“SkyOcean Investment”), which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
and beneficially owned as to 80% by Mr. Zhou
Zheng, a director and the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company.

The functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi (“RMB"), and for the purpose of more
convenience to the readers of these consolidated
financial statements, the consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$").

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

1.

AREHR

2RFEEBRAF ([AAR]) A —M
RERETMKYNBERAR FMHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a basis consistent with
the accounting policies adopted in the 2018
consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the following new/revised HKFRSs
that are relevant to the Group and effective from
the current year. A summary of the principal
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set
out below.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new/revised HKFRSs:

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

2015-2017 Cycle

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits

Amendments to HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

Prepayment Features
with Negative
Compensation

Leases

Amendments to HKFRS 9

HKFRS 16

2.

TESIBE

fm L E X
ZEEHUMBBRRDRIBEE M GHREE
A([BEAMBHRELER] REREES
S RE ([BEGRTEIAE]) B 2E
Rz BEEMHREEL BE S ER
([BAEFER]) kBB 2GH) &Y
BEA G RANARE B RANED 2
BREMBER ZFAHYBERETNAE
B prRE s EMARAZEREERE

ZE A G B HRRTHIRE2018F & G I 7%
BRPERBNETERR —BNELRER
HESRR AT AR E AR E R A F R A
BE] BRI BB B ELERIRR S o
AEEFANEESABRMEISHIINT
X o

RN ST E BN REE
8

AR R DL T HT TR E ST BB
e T

BABEmELR 2015F £20174F
ZFELE pERG
& (ARBB®RE FEREEZ
2EZE®) THETE
— 2B E23%
ER QT ELFE19E EERF
pA T
EF QI EAF28H RBEARR
2 &5 EEPEIRE
BAMISHREER RAFEZ
FE9R 2 EET IRAIEMFE
BATISIHRE R nE
1655
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

Annual Improvements Project — 2015-2017
Cycle

HKFRS 3: Previously held interest in a joint
operation

The amendments clarify that obtaining control of
a business that is a joint operation is a business
combination achieved in stages. The acquirer shall
therefore apply the requirements for a business
combination achieved in stages, including
remeasuring its entire previously held interest in
the joint operation.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 11: Previously held interest in a joint
operation

The amendments clarify that when an entity
that participated in a joint operation which is
a business obtains joint control of the joint
operation, its previously held interest in the joint
operation is not remeasured.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

Annual Improvements Project — 2015-2017
Cycle - continued

HKAS 12: Income tax consequences of
payments on financial instruments classified
as equity

The amendments clarify that (a) the income tax
consequences of dividends are recognised in
profit or loss, other comprehensive income or
equity according to where the past transactions
or events that generated the distributable
profits were originally recognised and (b)
these requirements apply to all income tax
consequences of dividends as defined in HKFRS 9.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

HKAS 23: Borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation

The amendments clarify that (a) if a specific
borrowing remains outstanding after the related
qualifying asset is ready for its intended use
or sale, it becomes part of the funds an entity
borrows generally and (b) funds borrowed
specifically to obtain an asset other than a
qualifying asset are included as part of general
borrowings.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

2.

TEETHE-&

RN RIEFTEBYKRBREE
-
FENEEE -2015F 220175 B2
—i&

EBEIEREIZYE 7 BRGNS
BT AR EE

ZIEBBE QR B EHER RE
EﬂﬁuﬁiT DIENEBER FRE
B  EfbAR A W S s i X (b)
%ﬁﬁ*i%ﬂé/ﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁ%%mi
REZBERPISTHEE

BB E
B 18 7 A 2K
ZIEEE QN E BN IEEEERE
EfARERERAG SR RES
ﬁ&ﬁ EAEE—REANESH—BD
b)EFIEES éF(Aéﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
kaééﬁﬁﬁ B —E 5

ERIFE235 T & EAXEAFIT

RMZFERT T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 supports the requirements
in HKAS 12 Income Taxes by specifying how to
reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for
income taxes.

The adoption of the HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19: Employee Benefits

The amendments require the use of updated
assumptions to determine current service cost
and net interest for the remainder of the reporting
period after a change is made to a plan.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that long-term interests
in an associate or joint venture, to which the
equity method is not applied, are accounted for
using HKFRS 9.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

Amendments to HKFRS 9: Prepayment
Features with Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial
assets with negative compensation can be
measured at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income instead of
at FVPL if specified conditions are met.

The adoption of the amendments does not
have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 16: Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 and related
interpretations for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019. It significantly changes,
among others, the lessee accounting by replacing
the dual-model under HKAS 17 with a single
model which requires a lessee to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for the rights
and obligations created by all leases with a term
of more than 12 months, unless the underlying
asset is of low value. For lessor accounting,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly,
a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account
for those two types of leases differently. HKFRS
16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be
provided by lessees and lessors.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

HKFRS 16: Leases — continued

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the
Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time at
1 January 2019 (i.e. the date of initial application,
the “DIA") using the modified retrospective
approach in which comparative information has
not been restated. Instead, the Group recognised
the cumulative effect of initially applying
HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to the balance of
accumulated profits or other component of equity,
where appropriate, at the DIA.

The Group also elected to use the transition
practical expedient not to reassess whether a
contract was, or contained, a lease at the DIA and
the Group applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and to contracts entered into or changed
on or after the DIA that are identified as leases
applying HKFRS 16.

As lessee

Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, lease contracts
were classified as operating or finance lease in
accordance with the Group’'s accounting policies
applicable prior to the DIA.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group accounted
for the leases in accordance with the transition
provisions of HKFRS 16 and the Group’s
accounting policies applicable from the DIA.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

HKFRS 16: Leases - continued

As lessee — leases previously classified as
operating leases

The Group recognised right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases previously classified
as operating leases at the DIA, except for leases
for which the underlying asset is of low value,
and the Group applied the following practical
expedients on a lease-by-lease basis.

(a)

Applied a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics.

Adjusted the right-of-use assets at the
DIA by the provision for onerous leases
recognised immediately before the DIA
by applying HKAS 37 as an alternative to
performing an impairment review at the
DIA.

Did not recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities to leases for which the
lease term ends within 12 months of the
DIA.

Excluded initial direct costs from the
measurement of the right-of-use assets at
the DIA.

Used hindsight in determining the lease
term where the contract contains options
to extend or terminate the lease.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

HKFRS 16: Leases — continued

As lessee — leases previously classified as
operating leases — continued

At the DIA, except for those that were previously
or will be accounted for as investment property
using the fair value model, right-of-use assets
were, on a lease-by-lease basis, measured at
either,

(a) their carrying amount as if HKFRS 16 had
been applied since the commencement
date, but discounted using the lessee's
incremental borrowing rate at the DIA; or

(b) an amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the
lease recognised immediately before the
DIA.

At the DIA, except for those that meet the
definition of investment properties, right-of-use
assets were presented as “right-of-use assets”
on the consolidated statement of financial
position. Besides, lease liabilities were shown
separately on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following table summarises
the impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at the DIA:

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

HKFRS 16: Leases - continued
As lessee — leases previously classified as

TEETHE-&

AT RETEBYHREE
Bl -&
ERMBEHREENE16T HE-&
TERBRMEA - LRI 7 EBALHEHHE

operating leases — continued E-&
Classification Initial Classification
and carrying Reclassification measurement and carrying
amount under on adoption on adoption ~ amount under
HKAS 17 of HKFRS 16 of HKFRS 16 HKFRS 16
B -H) RnEE RnEE EBBB
ERIE1TH BBRE BHRE REEE
ETHIER ERE165 0 ERE165 F16HETH
REE ENTE CIEZS - PEREEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Assets EE
Prepaid lease payments BRBEMNK 50,913 (50,913) - -
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 50,913 10,167 61,080
Liabilities R
Lease liabilities HEEE - - (10,167) (10,167)
Based on the foregoing, at the DIA: AR bt Ry EABE:
. Prepaid lease payments in respect of the . BRI B + (R AR R TEN T E

land use rights in the PRC were reclassified
as right-of-use assets under HKFRS 16.

o Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$10,167,000 were
recognised on initial measurement
respectively.

o There was no adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or components
of equity as the cumulative effect of initial
adoption was insignificant.

MR BEE B BHRE LR F 165
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

HKFRS 16: Leases — continued

As lessee — leases previously classified as
operating leases — continued

Lease liabilities were measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rates
of the relevant group entities as lessees at the
DIA.

The reconciliation of operating lease commitment
disclosed applying HKAS 17 at 31 December 2018
to lease liabilities at the DIA is as follow:

2.

TESHBRR-&

R RIETEBHBREE
R -&

BRMBHEENE 165 - HE-&
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1(E __ 43
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R2018F 12 A3 1B ERAE B #8517
ST B 2 EAEEY S IER B
HEaEHEmT:

Total
Wt
HK$'000
FABIT
Operating lease commitments at 201812 431 H M & & 18 &8 E
31 December 2018 11,165
Short-term leases and leases of HR¥IZEHAAHMNEHEERREEHRE
low value assets at the DIA (305)
Gross lease liabilities at the DIA ¥ EAAHRHAEAERAT 10,860
Weighted average incremental T ERBHERANINEFSES
borrowing rates applied at EESES
the DIA 6.88%
Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019  #2019F1A1HWHEEAE 10,167
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs — continued

HKFRS 16: Leases — continued
As lessor

The Group is not required to make any
adjustments on transition for leases in which it
is a lessor and those leases are accounted for by
applying HKFRS 16 from the DIA.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements is
historical cost, except for investment properties,
which are measured at fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not they
control an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - continued

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included/excluded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains/losses control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

CHANGES IN THE GROUP’S INTERESTS IN
EXISTING SUBSIDIARIES

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's relevant components of equity and
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group's
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

CHANGES IN THE GROUP’S INTERESTS IN
EXISTING SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and
non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE - continued

An investment in a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in a joint venture may
be impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
properties under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their
fair values using the fair value model. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment
properties under construction are capitalised as
part of the carrying amount of the investment
properties under construction.

The Group classifies a property from properties
under development for sale and/or completed
properties held for sale to investment property
when there is evidence of a change in use of
the property by inception of the operating lease
agreements. Any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including the
buildings held for use in the production and/
or supply of goods and/or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction
in progress as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - continued

Construction in progress is stated at cost, which
comprises the cost of construction and borrowing
costs, if applicable, less any identified impairment
loss.

The cost of construction in progress will not be
depreciated until they are completed and ready
for intended use and are transferred to a specific
category of property, plant and equipment when
the construction is completed.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of assets (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rate per annum:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 5%

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 15% to
33'3%

15% to 33'/3%

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment
Computer equipment

and software
Motor vehicles

20% to 33'/5%
20% to 33'/5%

The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - continued

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade receivables, lease receivables,
other receivables and deposits, amounts due from
related companies, bank balances and pledged
bank deposits). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12
months ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. Assessment are done based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and lease receivables. For all other
instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 months ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHEKX-E

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued SWMITE-&

Financial assets — continued cREE-&

Impairment of financial assets — continued THEERE &

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (i) EERMBEZEIZ M-
— continued
In particular, the following information ARmsE RNTEEERRESHE
is taken into account when assessing ZigseE B TER:
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:
. an actual or expected significant . LR T AN (E)HA

deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.qg.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’'s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

TEETHE-&

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk
— continued

Despite the a foregoing, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and (iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date
that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes
in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower,

(b) a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’'s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active
market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

TEETHE-&

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over
one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
— continued

For a financial guarantee contract, the
Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the debtor
in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

Interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

For a financial guarantee contract, the
loss allowances are recognised at the
higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9;
and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount
of income recognised over the guarantee
period.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, lease receivables,
other receivables and amounts due from
related parties where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial assets — continued
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial liabilities and equity - continued

Equity instruments

3.

TESTBER-&

tRTHRE-—&
tHEBERERZ &
#m T A

et T A QT Al ERA AR EE EEER
PIBRERZRGED CEH - ARAE
T2 s TAETNIRE W Z g aIE (F0kk
ERBITAAN) HERARK

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity BEIARRA Gt T EEENMESER
instruments is recognised and deducted directly Bk WEMEE  HE T EAR
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or NEARFEmE T AmMREEER S E
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of e

the Company’s own equity instruments.

BB KA R EME E

EREE (REE SRR EMENR
A RFENEFOR ~ RSB R AR  IRTT R
HipfgE HEABEARTRRES RE
7 ) R ERBRN IR RE SR AT E -

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other
payables and accruals, amounts due to related
companies, bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities and convertible bonds and bonds) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts BIBEEREH

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that MBERENDATELAMBEAXNS
requires the issuer to make specified payments to EESBIEH UHEREABREE
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because B ARBERIRES TR GRRA B HAR
a specified debtor fails to make payments when HMERZZEX-FBHEREOBETD
due in accordance with the terms of a debt REAAREEE HEEUATRSER
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities =

are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance . RIFBE B SRS R FRE T
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; ZEEREeE R
and

. the amount initially recognised less, where . YIZHERSER (WEA ) EIREAME

PR 2 RETH#isH-

appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial liabilities and equity - continued
Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible
bonds issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. A conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.

The conversion option classified as equity
is determined by deducting the amount of
the liability component from the fair value of
the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of
income tax effects, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option
classified as equity will remain in equity until
the conversion option is exercised, in which
case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred from convertible bonds equity reserve
to share premium. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in
equity will be transferred to retained profits. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the conversion option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial liabilities and equity - continued
Convertible bonds — continued

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction cost relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Properties under development for sale which
are intended to be held for sale in the ordinary
course of business are carried at the lower of
cost or deemed cost if they are transferred from
investment properties and net realisable value
and are shown as current assets. Cost includes
the cost of land, construction cost and other
development expenditure and other attributable
expenses. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale, of which the selling
price is determined based on prevailing market
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
— continued

The Group transfers a property from investment
property to inventories when there is evidence
of a change in use to sell the property. The
property’'s deemed cost is being the property’s
fair value at the date of change in use.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE AND OTHER
INVENTORIES

Completed properties for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the related land costs, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised.

Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sales.

CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’'s performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15 - continued

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating
to the same contract are accounted for and
presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources or operations which arise from
contracts with customers:

° Sales of properties
° Tourism park operations and other services

Timing of revenue recognition
Sales of properties

Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Group concluded that the Group
does not have an enforceable right to payment
prior to transfer of the relevant properties to
customers. Revenue from sales of properties is
therefore recognised at a point in time when the
completed property is transferred to customers,
being at the point that the customer obtains the
control of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15 - continued

Timing of revenue recognition — continued
Sales of properties — continued

The Group receives 20-90% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the
sale and purchase agreement. Such advance
payment schemes result in contract liabilities
being recognised throughout the property
construction period for the full amount of the
contract price. The outstanding amount of the
contract will be received before the completed
property is transferred to customers.

Tourism park operations and other services

Revenue from tourism park operations including
entrance fee, food and beverage for which the
control of services or goods is transferred at a
point in time, revenue is recognised when the
related services or goods have been rendered to
customers.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed
to by the parties to the contract.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

2.

TESHBRR-&

ERVBHREENEISRARBREF
BHRZBA-&

W A SR B —

ExEEEWZE AREEEFPEME
HBEMN20%E0%ERIES - Z LN
FETEIE BN K REER B A OE
REFNANBE - HAINNEHNTHE
IR T YR R4 E P AT »

IR IE B R H AR

FRBREmIEFIRE R A —HRMEE
ISR EE (REALERER)EE
FIUAT & AR R P e AR B AR %5

B o

FHEEABMERSD

REETER 5 BHE - W5 3 RE (T
AR REATRTR) REPAAKE
KEBERIRE TERFP ZEABERN
w AEEERECRHEZVENRAE
EAHZRESHE -EXFERAT A0
ERERBEKD - BEBRBEAZTINELN
AR RE SR RT K977 1 2 N BRI R R
S HAREFEERRERD



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
WITHIN HKFRS 15 - continued

Existence of significant financing component
- continued

For contracts where the period between
payment and transfer of the associated goods
or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For advance payments received from customers
before the transfer of the associated goods
or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception.
The relevant interest expenses during the period
between the advance payments were received
and the transfer of the associated goods and
services are accounted for on the same basis as
other borrowing costs.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a
contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs as an asset if
it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of
expensing all incremental costs to obtain a
contract if these costs would otherwise have
been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
investment in joint ventures to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

2.

TESHBRR-&

HithEERE
REERBERREMEDE BB KK
B ERAEEERRASTEREZRR
B UEEZSEESSBERERE
BRI ETAAETE - AledatHa6E
BEZAIRDSHENBTREBBZZE
(A) °

BBEZ N ESEEBG  E8E
BB A AT S A AEEE G AR
BEMBRESELEN 2 ATIE S - 4
ARREEE B2 oRERE CXEE
NeRNEEENZREELEM BRI
SROBEERHEAIGER B2 kREE
ZRNREEEBEMAER -

AU Bl & &R R R S B R &R AR E A
BEZERSE - NHEEREER - f5HR
KR REEBEHATIRE (RRT 5
REHEREREEE R ERFEMS
AARRRERECEE (SRSELEN)
ZEERR)ITIRELRE-

WEE (SMSELBEM) Z ATl ESFEA
AHORERREE AIZEE (SREELSE
i) Z BREE IR = 2 Al YRl G 78 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER ASSETS - continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties sur rounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

LEASES

Applicable from 1 January 2019

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to
short-term leases and low-value asset leases.
Lease payments associated with these leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give
rise to a separate component are considered to
be part of the total consideration that is allocated
to the separately identified components of the
contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability at the commencement date of the
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

LEASES - continued

Applicable from 1 January 2019 - continued
As lessee — continued

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises:

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received,

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and
(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by

the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset
(i.,e. 1 to 2 years for land and buildings and 40
years for leasehold lands).

The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date of the contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

LEASES - continued

Applicable from 1 January 2019 - continued
As lessee — continued

The lease payments included in the measurement
of the lease liability comprise the following
payments for the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under
residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the

lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it
is not readily determinable, the incremental
borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

2.

TESHBRR-&

HE-&

H20195F1A1B R EA—&
fERBERAN -
AHEEEENHENARBE TR
FRHERA(E FAFERE & B PR A B A F oa
BEfM A 25

BEE R (BREEMEEENFO R
EREKHEEES:

HURN — TRt R 2 AT E
3K

BREBEFAREEEREBREN 2K
15 ;

BEENTEE (MAKREAIER
EITEZRER) )2

AR EHE RS (R & RK
[RBRAN SR B AT AR IEREDAR 1L

g)e

ME N R ARE OB AT LR %S
BRI AT SR - AURAATA 2
R

fEfR HEREEEEIMRAENARREA

1=
=

MENFETHE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

LEASES - continued

Applicable from 1 January 2019 - continued
As lessee — continued

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
discount rate when there are changes to the lease
payments arising from a change in the lease term
or the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the
original discount rate when there is a change in
the residual value guarantee, the in-substance
fixed lease payments or the future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case
of a change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised
discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is
reduced to zero and there is a further reduction
in the measurement of the lease liability, the
Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a
separate lease if:

(a) the modification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one or
more underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

2.

TEETHE-&

HE-E&
BH2019F181E B EH &
1EBRBN —4E

EHHHREHMELHENREBRE
e ARBERERAERETEBE R
BR HEAGERKBITRRXRET
BEHtE-

HEBENEEEFIR CFEFRERIN) &
BEFREEER EVEEEENK
SARRBEEMNRE L ERRTER
KRBT E - WFBF REEHEHRKM
ENREREE - AIAKEEREERT
REEHTEHERE-

AEEKHERBZENECHERR
HHEMREEE 2 - (HEAEEERME
MOEZHERHEERETEE TR
AEBBNBEPHERTAENAEZF
PRERER-

i HRATER BEERAELEBE
BEAR:

(@)  AIEEBEIBIN—IAKIA LERE
EZEAENmBEARERE: &

b)  HERERINSBEEENEEKR
BE L E 2 EBERLSRREFE
BRZBERMEZEBEBETL
TEE AR

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

183



184

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
LEASES - continued
Applicable from 1 January 2019 - continued

As lessee — continued

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(a)

the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract on the basis of
relative stand-alone price as described
above.

the Group determines the lease term of
the modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability
by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate over the
revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by decreasing the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset to reflect the
partial or full termination of the lease and
recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in
profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by making a corresponding
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

LEASES - continued

Applicable from 1 January 2019 - continued
As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either
a finance lease or an operating lease at the
inception date of the lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately from
non-lease components of the contract. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on a relative stand-alone price
basis.

Rental income under operating leases is
recognised when the assets are let out, on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Applicable before 1 January 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— continued

LEASES - continued

Applicable before 1 January 2019 - continued
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land
and building elements, the Group assesses
the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are
operating leases in which case the entire property
is accounted as an operating leases. Specially,
the entire consideration (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the
land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element of the
lease at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
that is accounted for as an operating lease is
presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the
leasehold land and building elements, the entire
property is generally classified as if the leasehold
land is under finance lease. From 1 January 2019,
those payments are accounted for as right-of-use
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the group entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of exchange
translation reserve. Exchange differences arising
from translation of a foreign operation to the
functional currency of the Company (i.e. RMB)
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which the foreign operation is disposed of whilst
exchange differences relating to translation from
RMB to the presentation currency of the Group
are transferred directly to retained profits. On
disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign
operation, the exchange differences accumulated
in equity relating to the translation of assets and
liabilities of that group entity into presentation
currency of the Group are transferred directly to
retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from the profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
TAXATION - continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and interest in a joint venture, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interest are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
TAXATION - continued

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax
liabilities for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than
through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly to equity, in which case the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-
based payments determined at the grant date
without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share
options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option
reserves will be transferred to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option
reserves will be transferred to retained profits.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes, including state-managed
retirement benefits schemes in the PRC and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, are
recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or entity that is related
to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that
person’'s family is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the
parent of the Group.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
RELATED PARTIES - continued

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

2.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

— continued
RELATED PARTIES — continued

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has
not early adopted.

Amendments to Definition of Material '
HKASs 1 and 8

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRSs 7 and 9 Reform !

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business ?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts *
Amendments to Sale or Contribution
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued
FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs — continued

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

2 Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

4 The effective date to be determined

The Directors are in the process of assessing
the possible impact on the future adoption of
the new/revised HKFRSs, but are not yet in a
position to reasonably estimate their impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, the
Directors are required to make estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, that
management has made in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of assessing deferred tax arising
from investment properties measured at fair
value, the Directors have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolios and concluded that
such properties are held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all
the economic benefits embodied in the properties
over time through generating rental income.
Therefore, in assessing the Group's deferred
taxation on investment properties, the Directors
have determined the presumption that the
investment properties recovered through sale is
rebutted.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— continued

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties were stated at fair value
with reference to valuation performed by an
independent external valuer. In assessing the
fair values, the independent external valuer
has applied valuation techniques including
certain assumptions and estimates of market
condition. The Directors reviewed the valuation
performed by the independent external valuer
and use their estimation to determine whether
the valuation techniques applied are appropriate
to the circumstances of the Group. Changes
in assumptions could result in changes in fair
values of the Group's investment properties and
the corresponding gain or loss on fair values
recognised in profit or loss. Detailed inputs and
estimates applied for valuation disclosed in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of investment properties
as at 31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$2,567,861,000 (2018: approximately
HK$5,512,086,000). More details are set out in
note 16.

Estimated net realisable value on properties
under development for sale

In assessing whether allowances should be made
for the Group's properties under development for
sale as disclosed in note 18, the Group takes into
consideration the current market environment
and the net realisable value, the estimated
market value (i.e. the estimated selling price less
estimated selling expenses) less estimated costs
to completion of the properties. An allowance is
provided if the estimated net realisable value is
less than the carrying amount. Where the actual
condition is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amount
of the Group's properties under development for
sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— continued

Deferred tax assets

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax
asset has been recognised on the tax losses from
the PRC and Hong Kong subsidiaries as disclosed
in note 27 of approximately HK$332,314,000
and HK$335,652,000 respectively (2018:
HK$289,283,000 and HK$227,173,000
respectively) due to unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred
tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases there are
changes in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a
material recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
for the period in which such recognition takes
place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— continued

Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are subject to
LAT in the PRC. However, the implementation of
the tax varies amongst different tax jurisdictions
in various cities of the PRC and certain projects of
the Group have not finalised their LAT calculations
with the local tax authorities in the PRC.

Accordingly, significant judgement is required
in determining the amount of land appreciation
and its related income tax provision. The Group
recognised the land appreciation tax based on
management’'s best estimates. The final tax
outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and these differences will
impact the income tax expense and the related
income tax provisions in the period in which such
tax is finalised with local tax authorities.
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

4,

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

4. W=

HZE2019512831B LFE

Property
development

Tourism park

and leasing operations Consolidated
MERRE TR g E
rHEE BiE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiE T FHET FET
Revenue from contracts REBHKHE
with customers within % 8|5155% A K
HKFRS 15 RKEEFEHZ
A
Recognised at a point R B ER
in time
Sales of properties HE 84,338 = 84,338
Entrance fee, food NGB RER
and beverage - 18,219 18,219
84,338 18,219 102,557
Revenue from kB EARIRN
other sources A
Gross rental income from #EWMERESHE S
investment properties WA 48 %E 17,441 - 17,441
Total revenue g A 101,779 18,219 119,998




4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

REVENUE - continued 4. W=Hm—E
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ2018F12A31H L EE
Property
development Tourism park
and leasing operations Consolidated
YEERE TR 2 % &)
LHEE & iE BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Revenue from contracts REBHBHRE
with customers within 2 B|5$155% A K
HKFRS 15 REEFEHZ
LON
Recognised at a point AR ) B AR
in time
Sales of properties HEME 89,630 - 89,630
Entrance fee, food and ASBRER
beverage - 17,440 17440
89,630 17440 107,070
Revenue from REHMPREDN
other sources KA
Gross rental income from REVEMER S
investment properties WA s 58 52,767 - 52,767
Total revenue B 142,397 17,440 159,837

The Group's revenue generated from its property
development and leasing, and tourism park
operations were all at fixed price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Group's executive
directors, being the chief operating decision
maker (the “"CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focused on the types of goods
or services delivered or provided. The Group's
reportable segments for the CODM's purposes
are (i) property development and leasing and (ii)
tourism park operations.

The property development and leasing segment is
principally engaged in property sales and leases
to customers in property market.

The tourism park operations segment is engaged
in operation of theme parks and provision of food
and beverage services in the theme parks.

For the purpose of assessing the performance
of the operating segments and allocating
resources between segments, the CODM
assess segment results without allocation of
other gains and losses, other income, loss on
disposal of subsidiaries, share of results of joint
ventures, loss on extinguishment of convertible
bonds, finance costs and certain administrative
expenses. The basis of preparing such information
is consistent with that of the consolidated
financial statements.

The accounting policies of the reporting segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies
as described in note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 5. SEER-&

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS THEWARESE
An analysis of the Group's revenue and results by AEBZAHRED B DNWAREED
reportable segments is as follows: &5
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ2019F12A31MBLFE
Property
development Tourism park
and leasing operations Consolidated
MERR RPELE
kHEE &iE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
Revenue from external RENMBEFEZWA
customers and RoBERA
segment revenue 101,779 18,219 119,998
Reportable segment AHRESEEER
results 43,047 (1,465) 41,582

Unallocated income and  F®2O WA KRR :

expenses:
Other gains and losses H b Yras K g5 18 (48,162)
Other income H b Yz 26,492
Loss on disposal of HENBARZ

subsidiaries g} (7,642)
Share of results of joint DIEEETENER

ventures (7,653)
Loss on extinguishment of T #HAIRIES 2

convertible bonds &5 18 (1,623)
Administrative expenses 1T & (36,964)
Finance costs PEER (128,575)
Loss before tax bR A ES 18 (162,545)
Income tax expense Frisfimx (38,626)
Loss for the year FAEHE (201,171)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

5. DEER-E&
PTHEWAREE-E&E
HZE2018F12A31B LFE

Property
development Tourism park
and leasing operations Consolidated
MEER T 3 44
EHE EiE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T TETT
Revenue from external KREINEER 2
customers and segment WA &K A
revenue 142,397 17,440 159,837
Reportable segment AIREDFEEE
results 548,605 (4,037) 544,568

Unallocated income and k& EiU A KRB -

expenses:

Other gains and losses Hib st M 1B

Other income H b W 5

Share of results of joint DIEEEDEERE
ventures

Administrative expenses T &

Finance costs B%ER

Profit before tax B %4 A1 g )

Income tax Fris i

Profit for the year F N

No analysis of segment assets and segment
liabilities is presented as such information is
not regularly provided to the CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 5. TEER-&
OTHER INFORMATION HER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ2019F12A31MBLFE
Property
development  Tourism park
and leasing operations  Unallocated Consolidated
NEBRR gt =
HE EE AOE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Capital expenditures BARYH
- Property, plant and e EN &
equipment 58,872 354 - 59,226
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and -ME- -BERZE
equipment 2,882 95 30 3,007
- Right-of-use assets -FRAREEE 1,321 1,770 4,375 7,466
Loss on disposal of property HENE  BE R
plant and equipment REEE 1,166 - - 1,166
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE2018F12A31MB L EE
Property
development  Tourism park
and leasing operations Unallocated  Consolidated
MEEERR RELE
HE &g RAE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Capital expenditures BEARZ M
- Property, plant and -ME -HEKR
equipment 203,358 b4 - 203,412
Depreciation of property, nE BER
plant and equipment RENE 3,210 48 567 3,825
Amortisation of prepaid BNEEFESE
lease payments 1,575 - - 1,575
Impairment loss of B RUGERERRE
trade receivables 6 - - 6
Loss on disposal of property HEWME HEK
plant and equipment REER 692 — = 692
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION M i3 & B

The Group is principally engaged in properties
development and leasing and tourism park

operations in the PRC.

AEEEERTERENEFREAER
s 24 o
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION - continued

Information about the Group's revenue from
external customers is presented based on the
location at which the goods or services are
delivered or provided. Information about the
Group’s non-current assets is presented based on
the geographical location of the assets or place of
establishment.

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group's revenue from
external customers and non-current assets.

5.

HEEN -
BERAREIMNEEPRAZERTIRIER
MR EEmE R 225 - RN
SEERBEE 2 BN RIBEEMIE
e aveE L Bk

TR BRAAKEREINEEF KA
NIEREEEMIRMERER

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REMPEEHKRA k¥RBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 20184 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET
The PRC H 119,998 159,837 3,047,331 5,948,156
Hong Kong e - - 4,010 29
119,998 159,837 3,051,341 5,948,185

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS FEEFEH

There is one (2018:nil) external customer
individually contributing property development
and leasing revenue of HK$69,657000, which
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HiumzEREER
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Provision for compensation B E R (12,013) -
Foreign exchange losses, net (ER e = Pe=E (31,304) (28,609)
Impairment loss of Z SRR IERBERE
trade receivables - (6)
Others Efh (4,845) 2,732
(48,162) (25,883)
FINANCE COSTS 1. B ER
2019 2018
2019F 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Interest expenses on: FMEER:
- Bank and other borrowings —ROKEMEER 303,533 291,536
— Convertible bonds and bonds —ABREESFRES 108,118 191,082
- Lease liabilities —-HEBE 570 -
Total borrowing costs BEEKANBEE 412,221 482,618
Less: Borrowing costs capitalised i : & B 5 E 3 .
in properties under EREEMER
development for sale, ERIBRERNMEZ
investment properties BEERA
under construction and
construction in progress (283,646) (315,744)
128,575 166,874
The capitalisation rate used to determine AREEEERETMEMEEN T E 2

the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation is 12.0% (2018: 12.89%).

BRI EFE12.0% (20185 : 12.89% ) ©

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

207



208

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BREL A (E8].) &R
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
(Loss) Profit for the year has FN(EE) &M LR
been arrived at after charging (Bt A) T3 & IF 1B =5
(crediting):
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXNA (BREEEHS)
emoluments) (Note11): (FF5E11)
Salaries and other benefits o kHAEN 46,453 69,238
Equity-settled share-based REREEURD A
payments EREMT 8,818 496
Retirement benefit costs AR ORAE F B A 4,381 7,056
59,652 76,790
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 2560 B 1,650 3,055
Cost of properties sold* Y235 B AR+ 59,884 63,196
Depreciation of property, W -HEREZEITE
plant and equipment 3,007 3,825
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ REEEITE 7,466 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease TEHE & SR8 8
payments - 1,575
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE R
plant and equipment A2 B8 1,166 692
Gross rental income from WEMEFREHSRALRE
investment properties (17,441) (52,767)
Less: Direct operating expense,  JA: st ASHER XM EEKK
as included in selling 2EH
expenses 3,524 8,850
(13,917) (43,917)
* Included in cost of properties sold are interest Y EESHE R AR R B 5 S 49 /43,642,0008

expenses of approximately HK$3,542,000 (2018:

approximately HK$3,988,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRERME
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E
INCOME TAX EXPENSE FrEBMX
The taxation charged to profit or loss represents: BERBRATHIESE -
2019 2018
20194 20184
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7 FiE T T
Current tax EHBiE
PRC Enterprise Income PRGN
tax ("EIT") ([{EEFEH) 11,426 4,163
Land appreciation tax T HBIEER
("LAT") (TLhBER]) 4,301 6,980
15,727 11,143
Deferred tax, including EIERRIE - BIE R EEH
EIT and LAT o 4 38 H 27 22,899 159,738
38,626 170,881

No provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax had
been provided as the Group did not have any
assessable profit from Hong Kong for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The income tax provision in respect of the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC is calculated at
the Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profits for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof.

The provision of PRC LAT is estimated according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. LAT has been provided
at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable exemptions and
deductions.

RE E2019%F K20185F 12 A31H IFFE -
AR AEE & B BB E £ T ERRE
R B m BB RS RRE -

BRAREEPENBARNIEHEETY
RIFEHIRE AR 2R RIENHEZE2019
F K20185F12 831 B IF FE 5t ERR R %
FZ 1 ZEFTIS T R25%ET & ©

B+ IR E T B T AR IR AR R P B AR S
BB FORRE 2 HE [T o LB ER
ERBERZERTBERE BAS
T AR KRR R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE - continued 9. FreHimEX—&
RECONCILIATION OF TAX EXPENSES HIER ¥R
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABIT
(Loss) Profit before tax BrEi Al (B518) A (162,545) 329,330
Income tax at applicable TTZ%E%T%%ZS%%%Z
tax rate of 25% (2018: 25%) FR18%: (20184 : 25% ) (40,637) 82,333
Tax effect of different tax rates TRAMEZ MG E 7,371 14,831
Tax effect of non-deductible A HIBAST o M &
expenses 19,272 25,833
Tax effect of non-taxable income HBERBRHUAZHIETE (3,132) (1,549)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax KRR TR%‘%J%TEZTR%Q%Q
losses 50,612 43,522
Tax effect of share of results of DHEBELEEE L
joint ventures Mgz e 1,914 676
LAT + b I8 E T 4,301 6,980
Tax effect of LAT THIBER 2 HIETE (1,075) (1,745)
Tax charge for the year FRBMIEZ W 38,626 170,881
10. DIVIDENDS 10. KRE
The board of directors does not recommend the BEESTEERE E20194 K2018F 128

payment of any dividend for the years ended 31 3B LEFEIRFERRE

December 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S N BEEREESTHRAEMES
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Dt ENEE (2018F : NZ)EER B
seven (2018: eight) Directors were as follows: ZEE T
2019
20195
Retirement
Salaries  Performance benefits
and other related scheme  Share-based
Fees benefits bonus  contributions payments Total
§4R &% BHRER NRHE
we At ER RBZL SEEE  ERGAR at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TE7n TE7n TEn TEn TER TER
Executive directors yiTEE
Mr. Zhou Zheng (Note 1)* BB EE (K1) * 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Yang Lei* e 120 - - - 3N 491
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Lam Yu Yee, Benjamin (Note 2) ¥ 5% %4 (Fi#2) 48 1,000 - 2 - 1,050
Independent non-executive BUkHTES
director
Mr. Chen Guanglei (Note 3) BRESLE (H5E3) - - - - - -
Mr. Li Chak Hung (Note 3) FRIEEAE (HH3) 14 - - - - 141
Mr. Meng Xiaosu REELE 120 - - - m 231
Mr, Yang Buting Bregs 120 - - - m 21
Mr. Zhao Daxin BAHRE 120 - - - m 231
789 1,000 - 2 704 2,495
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB B R MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE
11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S N EERBESTBRAEME-E&
EMOLUMENTS - continued
2018
2018F
Retirement
Salaries  Performance benefits
and other related scheme  Share-based
Fees benefits bonus  contributions payments Total
Hek BN RIKER G
ik N Elpaay FEEAN AR @t

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TETL AT AL TATL TEL TEL

Executive directors HiTES

Mr. Zhou Zheng (Note 1)* BBEE (Fr) * 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lam Yu Yee, Benjamin MRTEE 120 3,884 1,000 18 - 5,02
Mr. Yang Lei* BERE 120 - - - 2 141
Mr. Chan Tak Kwong (Note 4J* BB (i) 48 - - - - 48

Independent non-executive BUHTES

director
Mr. Li Chak Hung TRIERE 145 - - - 6 151
Mr. Meng Xiaosu nEELE 120 - - - 6 126
Mr. Yang Buting BrERE 120 - - - 6 126
Mr. Zhao Daxin BAMTE 120 - - - 6 126
913 3,884 1,000 18 45 5,860
* Certain executive Directors received emoluments * RELE2019%F 2018F 12 A31H IEFE -
from a related company of the Group for the years ETHOTESHESHERAER (BEX
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, in respect of their EE@) IRz RISH AL E — A A
services to a larger group which including the Group. WEMe TES BEEEMNS FRAES
No apportionment has been made as the qualifying MAEEIREHEEREERESHERSE
services provided by Directors to the Group are EEAEETZHNERE -GEEEAR
incidental to their responsibilities to the larger group. HEABREECZERRBEZEHE -

The related company is wholly-owned by the immediate
family members of Mr. Zhou Zheng.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS - continued

Notes:

(1) Mr. Zhou Zheng is also the chief executive (resigned
on 2 January 2020) of the Company. His emoluments
include those for his services rendered as the chief
executive.

(2) Mr. Lam Yu Yee, Benjamin has been re-designated as a
non-executive director of the Company with effective
from 1 January 2019 and he has resigned his position
on 24 May 2019.

(3) Mr. Li Chak Hung has resigned and Mr. Chen Guanglei
has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effective from 20
December 2019.

(4) Mr. Chan Tak Kwong has resigned as an executive
director on 31 May 2018.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, no emolument was paid by the Group to
any Director as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. None of the Directors has waived any
emolument during both years.

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the Directors that were
entered into or subsisted during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

The Directors are of the opinion that no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Company's business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
Director or a connected entity of the Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the reporting period or at
any time during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018, except for the details as disclosed
in note 38, if appropriate.

11.

EERBESTHRAEME-&
TS

(M ABREETB/ARAZESITHRAR (R
202051 2B BHE) - Rz BIERRIE
EHEBITRABMEHERBZME -

(2) MRS EBE2019F1 1B REFHT AR
BIIEMITE BN 201945 A 24 B BT % B

fiz e

3) FERGCECRAIRRERCEDEST
BARTBILIFRITES  §2019F128
208 AR -

(4) [RENSEEE R2018F5 A31 HEHTHITE
E

RE E20195F M2018F 12 A31H I F & -
REEBERTAEZZMEMRMESIER
MAREE L IMARE BT LB E R
BERAE - AT E - B EE B NETM
B4 o

RE E2019%F 2018512 A31H IFFE -
MET IS FENEEATTAZEME
R EE R EMZ S o

EERE ARRAMETLHARAER
Bk —R2EFEREEr MBEE :%sfﬁ;%
EEERERBEEAERS  BR®RE
HAOR sk B £2019%F 20189 12 431 EI Jti
mefﬂa%ﬁaﬁmgmﬁﬁﬁki%\i}ét
NAEH)  HEMITE38A TN R 2 s BRI (1niE
FA) e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

12.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12.

EMOLUMENTS

During the year, one (2018: one) Director is
included in the five highest paid individuals of
the Group. Details of Directors’ emoluments
are set out in note 11 above. The emoluments
of the remaining four (2018: four) highest paid
individuals for the year were as follows:

RE#HAL

FRN AEBAZESFALFR—F (2018
F:—F)AEE-EE2MEFBHEN L
RN o F R E RO E (201845 1 IO &)
EEeHmATZBEMT:

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FABIT

Salaries and other benefits Fe hEMER 3,800 3,008
Retirement benefits scheme RIREFIET SR

contributions 139 396

3,939 3,404

The emoluments of the above four (2018: four)
highest paid individual fell within the following
bands:

LA _EPU4a (20184 : M%) & = 3 A £ 2 B
ENFUATHE:

Number of individuals

N
2019 2018
20194 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,000/ 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ L&
1,500,0005 7T 1 1
4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the above four (2018: four)
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 8K (&8 ER

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company is

based on the following data:

ARRFHRENEBIEERERNLEERFN TS
BTSSR E

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T3 7T
(Loss) Earnings (EFEB)ER
(Loss) Profit for the year RAUFFESRER (FBE)
attributable to owners of the BRI ZANRRHEE A
Company for the purpose of FE(REA (BE) & A
basic (loss) earnings per share (199,812) 159,932
Effect on dilutive potential ordinary & #8 E@ME 2 52
shares:
— Interest on the Convertible — AR EFIZFE
Bonds Il (Note 26) (MizE26) - 110,466
— Interest on the Convertible —AMBREFIZFE
Bonds | (Note 26) (KizE26) - -
(Loss) Profit for the year RAUGTESkEE (58)
attributable to owners of the el /NI EZ P SN
Company for the purpose of FEAEF W (ER) &5
diluted (loss) earnings per share (199,812) 270,398
2019 2018
20194 20184
‘000 ‘000
T B T %
Number of shares [ &vig =]
Weighted average number of BAUFTESRER (F8)
shares for the purpose of basic B Rz B D hnaE T3 £
(loss) earnings per share 285,491 264,066
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary EE# ST @R v FE
shares in respect of
— Convertible Bonds I — ARSI - 255,397
- Convertible bonds | — AR ES - =
Weighted average number of BUFrESREE (F5E)
shares for the purpose of A F| 2 Bt e 2 &
diluted (loss) earnings per share 285,491 519,463
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. ER(EE)RF-&
— continued
2019 2018
2019F 20184
(Loss) Earnings per share: SR (BB EF:
- Basic —HA (HK$0.69997% 7t)  HK$0.6057/ 1L
— Diluted — 858 (HK$0.69997& 7t)  HK$0.5205/%8 7T
Note: G

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2019 did not assume the conversion of the
Company’s Convertible Bonds | and Il since its assumed
exercise would result in decrease in loss per share.

It also did not assume the exercise of share options under the
Company's share option scheme since its assumed exercise
would have anti dilutive effect for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

e N
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. YE - BERSEE
Furniture,
fixtures and Computer
Leasehold office equipment Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements equipment  and software vehicles in progress Total
HE KA RER L E
EF NELE BAERE REH# RE EEIR @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TATL TEL ThET TAL TEL
CosT B
At 1 January 2018 #2018F1A18 27254 125 6,025 1,460 5,423 14,563 54,850
Additions HE - - 533 810 1147 200,922 203,412
Disposals HE - - (75) - (1,360) - (1,435)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) (X &K BT (FiE34) - - 2,235) (301) (2,786) - (5,322)
Exchange realignment ERAE (645) - (177) (86) (132) (8,020) 9,060)
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12831H R

1 January 2019 201951418 26,609 125 4,07 1,883 2,292 207,465 242,445
Additions HE 8,580 - 653 19 636 49,238 59,226
Disposals HE - - (236) (406) (1,284) - (1,926)
Exchange realignment ERHRE (759) - 84) (40) (54) (2,348) (3279)
At 31 December 2019 20195128318 34,436 125 4,404 1,566 1,590 254,355 296,466
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Ziti7E
At 1 January 2018 R2018E1 818 1,022 125 32810 218 3,329 - 8,504
Depreciation ik 1,350 - 928 475 1,072 - 3,825
Eliminated on disposals HEBE - - (74) - (669) - (743)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) H &M B4R (HizE34) - - (1,509) 3 (2,658) - 4,170)
Exchange realignment ERHRE (97) - (19 28) (48) - (292)
At 31 December 2018 and P2018F 128318 &

1 January 2019 201981718 2,275 125 3,036 662 1,026 - 1124
Depreciation ik 1721 - 406 352 528 - 3,007
Eliminated on disposals HERHH - - (13) (129) (259) - (395)
Exchange realignment EAE (83) - (62) (20) (25) - (190)
At 31 December 2019 W2019%12A31A 3913 125 3,367 871 1,270 - 9,546
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 December 2019 #2019512831A 30,523 - 1,037 685 320 254,355 286,920
At 31 December 2018 #2018F12831A 24,334 - 1,035 1,221 1,266 207465 235,321

At 31 December 2019, the Group pledged
certain of its property, plant and equipment
amounting to approximately HK$54,539,000
(2018: approximately HK$55,196,000) to a bank to
secure borrowings obtained, details of which are
set out in note 25.

MR20195F 12 A31H » A& E ] — IR 17K
1R H 4 5849 £54,539,0007% 7T (20184 :
#955,196,0008 L) 2 & T¥ % - /B K&
- REBUSEEERR  B@EFBEAM
5F25 °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS/RIGHT-OF- 15.
USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC
were classified as prepaid lease payments as
at 31 December 2018. Upon adoption of HKFRS
16, the prepaid lease payments amounting to
approximately HK$50,913,000 were reclassified to

right-of-use assets.

The movements of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities within HKFRS 16 during the year ended
31 December 2019 are set out below:

ENEERE FHEESE,
HESS
2018512318 U NP EMHEE + it
MBS ATENREE - NEMES
B iR A E R 1657 1% - A%04950,913,000
BIMENEERBET B FERAEE
é °

HE2019F 12 A3 B It FEE P EIRE
ERFIFNFEREEERBERENE
BEHIT

Right-of-use assets

CREEE
Leasehold Land and Lease
lands buildings Total liabilities
HEX  tHRkEF @t HEBR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TETL FHET FHET T
At the beginning of the iR I
reporting period upon BRI BREEA
adoption of HKFRS 16 F165%14 50,913 10,167 61,080 (10,167)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ F BEZEE
assets (1,321) (6,145) (7466) -
Interest expenses on lease M EEBEMNFEEH
liabilities - - - (570)
Lease payments HEMR - - - 6,544
Exchange realignment B 3 % (1,161) (12) (1,173) 50
At the end of the RBEEHR
reporting period 48,431 4,010 52,441 (4,143)
Current portion mEEH D (4,143)
Non-current portion EEIE B -
(4,143)

The Group leases various office premises and
a theme park in the PRC for its daily operations
with fixed lease payment terms. Lease terms
range from one to three years.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS/RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES
— continued

At 31 December 2019, the Group pledged its right-
of-use assets in respect of the leasehold lands in the
PRC amounting to approximately HK$48,431,000
(2018: approximately HK$50,913,000 under prepaid
lease payments) to a bank and a financial institution
to secure borrowings obtained, details of which are
set out in note 25.

RESTRICTIONS OR COVENANTS

Most of the leases impose a restriction that,
unless approval is obtained from the lessor,
the right-of-use asset can only be used by the
Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying assets, except for the
right-of-use of the leasehold lands in the PRC. The
Group is also required to keep those properties in
a good state of repair and return the properties in
their original condition at the end of the lease.

The Group has recognised the following amounts
for the year:

15.

BANHEENE EREEE
HERE-&

201912 A31 8 - AEE AR MR
Ermm—ERITMNEMSRIKELD TR
£#4948,431,000/% 7 (20184 : FETHHE
TH#950,913,000/8 7C) M F REEE - AR
FrEVIS HfE B IR (K IR - B B 1SS 0K
5125 °

BR Il 3% 22 5

REHHEERMER S BN IEESHEA
o TRIEREEEENAANREER -

AARGEZE HEXETRBEEE 1RP
BITHE + o RO 2 FAERR S o AN SR B NZA R
FZEMERNRFEERE ANEE
FERIF YR IAH RIGMRARE o

REB D P EFARERIAT A :

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FETT

Lease payments: MERK:
Short-term leases MEEE 937 N/AT 5
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLBE 7,481 6,532

During the year ended 31 December 2019, lease
expenses charged to profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$937000 (2018: approximately
HK$6,532,000).

HE2019F12A31B L FE - BB E MKk
B 78 & F3 37 4 593700078 7T (20184 : 4
6,532,000/ 7T ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

15.

16.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS/RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

— continued

COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES — AS
LESSEE

At 31 December 2019, the Group had no
commitment for short-term leases.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding
commitments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of office premises and a theme
park in the PRC which fall due as follows:

15. FEANHEFR

HERE-&

KB EREEE

REHEAE-FREEA

R2019F 12A31H AEEWEEHEE

Ao

A2018512 A318 -
KETHE

AR BARE A AT GH
SHPBRAEMEN B REL

Bl RBEITAENRIRERMT

2018
2018%F
HK$'000
T
Within one year —F R 7.481
In the second to fifth year inclusive 8 —Z2EF R F (BIEEBEMF) 3,684
11,165
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REWE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Fair value AREE
At 1 January M1A1R 5,512,086 5,724,876
Additions NE 327,904 287,232
Transferred from properties under EE B EERTEWE
development for sale (note 2) (F15E2) - 50,441
Transferred from completed HBEGERTIFEME
properties held for sale (note 2) (B15E2) - 377,792
Transferred to properties under EREERPEFEDE
development for sale (note 1) (PR &E1) (3,228,360) (274,870)
Gain on fair value change of BEWMERABEEZSH 2
investment properties & 91,594 638,953
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EEAF - (1,027,144)
Exchange realignment b 5 58 2 (135,363) (265,194)
At 31 December M12831H 2,567,861 5,512,086
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

Note 1: The transfer of properties from investment properties
to properties under development for sale represents
the project of COMB+ (Beijing Fangshan)(1 piece of
land under construction).

Note 2: Amount represented the transfer from properties under
development for sale and completed properties held for
sale to investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2018 upon inception of the operating lease
agreements.

The Group's property interests held under leases
to earn rentals are measured using fair value
model and is classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
pledged all of its investment properties to certain
banks and other financial institutions to secure
borrowings obtained therefrom, details of which
are set out in note 25.

The fair values of the Group's investment
properties at 31 December 2019 were arrived
at on the basis of valuation carried out by CHFT
Advisory and Appraisal Ltd. (2018: CHFT Advisory
and Appraisal Ltd.), an independent external
valuer not connected with the Group.

The Group engaged the independent external
valuer to perform the valuation. The Directors
work closely with the independent external valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model.

The fair values of completed investment
properties as at 31 December 2019 and 2018
were determined based on the income approach.
Income approach took into account the current
passing rents of the property interests and
the reversionary values of the properties, and
capitalised the existing tenancies in the remaining
tenancy terms into the term interest and
assembled it with the reversionary interest.

16.

REWME &

M1 EREVEERVEZZRTHEDE
EBERBHEERER (EREWL) (REbRE
Z) -

fisr2 : @RBEHFEEEERS ERRGEE2018

FRANAILFEHERPHFEMERE
BTHFEMEEBREZREME-

AEERBEHOBEIERDESHEEREZY
XS NFERAABERAFE UH%E
RAHNER BB % -

20195 M2018F 12 A31H  REB AE
FIRITREM S MEBIEIREMEREY
¥ LMERB LB IT REM S BEEE
BEBZ R EHEFBHANES -

REFEREMERNR2019F12831B 2 257
BEDBRBEESZDATHABRAF (2018
FERERTEERAR) BT 2 ER
oA A AL B EREE 2B
9\%5.%155@0

AEBEZ BB MBI EMETRE-E
= S8 7 51 BD R B 2 U 165 VR LA SR S A
Z B E M R AR R 2 A BUR -

20194 N20185F12 A31H B TR E
MEZ AABERBRAEETE - WMAE
FTRYEESRSASRMEIERE
B RAHTHRABREHEEME ATEH
FE WEHEFEmESE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

Fair values of the investment properties under
development as at 31 December 2019 and
2018 were derived using the multiple valuation
techniques, including residual approach and
comparison approach. Under the residual
approach, the independent external valuer made
reference to strata units comparable as available
in the market to arrive the capital value of the
property as if the proposed development were
completed and also took into consideration
the development cost already spent and to be
spent to reflect the quality of the completed
development. Residual approach also involved
an estimation of the capital value of a proposed
development with reference to its development
potential by deducting costs and developer's
profit from its estimated completed development
cost. Comparison approach consisted of
comparisons based on prices on price realised or
current asking prices of comparable properties.
Comparable properties of similar size, character
and location are selected and analysed.

In measuring the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their
current use.

The following table gives information about how
the fair values of these investment properties are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorized based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

16.

REWHE—E

%R R I E W) 2 7020194 12018912 A31
Az ARBERAZEMERN (2EFF
BEBEINERLER) BT - RERISE
B% BUIINSHEMSEME LA AL
AIth BB A E S Y EE A EE M
MEEEED TR Mt RE X H R
HEERAAN  ARME B TRRNEE -
FREEETMSIR2ERTERNE NI
HEEAEE ARAARGTERTIHE
FCAS R OB AR AN % 88 7 v 1 o L BOR A
ENEERERAATEEMENRITE L
ER LA o BIBRDOITHRE R AL
BRI LB E -

RETEMEZ AREER DERNES R
RERZAREAE-

TRV BRETXSFREMEAAEE
ZIEZER (BRI RFRA 2 A ERM
FRBAER)  ARRBEAABEFEZEH
ABBENABEREERARBEFEDHE
ZANREEER-



16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

16. j:iﬁ‘*@%_ng
20195128318

Investment properties Fair value Valuation technique(s) Relationship of unobservable

held by the Group hierarchy and key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s) input(s) to fair value
rEAREZRENE AABEER FERGRIZEGAEE EXTIBREAUE FABRERABEALAEEHE
The COMB+ (Beijing Fangshan) Level 3 Income approach Term yield, taking into account of A slight increase in the term yield used

- Under construction
(Carrying amount: HK$2,280,809,000)
(2 pieces of land completed)

BREEs (tREL) FZE
R

(BRM 1 2,280,809,000% 7T )

(MEERT L)

The Jiashan Project (Jiashan) Level 3
(Carrying amount: HK$150,605,000)

{Under construction)

RE ( ) FZE
( 18 150,605,0007% 7T )

(term and
reversionary approach)

The key inputs of income

approach are:

(1) Term yield;

(2) Market unit rent of
individual unit;

(3) Reversionary yield;
and

(4) Level adjustment

WAE

(RHEHZ)

WA%%EE%A@EEI
(1) BE KR
12“%“&%m%ﬂ

ﬁé

(3) B8
4) @JEJW

Multiple valuation
techniques:
Comparison approach

and residual
approach

The key inputs of residual
approach are:
(1) Total development
cost to completion
(2) Expected developer
profit margin

Comparison approach
The key input is:
(1) Unit land price per area

SEMRBERI:
HEERNBRERE

FREEENIRBA
BER:
(1) ERAERKA
(2 BHEREHANRAR

e
iﬁkﬂﬁfﬁ
B EREDE

yield generated from comparable
properties and adjustments to reflect
the certainty of term income secured
and to be received, of 5.25% for
retail, of 3.5% for office.

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.5% for retail and
3.5% for office.

Level adjustment on individual floors of
the property range from 55% to 70%
on specific level.

RERER A RUALENEEEZK
=R ARMBIERE &W1Wﬂz
@;ﬁﬂ&/\‘nﬁwzuﬂ% ENER
5.25% E%#tﬁm%

EEkEE ﬁ&ﬂﬁmmz&%
msResRARBumE TENE
B55%  HAEMEARILY

ERmEEECEERE N THEER
255%Z70% °

Estimation of development costs not
yet incurred or contracted based on
existing development plans.

Estimation of developer profit margin.

Unit land price per area, using direct
market comparables and taking
into account of time, location and
individual factors such as size and
quantum of properties of RMB2,000/
sq.m.

RERARRABGEHAELRCATA
MBRAA

REBN ARG

ENERLE RAERTSTEALER
A Rt RSHE b E R ERNER  fm
NENK D RBE BEFHRARE
2,0007 °

would result in a significant decrease
in the fair value of the investment
properties and vice versa.

A slight increase in the reversionary
yield used would result in a
significant decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment
properties and vice versa.

An increase in the level adjustment
on individual floors used would
result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment
properties by a lower percentage, and
vice versa.

fiFrie BARRE LM A EEHRE
NERABERE TR R2H%.

inFrEAEB R E T BlEEHREAN
EDABEHERNETHR R2KA

finF s AL ERIIBE fri 2 @B
B8R ENE A BENEARE
ZEAWKE R TR

Increase in the development costs would
result in a decrease in the expected
developer profit margin and fair value
measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

A significant increase in the expected
profit would result in a significant
decrease in fair value measured of the
investment properties and vice versa.

A'slight increase in the unit land price
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

BERAALED REEHBHALEN
ig&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%?%'&z

BRNEARENKEERRANELR
BEFBAETR R2MA-

fHEfseEHE AESREANEAL
BEFB LA RZHA:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 - continued

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)
HERGREERAHE

16.

Significant unobservable input(s)

EATUEEGARE

REWE-
A20195F12831H —

&

=

]

Relationship of unobservable
input(s) to fair value

FREANEBERAAEEZBE

Investment properties Fair value
held by the Group hierarchy
AREREZRENE MEEER
The Hengnan Project (Hengnan) Level 3
(Carrying amount: HK$136,447000)

(Under construction)

AR (88) e

(BRTE{E: 136,447000/ )
(ER)

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Comparison approach
The key input is:
(1) Unit land price per area

LEE

TEBABER:
(1) EfimiEnE

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)
HEEGRIERAME EBEAXATUBERAEE

Unit land price per area, using direct
market comparables and taking
into account of time, location and
individual factors such as size and
quantum of properties of RMB1,200/
sg.m.

BEEELE RREETHTALNE
ARG REH - 4% RERAE A
NEOKIREE BETERARE
1,2007C

A slight increase in the unit land price
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

L
i

WEMLERS AeaRRENED
BEFBLI R2TFAe

20185128318

Significant unobservable input(s)

Relationship of unobservable
input(s) to fair value

FABRBABBEANABEZHE

Investment properties Fair value
held by the Group hierarchy
rEEREZRENE AREEER
The COMB+ (Beijing Fangshan) Level 3

- Under construction

(Carrying amount: HK$2,922,849,000)

(1 piece of land under construction)

BREL (AREW) E=F
i3

(BRTE{E:2,922,849,000/ T )

(—BERELH)

The COMB+ (Beijing Fangshan) Level 3

- Under construction

(Carrying amount: HK$2,364,403,000)

(2 pieces of land completed)

BREE (FEREL) F=E
b3 _

(BRE(E : 2,364,403,0007% )

(MECHI L)

224
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Residual approach

The key inputs of residual
approach are:

(1) Total development
cost to completion
(2) Expected developer
profit margin

MirEEE

HBBEZNIREA
gER:

(1) EREBERA
() EBREEHEE

Income approach
(term and
reversionary approach)

The key inputs of income
approach are:
(1) Term yield;
(2) Market unit rent of
individual unit;
(3) Reversionary yield:;
and
(4) Level adjustment

LN

(RHEHE)

Higs:

VR E L

Estimation of development costs not
yet incurred or contracted based on
existing development plans.

Estimation of developer profit margin.

RERERRAHHERREL

RETONBRAA -

GESSEESETE

Term yield, taking into account of
yield generated from comparable
properties and adjustments to reflect
the certainty of term income secured
and to be received, of 5.5% for retai,
of 3% for office.

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.5%.

Level adjustment on individual floors of
the property range from 55% to 70%
on specific level.

$IFEE
» F5.5%

NFEEEE

ERNEE HETELS
I BReAREED

EnEEE BERE:
Z255%%270% ©

S

Increase in the development costs would
result in a decrease in the expected
developer profit margin and fair value
measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

A significant increase in the expected
profit would result in a significant
decrease in fair value measured of the
investment properties and vice versa.

BRAAEN HEEHBHRAREHHNE
ﬁg&ﬁ%%ﬂﬂ%@ﬂ%?%ﬁz

BRABARINACERRANEAR
BEGFEABTR R2H%A.

A slight increase in the term yield used
would result in a significant decrease
in the fair value of the investment
properties and vice versa.

A slight increase in the reversionary
yield used would result in a
significant decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment
properties and vice versa.

An increase in the level adjustment
on individual floors used would
result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment
properties by a lower percentage, and
vice versa.
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16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 - continued

Investment properties
held by the Group
FEERECRENE

Fair value
hierarchy

NABEER HERNRIEBABE EXTIRZG\HE

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

16.

j:iﬁ‘*@%_ng

7A2018512 8318 — &

Significant unobservable input(s)

Relationship of unobservable
input(s) to fair value

FTIBER\RERAAREZBE

The Jiashan Project (Jiashan) Level 3
(Carrying amount: HK$129,080,000)

(Under construction)

%ZHA (5%)
(BRI £ 129,080,000 7T)
()

The Hengnan Project (Hengnan) Level 3
(Carrying amount: HK$95,754,000)

(Under construction)

AR () EZE
(BRI {A : 95,754,000/ 7))
(k)

Multiple valuation
techniques:
Comparison approach
and residual approach

The key inputs of residual
approach are:
(1) Total development
cost to completion
(2) Expected developer
profit margin

Comparison approach
The key input is:
(1) Unit site rate

SERERI:
LERERMSBERE

MBEEANTIE
GABER:
(1) ERAERKA
(2) BHREEBMRE

LEE
TREABER:
(1) B EM L

Comparison approach
The key input is:
(1) Unit site rate

SBE
TEGARER:
(1) B EMLE

Estimation of development costs not
yet incurred or contracted based on
existing development plans.

Estimation of developer profit margin.

Unit site rate, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of time, location and individual
factors such as size and quantum of
properties of RMB980/sg.m.

RERERRIEREARES
RETONBRAA-

FREBMAR G-

GHENLE REEETSTALRE
B Rt RER R RENEE fm
NENKPREE BETHRARE
9807T

Unit site rate, using direct market
comparables and taking into account

of time, location and individual factors
such as size and quantum of properties

of RMB422/sq.m.

GHENLLE RRERTETALRE
B R RER ERENER fin
NENKPREE BETHRARE
42270 °

Increase in the development costs would
result in a decrease in the expected
developer profit margin and fair value
measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

A significant increase in the expected
profit would result in a significant
decrease in fair value measured of the
investment properties and vice versa.

A slight increase in the unit site rate
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

BRAAEM B ERBERREHNR
ERRENERABENETRE RZ
ek o

BHNEABENEEERRANELL
BEFERBTR R2HA-

s Ef L XM IS EHRENR
DABEHELT RZHH-

A slight increase in the unit site rate
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

fimFree OB B L R BT Bl @ BER
ENERABESEBLA R2TAe
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued
AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Investment properties transferred to properties
under development for sale

Properties under development Fair value Valuation technique(s)
for sale held by the Group hierarchy and key input(s)
FEERACERTEENE ANREEER HERGRIZBABE EATTERBAHE

Significant unobservable inputs(s)

REYXE—E
20195128318
EREFRRERIPFEVENREDE

Relationship of unobservable
input(s) to fair value

FABRBABBEANNBEZHE

The COMB+ (Beijing Fangshan) - Level 3
Under construction

(Carrying amount: HK$3,228,360,000)

(1 piece of land under construction)

Residual approach

Estimation of development costs not
yet incurred or contracted based on
existing development plans.

Increase in the development costs would
result in a decrease in the expected
developer profit margin and fair value
measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

The key inputs of residual  Estimation of developer profit margin. A significant increase in the expected

approach are:

(1) Total development
cost to completion

(2) Expected developer
profit margin

BRBEs (AREW) £=E FinEEE

kR

(BRE1E :3,228,360,000%5 7T )

(—ELibER)

FREEEZNIREA

HER:
(1) TREERRA
(2 BHEREHNER

In estimating the fair value of the Group's
investment properties, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages independent external valuer to
perform the valuation of the Group's investment
properties. The Group will first consider and adopt
Level 2 inputs where inputs can be derived from
observable quoted prices in the active market.
When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
will adopt valuation techniques that include
Level 3 inputs. The valuation techniques have
been calibrated so that at initial recognition, the
result of the valuation techniques is reconciled to
the transaction price. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the assets, the
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the
Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there
were no transfers of fair value measurement
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
and out of Level 3.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

REBFEE A

profit would result in a significant
decrease in fair value measured of the
investment properties and vice versa.

BERARBRHEGEERAELRETN FRAAEN S EHRBAREHNE

RRRENEAABEHETR R2
ke

BRABARENAESRRANELR
BEFEBABTR R2HA.

ERHAAKBREMEZ AABER K
SESERAHER TS ABRREUE-

HRBEF-—ENBARE AEEERE
B IMBH SR AR R E 2R EMEETT
BE-AKESEEEELRBE _EH
ABE ERBARER BRRTSE
MABRRERS -HERBEF _ENEA
2B AEENERBERE=BE AR
B RERMT - A ERME (F RS AL
RYFERSHERMABERERZE
R HEEARBELREAES) Alg
MEEREERNEBZRE-

RNEE2019F12A3RILEE 5B K
F_BrETEAABESEZERE B
TEEAREHEE=E-



17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EO B IRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E
INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REEDLECZRE
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 T THET

Cost of investment, unlisted WERAFELET 1,355,195 1,237,686

Share of post-acquisition results D EREEZEE K
and other comprehensive losses  HE i 2 mEEE (41,365) (2,702)

1,313,830 1,234,984
Place of Proportion of Proportion
establishment/ Class of ownership of voting Nature of
Name of joint venture  operations shares held interest rights held business
B,/ R 5
SELEER EEHE Bl BERELH FEREELA B 331
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 2018F 20195 2018F

SkyOcean Real Estate PRC Paid capital 51% 51% 50% 50% Property
(Tangshan) Co., Ltd development
("SkyOcean Tangshan”)

KAEE (BIL)ER HE HRBA MERE
REN(TREREW])

TianMao Cultural PRC Paid capital 51% N/A 51% N/A  Property
Development (Jiangyin) development
Co., Ltd ("TianMao")

REER OIR) FE BRBAE TR TER NERE
BERAR ([XK])

Notes: B 5

(i) Upon the completion of the disposal on 15 November
2018, the Group, through SkyOcean International
United Limited (“SkyOcean United”), a subsidiary of
which 82.35% interest is held by the Group, held 51%
equity interest of SkyOcean Tangshan.

(i) M2018F 1M A15B T L &% - AEEIE
BRAFBBRBAARAR ([REBE])
(—EAREEEE82.36% HAENHBAT)
BAXFEEILS %AHE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

17.

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES
— continued

Notes: — continued

(i)

(iii)

As stipulated in the articles of association of SkyOcean
Tangshan, the Group has the right to appoint one out
of two directors which are responsible for making
decisions of its relevant activities and those decisions
require the unanimous consent of both directors. In this
regard, the Group's 51% equity interest in SkyOcean
Tangshan is accounted for as a joint venture of the
Group.

On 30 January 2019, SkyOcean Cultural Development
Company Limited (“SkyOcean Cultural”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered
into an agreement with Jinmao Suwan Corporate
Investment (Tianjin) Company Limited (“Jinmao
Investment”), an independent third party, pursuant to
which TianMao was established as the key investment
entity to obtain a land in JiangSu and to undertake
a property development project. In accordance with
the agreement, TianMao is owned as to 51% by
SkyOcean Cultural and 49% by Jinmao Investment,
and as at 30 June 2019, SkyOcean Cultural contributed
RMB71,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$83,551,000) in proportion of its equity interest
in TianMao. On 22 October 2019, SkyOcean Cultural
further contributed RMB30,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$33,958,000) in proportion of its
equity interest in TianMao. As the decisions about the
relevant activities of TianMao require the unanimous
consent of all shareholders, accordingly, TianMao is
accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method in these consolidated financial
statements.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

17.

REELEZRE-&

Mz —&

(ii)

(iii)

WMARFRELESERAARE  ALEE
BREEMBESTTHN - REFARYHEMN
REBIELARR BEAMARTEMEE
FN—HEAR - BUMEF  AEERRFE
WEB1 %REARAAEEN S EDRE-

M2019F1 308  AEEHEZEMER
RIRAXEBERAER AR ([RF3E])
HBUR-FLEHRROEETE (X2)
ERAR([EERDIL— D 18
WY REKIEAEEZREETE UWESIT
R REAEMEREIER - REWH
HORERAREXLEASIRER KBS
REEHBA9%EZ  7R2019F6 8308 ¢
KAXLIEER KK Z IR Ol EE A
R #71,400,0007T (#8 & 7 4983,551,000
HBIT) e 2019410228 - RAFEXLZ
HRREZBRELGIE -—FHEARE
30,600,0007T (48 & 7 £733,958,000/%
) HRBEARXEBEEDZATRES
BRE-BRAE WRKIEAAEBRZ—
REEREAR-

BELEEREDENZEFE HUMBER

RAFRe



17.

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17.

— continued

Summarised consolidated financial information
in respect of SkyOcean Tangshan is set out

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

REELEIRE-&

RAEBLNEHYBERRZEIIT
TXFREAHYBERBRERER Y

below. The summarised consolidated financial B EERE 2 K FE LA HIESRE
information below represents amounts shown FETRZ &5
in SkyOcean Tangshan's consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABIT
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,093,867 1,049,715
Current assets MENEE 2,871,290 3,165,953
Current liabilities mENAE 523,007 785,323
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 1,080,701 1,008,808
The above amounts of assets and FHlBEERBESEBRE
liabilities include the following: ATR&IA:
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 14,140 7,568
Financial liabilities (excluding THAE(TEREES R
trade and other payables H b B 308 R )
and provisions) - 285,323
Gross amounts ABEE
Revenue WA 36,769 2,050
Loss for the year/period FHANEE (6,593) (5,298)
Other comprehensive loss F/HRNEMEEER
for the year/period (53,495) -
Total comprehensive loss F /BN ABRRALRE
for the year/period (60,088) (5,298)
The Group's share of REB DG
Loss for the year/period FHANEE (3,363) (2,702)
Other comprehensive loss F/HRNEMEEER
for the year/period (27,281) -
Total comprehensive loss F /NG ABRARE
for the year/period (30,644) (2,702)
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

17. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17.

— continued

Reconciliation of the above consolidated financial
information to the carrying amount of the
interest in SkyOcean Tangshan recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

REELEZRE-&

LA GRS E R BN A G SRR TR
RZINRFE L mRE EN SR :

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T &I

Net assets BEFE 2,361,449 2,421,537
The Group's share of net assets AEBED(HEEEE 1,204,339 1,234,984

Summarised financial information in respect
of TianMao is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts
shown in TianMao's financial statements prepared

in accordance with HKFRSs.

REWM B ERBZERTIT o T XFE
MBER MR ERETBWHHRELLR
B REMBHRRPARZ &R

2019
20194
HK$°000
FET
Non-current assets EMEBEE 489
Current assets MENEE 775,766
Current liabilities mEEE 561,567
The above amounts of assets and Ll EERBETCESE
liabilities include the following: LA & I8
Cash and cash equivalents B RIASEEYD 38,130
Gross amounts AEEE
Revenue A =
Loss for the year FAEE (8,409)
Other comprehensive loss FANHEAMERS EE
for the year (7,314)
Total comprehensive loss FANREBIEEE
for the year (15,723)
The Group's share of REBE DL
Loss for the year FAEE (4,290)
Other comprehensive loss FRNHEAMERS EE
for the year (3,729)
Total comprehensive loss FANREBIEEE
for the year (8,019)
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REELEZRE-E
— continued
Reconciliation of the above financial information FB R E RN S O I IR MR
to the carrying amount of the interest in RRE 2 EmREEMNER:
TianMao recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
2019
201945
HK$'000
FET
Net assets BETFE 214,688
The Group's share of net assets ARNEBDHEE FE 109,491
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENTFOR 18. EEHSEWHE

SALE

As a result of management decision to change
the use of certain properties from leasing to
sale, during the year, the Group transferred
certain properties under development under the
project of COMB+ in Beijing Fangshan, previously
classified as investment properties, to properties
under development for sale. The Group has
established a comprehensive strategic plan for
the sale of these properties.

At 31 December 2019, such properties were
measured at fair value of approximately
HK$3,228,360,000 with reference to valuation
carried by an independent external valuer, CHFT
Advisory and Appraisal Ltd., before the transfer to
properties under development for sale. Details of
the valuation of investment properties are set out
in Note 16.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
pledged certain of its properties under
development for sale, details of which are set out
in note 25.

The Group's properties under development for
sale are situated in the PRC. Included in the
amount are properties under development for
sale of approximately HK$1,127603,000 (2018:
approximately HK$1,448,171,000) which are
not expected to be completed and available for
sale within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

HREEBRERE TYENREHEE
HRHE  RER AEEFILRE ILBR
BEBERATHETRRTYE (KRN
RRENF)BREZRTHEVE AR
EHIE-HEEEETE LHEZFEY
;Eo

R2019F 12 A31H  REBE = HRE R F
MEZR ZEMELDEBLINEE
MEN A AT EERABEENEEER
AEETE - 5493,228,360,000/8 7T < &
MERHEFIBSHAMES -

MN20194F 2018412 A31H » AR & E K 1
HETRRPEEME  FBFHMIE25 -

AEBERREPFEMEMNTR -ZE5E
BIEERPAFEYE1,127603,000% 7T
(20184F : 491,448,171,0005% 7T, ) - ¥8 #A A
REFRE+ @A RS T LA
'%o
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

19.

TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EFREWRIE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT TFABIT
Trade receivables =873 &S 4,839 10,481
Less: allowance for credit losses  J& : 15 B E5 18 B & (6) (6)
4,833 10,475

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2019,
the net carrying amount represented by
lease receivables amounted to approximately
RMB4,335,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,833,000) and RMB9,178,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$10,475,000) respectively.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for credit losses) by invoice date at the
end of the reporting is as follows:

M2019F12 A31H &2019%1 818 » LA
HERWFERTNEAFES LA
AR ¥4,335,0007T (48 & % 494,833,000
BIT) R AR#9,178,0007T (B E R4

10,475,000 7T ) °

REREIR - IER RS DO E SRR
A (HREEBEREE) 2 RESTAT :

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$000 HK$'000

FHET TFETT

Current to 90 days BIEIZ90H 4,833 10,475

As 31 December 2019, no debtors which are past
due but not impaired.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

TRADE RECEIVABLES - continued 19. ESEWRRE-E&
For trade receivables, the Group applies the MESRWFIENS AEBEEREEH
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the SR EIR B AR BHEE
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Trade receivables BB EEERE B S RWFIEDRE
are assessed individually for impairment B EEEBERIREREETERFY
allowance based on the historical credit loss & WHLER A EREE BRI
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific T 5% S 5 HA AR A 3R B R0 K2 FEORIAR e B
to the debtors, general economic conditions and A HEL AR CEERREEER
an assessment of both the current as well as the REE(EE
forecast direction of conditions at the end of each
reporting period, including time value of money
where appropriate.
Movements in allowance for credit losses: FEEBEREZHNT
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T
At beginning of the reporting s B
period (6) -
Increase in allowance BN - (6)
At end of the reporting period R HI R (6) (6)
OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 20 HMEWITE REREARK

PREPAYMENTS

15

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Consideration receivable from HEWBAR 2 EIKKE
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34)  (F{15£34) 65,982 -
Other receivables Hoth g W 5k I8 17,384 24,004
Deposits bi-acid 4,420 4,617
Prepayments TR RIE 5,526 6,943
93,312 35,564

The Group measures loss allowance of other
receivables and deposits at 12-month ECL, and
when there has been significant increase in credit
risk, the Group measures the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. No provision has been recognised
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

AEERR2EABEREEHETEEME
WHRIE kRS 2 BB BREERR
AR AL E iz 2 HIEHE E5 B
B 51885 - B £20194F &2018412 A31
HIEF[E  WEREREE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

21. OTHER NON-CURRENT/CURRENT ASSETS 21.

HittkRE RBEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
Prepayments for certain AREEmME AT
land use rights for investment T+ A 2 B RIE
properties (note ii) (B Eii) 110,240 108,810
Prepayments to a construction MEEFR B TENRIE
contractor (note i) (MF&Ei) 32,846 39,228
Others Hh, 1,033 1,827
Other non-current assets HiIERBEE 144,119 149,865
Prepayments to a construction [F] 122 5% 4 B 7 TR < SR IR
contractor (note i) (HF&Ei) 9,149 10,926
Prepayments for certain land BRERTFHFEEMEZET
use rights for properties under T+ A 2 B 5RIE
development for sale (note ii) (B ki) 191,640 189,153
Prepayments for taxes TR IR 53,821 33,952
Others Hity 557 1,752
Other current assets H b e & E 255,167 235,783
Notes: B 5 -

(i)

(i)

Prepayment to a contractor in relation to the
construction of investment properties was recorded as
other non-current assets. Prepayment in relation to the
construction of properties for sales paid to a contractor
was recorded as other current assets.

Amounts represented the prepayment for certain land
use rights of pieces of land in the PRC with the lease
term between 40 and 70 years for the purpose of
properties under development for sale and investment
properties under development.

At 31 December 2019, included therein are advance
to certain local government authority of approximately
RMB270,802,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$301,880,000) (2018: RMB261,076,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$297.963,000)), which is unsecured
and will be treated as the prepayment for acquiring
certain land use rights in the areas controlled by such
local government in the future. Advances in relation to
the land use rights for the purpose of properties under
development for sale were recorded as other current
assets.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

(i)

BIREREMEMABEELNENKE
ARRAEMIFERDEE -HREFEDE
SN TFHEEHZANRBEARSEMRE

ZRBREANEERBRPREME
BRYESTHE L EREZBNNZRE -
N F40FEE70%F -

R2019F12A310  ZEHEBERE T
75 B E0PY 2 R4 A R #6270,802,000
7T (#8 & M 49301,880,0005 7£) (2018
F: ANR#261,076,0007 (HERLD
297,963,000/ 7T) ) + A EE A I #5181
R B&UYES A BT E 2 &
FLiERR BN RE - BRERPHF
EMEZ T HNEREZBRARREMT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRERME
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22, BITHEBEERES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held RITHEHR MRS BEAERMIFRE MR
by the Group and short-term deposits with an FHAA=@EA AN EEFR-
original maturity of three months or less.
The range of effective interest rates of bank 20195128318 - IR1T4 8% 2 B
balances at 31 December 2019 were 0.01% to A E AN TF0.01%20.30% (2018%F : N F
0.30% (2018: 0.01% to 0.35%) per annum. 0.01%%0.35% ) °
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 23. EFRHMESRERERX
ACCRUALS |
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABIT
Trade and bill payables B HRMNFERENRE 614,303 717394
Other payables, accruals and H b EA KB - FBIRUAE K
deposits received B Wiz 90,629 88,530
Provision for compensation BEERE 12,013 -
716,945 805,924
Substantial portion of trade and bill payables at RMERR LZBEEHHFTE XZHE
end of the reporting period was aged from 0 to SRR BN RIE 2 Rk A0E180H
180 days based on invoice date (2018: 0 to 180 (20184 : 021801 ) - I E M FHEER
days). The average credit period on purchase of B 41208 (20184 : 120H)

goods is 120 days (2018: 120 days).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

24, EHEE

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FABIT

Property (Note a) Mz (Miska) 284,389 289,032
Tourism park service and T 8% S (2] AR 75 K2 B A AR 745

other service 1,483 943

285,872 289,975

Note: B 5 -

(a) The Group recognised the HKFRS 15 revenue-related (a) HRAEERBERYEHESNTEEN
contract liabilities as the Group receives payments from NRZHEEPHERRE AEBERE
customers based on billing schedules as established BRI EHREERE IR 2 RAMBRBEEOE
in the property sale contracts. Payments are usually EoRBBELEEHNNBLHNEL TRATK
received in advance of the performance of the contracts B mMzZEaNEEREMEHEE-
which is mainly the sales of properties.

The revenue recognised related to carried-forward FARRAELESVABEANKASTE
contract liabilities during the year is as follows: NN N
2019 2018
2019%F 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
Revenue recognised FAAHAERN
that was included B RERWA -
in the contract liabilities:
Sales of properties ES kS 84,338 60,305
As at 31 December 2019, the transaction price MR2019F12A31H D EZEHYEHEES

allocated to the performance obligations that are

unsatisfied related to sales of properties is as follows:

B ARBITREOBZBNRZ ZERM TR

2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Expected to be satisfied TBEIR —FRNETT
within one year 284,389 289,032

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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SO RR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E
25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 25, |BITRHEMEES
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAB T
Secured/guaranteed BEA S BER
Bank borrowings* (Note a) RITHEE* (Mka) 3,133,255 3,626,246
Other borrowings (Note a & b) HiEE (MiFakb) 849,779 342,388
3,983,034 3,968,634
Total borrowings are repayable as fEE#E 2 EFIERWOT
follows:
- Repayable within one year ——FRNEE 1,635,613 414,270
- Repayable over 1 year and ——FREMFANEE
within 2 years 1,430,467 1,392,353
- Repayable over 2 years and ~-MFEBEBRFANEE
within 5 years 916,954 2,162,011
3,983,034 3,968,634
Less: Amounts shown under WmBBEE TR
current liabilities Kok} (1,635,613) (414,270)
Amounts shown under FERBEBETI R 2L
non-current liabilities 2,347,421 3,554,364
Fixed rate borrowings EEEBE 849,779 342,388
Floating rate borrowings FEEE 3,133,255 3,626,246
3,983,034 3,968,634
Bank and other borrowings ARSI E¥EEHE 2 IRIT R
denominated in: Hibhfg & :
- RMB —AR¥ 3,983,034 3,885,339
- USs$ —%7T - 83,295
3,983,034 3,968,634
* The bank loans carried variable interest rates ranging y IRITEFILN F6.36%E748% (20184 :

from 6.36% to 748% (2018: ranging from 6.36% to
7.01%) per annum and are repayable in 2022 to 2023.

N F6.36%E7.01% ) K ZFEFFXREHE -
W BR20224F £2023F H & °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

/= I+ =
25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 25, SBITRHEHMEE-&
— continued
Notes: B 5
(a) At 31 December 2019, the secured bank and other (a) 201912 A31H - ANE B 2 I E 1T
borrowings of the Group were secured by certain MEMEETDARERE TEEEERR
assets of the Group as follows: HHwT
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBTT
Property, plant and equipment WE - BEREE 54,539 55,196
Prepaid lease payments AN ERE - 50,913
Right-of-use assets EREEE 48,431 -
Properties under development BRPEFEWE
for sale 4,083,926 736,442
Investment properties A 2,567,861 5,512,086
Completed properties held for sale D& TiFEYE 283,761 358,847
Pledged bank deposits BEAEITER - 930
7,038,518 6,714,414

The bank and other borrowings were also jointly

RITREMEETRAEREEARE TH

guaranteed by Mr. Zhou Zheng and certain related B A T HEREHER
parties.
(b) The details of secured and guaranteed other borrowings (b) AEBZBEERERBREREMERE ZFE
of the Group are as follows: U
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Loans from trust fund companies REEFEESRRIZERK
(note i) Qi 333,509 342,388
Loans from immediate holding REEEERARZER
company (note ii) (P =) 258,812 -
Loans from an independent third RE—RBBILE=ZFZER
party (note iii) (Pt =i 257,458 -
849,779 342,388
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
— continued

Notes: — continued

(b) — continued

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

At 31 December 2019, the loans from trust
fund companies are secured by certain
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$54,539,000 (2018: HK$55,196,000);
properties under development for sale
of approximately HK$222,294,000 (2018:
HK$227,584,000); right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$25,865,000 (2018:
prepaid lease payments of approximately
HK$27,194,000); and investment properties
of approximately HK$150,605,000 (2018:
HK$129,080,000). These loans are jointly
guaranteed by Mr. Zhou Zheng and SkyOcean
Holdings Company Limited, a company
beneficially owned as to 80% by Mr. Zhou
Zheng. The loans carry interest at 12.13%
(2018: 12.13%) per annum and are repayable
within one year (2018: repayable over one
year).

During the year, the Group raised a new loan,
amounting to RMB232,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$258,812,000), from
SkyOcean Investment Holding Limited
("SkyOcean Investment”), the immediate
holding company of the Company which
is beneficially owned as to 80% by Mr.
Zhou Zheng. The loan is secured by certain
properties under development for sale of
approximately HK$323,490,000 (2018: nil),
carries interest at 11.8% per annum and is
repayable in 2022.

During the year, the Group raised a new loan
from an independent third party amounting to
RMB230,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$257458,000), which is guaranteed by Mr.
Zhou Zheng and the Company, and secured by
100% equity of DreamEast (Jiangyin) Cultural
Medium Co. Ltd., an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The loan carries
interest at 15.46% per annum and is repayable
within one year.

RITREMEE-&

LI

(b)

—&

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

M2019F12A31H  REEFEE
& A A2 B H#54,539,000
7 JC (20184 : 55,196,000/
TIZETHE - BERSZE:
#9222,294,000/% T (20184 :
227,584,000 L) 2 E R P HF
EWE: 425,865,0004 L 1Y
FABEEE (2018F : A
E 3K 4927,194,00087T) &
#7150,605,0007% Jt (20184 :
129,080,000/ 70 ) 2 & & W1 ¥ 1F
B -ZEEFABABREERRK
HFEREEBRAR (BEKE

B BE80%EE 2 AR]) £F
BR-ZEEFIRFNE12.13%
(20184 :12.13% )5t B> L AR
—FREE (2018F : R —F&E
)

FER-AEHBRARANEE
TRABRFREERERA
RI(TRFRE] BRARLEEER
HHEAB0%ES)EBHTERA
R #232,000,0007T (HHERH
258,812,000 7T.) ° Z B LA 4
#£323,490,000/% 7T (20184F : 4% )
WETEBERGEMEFER %
FHE11.8%5T B W HR20224F

g -

ER AEEAR-—EBIE=H
EEMEHRARE230,000,0007T
(#8 8 7L #9257458,000/8 7T) *
AR E RARR AERIL B AR A
HMEXEWNBARZEN OIE)
XA EE B R A RIAI100%E S E
o Z B RIRF F E15.46%5T
B WEAR—FREER-

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

239



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

240

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS 26. TEREBEHFKES
2019 2018
20195 20184
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5x FET FET
Liability components =i
Current ik )
- RMB19,680,000 9.5% — AR #19,680,0007T *
(2018: RMB 19,680,000 REFNFEIL%
8.5%) convertible bonds B (20185
A K #£19,680,0007T °
BRENEZE%E )
ZAlBRES 26(a) 23,512 22,624
- HK$160,000,000 9.5% —160,000,0007% 7T -
(2018: HK$270,000,000 BREFEIS%E B
8.5%) bonds (20184 : 270,000,000
BT IREFIES 5%
HR)ZER 26(a) 158,600 271,707
- HK$400,000,000 9.5% —400,000,000/% 7T,
(2018: HK$400,000,000 BEFEIS%EE
8%) bonds (20184 : 400,000,000
BT REFIES%
HER)ZESR 26(a) 396,763 391,653
- RMB450,000,000 zero — AR #450,000,0007T »
coupon convertible bonds TREABRES 26(b) 462,110 -
1,040,985 685,984
Non-current FERE
- RMB450,000,000 zero — AR #450,000,0007T -
coupon convertible bonds TEREARBRES 26(b) - 435,206
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

26. TTERBEFKESF &

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

Convertible Bonds |, Bonds |, and Bonds Il

On 12 November 2015, the Company issued a two-
year 8.5% secured convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal of RMB29,520,000 (the “Convertible Bonds
I”) to an independent third party. In addition, the
Company issued a two-year 8.5% secured guaranteed
bonds in an aggregate principal of HK$270,000,000
(the “Bonds |”) to the holder of the Convertible Bonds
| on the same date. The net proceeds from issuance of
the Convertibles Bonds | and the Bonds | were used
for the Group’s general working capital as well as
mergers and acquisitions by the Group. The Convertible
Bonds | and the Bonds | were jointly guaranteed by
Director, Mr. Zhou Zheng and certain related parties.
Corporate guarantee was provided by Beijing SkyOcean
International Holdings Limited (“Beijing SkyOcean
Holdings"”), a company beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Zhou Zheng. The Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds
| were also secured by a charge over certain number
of the Company’s ordinary shares held by SkyOcean
Investment.

On 28 June 2016, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with the holder of the
Convertible Bonds | and the Bonds | to issue three-
year 8% secured guaranteed bonds in an aggregate
principal of HK$470,000,000 (the "Bonds I1"). The
Bonds Il was jointly guaranteed by Director, Mr. Zhou
Zheng and certain related parties. Corporate guarantee
was provided by Beijing SkyOcean Holdings. The Bonds
Il was also secured by a charge over certain number
of the Company’s ordinary shares held by SkyOcean
Investment. Pursuant to the subscription agreement,
SkyOcean Investment, being the holder of Convertible
Bonds Il (as defined in note 26(b) below), charged
over partial of the Convertible Bonds Il (the “Charged
Convertible Bonds 11") in favour of the holder of the
Bonds II.

26(a)

ABEES - ERIRESI

R2016F 1M A128 R AR BT RS B35
B ANR#29,520,0007TH /R 4 #8.5% A 1K
WA RRES ([FTRBREHRDGEBLE
=J e tbdh e AR - AR F R AT AR E 5
18 A BT A& 458 4270,000,00078 7T
KR8 5% B M ERES ([EH
1) - BITA R EHFIREHFIZBRE
FHEAEAEE L —BEBEESUARREN
REBETZHBEE ATRBREFIRE
HFIHEEARAERS THB AT LRE
R ARIERAIL TR FBRBIZRBR AR
(MEERFER] —HMAEAREEESE
B80% Ews 2 A E]) IR - AT ES | R E
HFINARFREFENE TAQR LT BER
B Z W -

201656 A28H » AN A B L2 7] 2 IS & %
REHIZBBATLRE RS ABEITA
£ #8758 5470,000,0008 W) = FHI8% B
ERERERES ([EHI]) -EHFIHBES
BB E R A T A T HERER - AE)E
REBIERRFERIZMH - EHIIBERFR
BHANETARRLBREE 2BRMKHE
SR - BERE RS KFRE (BT
BRESN (FERTXHE260)) 21H
ANIAEHIFEAAZ S ANEHIRRE
HIMETHD ([BEFARRESN]) -
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26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

Convertible Bonds |, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

On 28 June 2016, the Company reached an agreement
with the holder of the Convertible Bonds | and the
Bonds | to extend the maturity date of Convertible
Bonds | and the Bonds | from 12 November 2017 to
30 June 2019. The extension did not result in material
financial impact on the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the holder
of the Convertible Bonds | exercised its right to
convert certain Convertible Bonds [, with principal
of RMB9,840,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,000,000) into ordinary shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the holder of
the Bond Il with aggregate principal of HK$70,000,000,
exercised its right to redeem the Bonds Il on hand in
full.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the holder of
the Bond | with aggregate principal of HK$100,000,000
exercised its right to redeem the Bonds | on hand in
full.

On 27 August 2019, the Company reached an
agreement with the holders of the Convertible
Bonds |, the Bonds | and the Bonds Il to modify their
terms retrospectively effective from 1 July 2019. The
modification include (i) extend the maturity date of the
three bonds from 30 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 with
extension fee of HK$8,910,000, representing 1.50%
of the outstanding principals; (i) the Company redeem
the Bonds | with principal of HK$100,000,000 on 30
November 2019; (iii) the coupon rates of the Convertible
Bonds | and the Bonds | adjusted from 8.5% to 9.5%
whereas that of the Bonds Il adjusted from 8% to
9.5%; and (iv) the conversion price of the Convertible
Bonds | adjusted from HK$12 per share to HK$7.2482
per share. On 30 November 2019, the Company
redeemed the Bonds | with principal of HK$10,000,000.
The Company was in the process of negotiation with
the holder of the Bonds | on repayment schedule of the
remaining HK$90,000,000 at the end of the reporting
period.
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26.

IRRESRES &

26(a)

g ER - BERIRERIE

M20165F6 4288 + AN A &) B2 0] # ik (& % |
REHIZFHE NERBFH B RKRES
FEHIZEHAH2017E11B12BERE
20196 A308 - AN B A K BERE
KRG RE-

REE2017F12A31H L FE - Al K E
K EATERLEFEE THRRES
(R4 % A AR9,840,0005T (HHERL
12,000,000/ 7T) ) # i B A D R EMAR

REE2018F12A31H L FE A& E5
7%70,000,0008 THIEH IFFEABITHEE
EFARBEOFENEH -

REZE2019F12A31B L FE A& BHE
100,000,000/ ST EHIFEADITE
HAEFAKBER FEAEHF -

MR2019F8A27H A" A 7] 82 7] # j (& %
| EHIREHIEE ARE T HIGFTERK
W BB E2019F 7 A1 AR AW EFT
BERE (VS =HEFNE B H2019F46
A30H & & 202046 A30H ' JEHE A
8,910,000 T HHERNKEEASTED
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26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

TmREFRES &

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

Convertible Bonds |, Bonds |, and Bonds Il — continued

The principal terms of the Convertible Bonds | are as
follows:

(i) Conversion right

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, the
holder of the Convertible Bonds | has the right
to convert all or any part of the principal of the
Convertible Bonds | into ordinary shares of the
Company at any time from 12 November 2016
to the maturity date at (i.e. 30 June 2020).

For the purpose of determining the number
of ordinary shares to be issued on conversion
of the Convertible Bonds I, the principal of
the Convertible Bonds | to be converted shall
be translated from RMB to HK$ at exchange
rate of HK$1.2195:RMB1. The price at which
ordinary shares of the Company will be issued
upon conversion (the “Conversion Price of
Convertible Bonds |"”) will initially be HK$12 per
share, but will be subject to adjustment which,
in the opinion of the Directors, are all for anti-
dilutive purpose to protect the right of the
holder of the Convertible Bonds I.

(ii) Final redemption

Unless previously redeemed, converted,
purchased and cancelled as provided herein,
the Company shall pay to each holder of the
Convertible Bonds |, an aggregate price of (i)
100% of the outstanding principal at maturity,
(i) all accrued and unpaid interest in respect of
the Convertible Bonds |, if any, and (iii) all other
related outstanding payable by the Company to
the holder of the Convertible Bonds I.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

Convertible Bonds |, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii)

Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default

Should any of the events of default set out
in the agreements of the Convertible Bonds |
occurs, the holder of the Convertible Bonds |
may elect to require the Company to redeem
the outstanding Convertible Bonds | in full in
the amount equivalent to the sum of (i) 100%
of the outstanding principal of the Convertible
Bonds I, (ii) all accrued and unpaid interest in
respect of such Convertible Bonds | and unpaid
default interest in respect of such Convertible
Bonds |, if any, (iii) a premium as set out in the
agreements of the Convertible Bonds | and (iv)
all other related outstanding payable by the
Company to the holder of such Convertible
Bonds I.

The details of the redemption of the Bonds |
and the Bonds Il are as follows:

(1) Final redemption

Unless previously redeemed,
purchased and cancelled, the
Company shall pay to the holder of
the Bonds | and the Bonds Il on the
maturity date, an aggregate price of
(i) 100% of the outstanding principal
at maturity, (ii) all accrued and unpaid
interest in respect of the bonds, if any,
and (iii) all other related outstanding
payable by the Company to the holder
of the Bonds | and Bonds II.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

26. TTERBEFKESF &

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds |, Bonds |, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(2)

Bonds Holder's Redemption Rights for
Events of Default

Should any of the events of default set
out in the agreements of the Bonds
| and Bonds Il occurs, the holder of
the Bonds | and Bonds Il may elect
to require the Company to redeem
the Bonds | and Bonds Il in full in an
amount equivalent to the sum of (i)
100% of the outstanding principal
of the Bonds | and Bonds II, (i) all
accrued and unpaid interest in respect
of the Bonds | and Bonds Il and unpaid
default interest accrued in respect of
the Bonds | and Bonds II, if any, (iii) a
premium as set out in the agreements
of the Bonds | and Bonds II, and (iv)
all other related outstanding payable
by the Company to the holder of such
Bonds | and Bonds Il.

Mandatory Early Redemption for
Convertible Bonds I, the Bonds | and
the Bonds Il

The amendment of mandatory
early redemption of the Convertible
Bonds |, the Bonds | and the Bonds
Il as mentioned below are mainly in
relation to the change of calculation
of Total Security Value (as defined
below). Pursuant to the subscription
agreements, if in any trading day
during the remaining term of the
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds II, the total security value,
which is calculated as the sum of
below items (a) and (b) (the “Total
Security Value):
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds |, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(3) Mandatory Early Redemption for

Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and

the Bonds Il — continued

(a)

total share value of the
Company, which equals to the
closing price per share of the
Company on such trading day
multiplied by the total number
of the shares of the Company
held in the securities account
maintained with the holders
of the Convertible Bonds I,
the Bonds | and the Bonds
Il by SkyOcean Investment,
and;

charged Convertible Bonds
Il is less than 2 times of
the aggregate outstanding
principal of the Convertible
Bonds I, the Bonds | and
the Bonds II, and SkyOcean
Investment elects not to
deposit such further number
of shares of the Company
in the aforesaid securities
account, the Company shall
redeem such portion of
the outstanding principal
of the Convertible Bonds |,
the Bonds | and the Bonds
Il (the “"Mandatory Early
Redemption for Convertible
Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds I1”) in order to
maintain the Total Security
Value not lower than 2.5
times of the aggregate
outstanding principal of the
Convertible Bonds I, the
Bonds | and the Bonds II.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds |, Bonds |, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(3)

Mandatory Early Redemption for
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds Il — continued

The terms of the Convertible Bonds
| and the Bonds | were negotiated
with the holder collectively and the
issuance of the Convertible Bonds |
and the Bonds | are inter-conditional
whereas the terms of the Bond Il
were negotiated with the holder
individually. The total net proceeds
received by the Company from
issuance of the Bonds | and the Bonds
Il were measured at amortised costs
by applying effective interest rate after
taking into consideration of respective
transaction costs. The net proceeds
from the Convertible Bonds | have
been allocated between a liability
component and an equity component
at initial recognition as follows:
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ABREEFHEARBOEMHZ
e — &

S8R IR R AT R AR (E 5
IEFIRESRI-E

BB ESRIRERIZ K
RIFAEARRBET
BRTUHRRESFIIE
FIERGE MESFIZ
R msE AERIREE -
ARAREETEFIEE
FIFTIRE 2 48 PR 15 5R0R
FRRAEET R R Z AR
% A ERR R RS
PR 7R GH 8 o ] 42 % B 55
ZHSREFERE S
EREDZE T ARE

BERD Mg &P D BC -

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

247



248

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds |, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(3) Mandatory Early Redemption for

Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and

the Bonds Il — continued

(a)

Liability component of
the Convertible Bonds |
was initially measured at
fair value by independent
external valuer using
binomial tree model,
amounted to approximately
RMB28,584,000 (equivalent
to approximately
HK$35,275,000), which
represent the present
value of the contractually
determined stream of future
cash flows discounted
at the prevailing market
interest rate at that time
applicable to instrument of
comparable credit status
and providing substantially
the same cash flow with the
Convertible Bonds | and was
subsequently measured at
amortised cost by applying
an effective interest rate after
considering the effect of the
transaction costs;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

TmREFRES &

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(a) Convertible Bonds |, Bonds |, and Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(3) Mandatory Early Redemption for

Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and

the Bonds Il — continued

(b)

In the opinion of the
Directors, the economic
characteristics and risks
of the mandatory early
redemption option of
the Convertible Bonds
| are closely related to
the host debt contract of
the Convertible Bonds I.
Therefore, the Company
did not account for the
mandatory early redemption
option separately; and

Equity component, which
is equal to the difference
between the net proceeds of
the Convertible Bonds | and
the fair value of the liability
component of the Convertible
Bonds | at issue date,
amounted to approximately
RMB84,000 (equivalent to
HK$103,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(a)

(iii)

Convertible Bonds |, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued

Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default — continued

(3)

Mandatory Early Redemption for
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and
the Bonds Il — continued

As mentioned above, the holders of
the Bonds I, the Bonds Il and the
Convertible Bonds | agreed to extend
the maturity for 1 year with effective
from 1 July 2019. As a result, the
outstanding amounts of the Bonds
| and the Bonds Il at 30 June 2019
were remeasured at amortised costs
by applying effective interest rates
(5.56% - 5.59%) after netting off the
extension costs of HK$8,550,000. On
the other hand, the liability and equity
components of the old Convertible
Bonds | amounted to approximately
HK$21,949,000 and HK$68,000
were derecognised respectively on
30 June 2019 with the liability and
equity components of the extended
Convertible Bonds | amounted to
approximately HK$23,057,000 and
HK$583,000 recognised respectively
on 1 July 2019 with the difference of
approximately HK$1,623,000 together
with extension cost of HK$360,000
recognised to profit or loss.

The estimate of fair value of the
extended Convertible Bonds | was
calculated by the independent external
valuer using binomial option pricing
model. The significant assumptions
and inputs used in computing the fair
value are based on the management'’s
best estimate. The fair value of the
extended Convertible Bonds | is
subject to the fundamental limitations
of the model and the uncertainties
of those significant assumptions
and inputs. Any change to those
assumptions and inputs may result
in changes in the fair value of the
convertible bonds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

26. TTERBEFKESF &

— continued
26(a)  Convertible Bonds I, Bonds I, and Bonds Il — continued 26(a) ABBESEBHFIRERFI-E
(iii) Convertible Bond Holder's Redemption Rights (iii) AREEFFEARENSETHZ
for Events of Default — continued 5 (o] ) — 48
(3) Mandatory Early Redemption for (3) of Il 17 508 [0 A AR (E 55
Convertible Bonds |, the Bonds | and IEFIRESRI-E
the Bonds Il — continued
Key assumptions and inputs adopted HEMEANEZERER
in the valuation are listed below: BWABURE T
Extended
Convertible
Bonds |
on 1 July 2019
R2019567818
BER
REL3E
Stock price (HK$) fRE (F7T) 8.15
Exercise price (HK$) 1TERE (BT) 7.2482
Expected volatility T8 H1R 18 56.011%
Risk-free rate 3 8 ) & 1.961
Dividend yield % B & 0%
Life of extended Convertible Bonds | BIERABRESRIZFH 1
The liability component of the BEERATBRRERVE
extended Convertible Bonds | was B DY ZRIE KB H
initially measured at fair value at date (BI2019F7A1H)Z R
of extension (i.e. 1 July 2019) and was REBEFE - BHEEKA
subsequently measured at amortised BB F &6.92 %1% # 4%
cost by applying an effective interest ARG E - Em D AA
rate 6.92%. The equity component BRESFINKEERS
being the difference between (B 3T A 2 ) B2 ] 42 AR
the outstanding principal of the EF I8 & F 35 12019
Convertible Bonds |, net of extension FITRAEMAREBEZ
cost, and the fair value of the liability W ZE%E Bt T AR
component of the Convertible Bonds Re
I on 1 July 2019 was recognised
accordingly.
26(b)  Convertible Bonds Il 26(b) ATRREFH

On 24 December 2015, the Company issued a five-
year zero coupon convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal of RMB1,500,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds
I1") to SkyOcean Investment. The issuance of the
Convertibles Bonds Il were for the settlement of certain
amount payable by the Group to SkyOcean Real Estate
(Qian'an) Co., Ltd., a company beneficially owned as to
80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng.

MR2016%F 128248 KA RA R #EITAL L
A AR®1,500,000,000 W AEHEEZS
2R EFH ([FIRRESH ) B RFER
B o BT A PRAE F 1 Ty o A5 {5 AN = (B JE A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(b)

Convertible Bonds Il — continued

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds Il at the date
of issuance was approximately RMB2,040,441,000,
consisting of liability component and equity
component of approximately RMB988,425,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,247,869,000) and
RMB1,052,016,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,328,152,000) respectively. The fair value of
the Convertible Bonds Il at the date of issuance in
excess of the amount due to SkyOcean Real Estate
(Qian'an) Co., Ltd., of approximately RMB540,441,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$682,298,000) was
accounted for as deemed distribution to the controlling
shareholder of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2015 since the debt restructuring above is a
transaction with shareholder of the Company.

The Convertible Bonds Il, constitute general,
unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Company and rank pari passu and
rateably without preference equally with all other
present and future unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Company.

The principal terms of the Convertible Bonds Il are as
follows:

(i) Conversion right

The holder of the Convertible Bonds Il has
the right to convert all or any part of the
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds Il
into ordinary shares of the Company at any
time from 24 December 2015 to 24 December
2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(b)  Convertible Bonds Il — continued

(i)

(ii)

Conversion right — continued

For the purpose of determining the number of
ordinary shares to be issued on conversion of
the Convertible Bonds Il, the relevant principal
of the Convertible Bonds Il to be converted
shall be translated from RMB to HK$ at
exchange rate of HK$1.2625:RMB1. The price at
which ordinary shares of the Company will be
issued upon conversion (the “Conversion Price
of Convertible Bonds I1") will initially be HK$6.8
per share, but will be subject to adjustment,
which in the opinion of the Directors, are all for
anti-dilutive purpose to protect the right of the
holders of the Convertible Bonds II.

Redemption

The Company may redeem at any time before
or upon the maturity date of Convertible Bonds
Il at 100% of all or any part of the principal
amount of the Convertible Bonds Il in respect
of which the conversion rights have not been
exercised by the holders of the Convertible
Bonds Il
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(b)

(iii)

Convertible Bonds Il — continued

Convertible Bonds Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default

Should any of the events of default set out in
the agreements of the Convertible Bonds Il
occurs, the holders of the Convertible Bonds Il

may elect to require the Company to redeem
the outstanding Convertible Bonds Il in full.

The total net proceeds received by the
Company from the issue of the Convertible

Bonds Il have been split between a liability

component and an equity component at initial

recognition as follows:

(1)

Liability component is initially
measured at fair value by independent
external valuer using the binomial tree
model, amounted to approximately
RMB988,425,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,247,869,000),
which represents the present value of
the contractually determined stream
of future cash flows discounted at
the prevailing market interest rate at
that time applicable to instruments of
comparable credit status and providing
substantially the same cash flows
with the Convertible Bonds Il and was
subsequently measured at amortised
cost by applying an effective interest
rate after considering the effect of the
transaction costs;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

26. TTERBEFKESF &

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26(b)  Convertible Bonds Il — continued

(iii) Convertible Bonds Holder's Redemption Rights

for Events of Default — continued

(2)

In the opinion of the Directors, the
economic characteristics and risks
of the early redemption option of
the Convertible Bonds Il are closely
related to the host debt contract of
the Convertible Bonds II. Therefore,
the Company did not account for the
early redemption option separately;
and

Equity component was determined
based on the valuation performed
by independent valuer using the
Binomial Option Model and recognised
as convertible bonds reserves until
extinguished on conversion or
redemption.

26(b) AIRREHI-E

(iii) ABREEFHEARBOEMHZ
e — &

(2)

BEER A REEOAR
A5 75 1140 12 2 4 2 4O
R R R B B R AR R
FIERETE & K% 8
Bt RAFLME
Bl i P E R EE
&

A HREBIAE
MR A —EA B EE
BRETZHEEE M
EHSHEER A RRE
FREBEENERNKER
By 48 1

Annual Report 2019 “F%§

255



256

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS
— continued

26(b)

Convertible Bonds Il — continued

(iii)

Convertible Bonds Holder's Redemption Rights
for Events of Default — continued

Pursuant to an agreement entered between
SkyOcean Investment and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018
in respect of sales of the Company's entire
equity interest of its subsidiary to SkyOcean
Investment, the consideration was satisfied
by SkyOcean Investment transferring to the
Company, and the Company buying-back
and cancelling, an aggregate of 172,663,070
ordinary shares of the Company held by
SkyOcean Investment upon the conversion of
principal of RMB930,000,000 the Convertible
Bonds Il into the Company’s ordinary shares
and to be transferred to the Company. Upon
conversion, the liability component and equity
component of approximately HK$879,073,000
and HK$823,122,000 were derecognised
respectively, and accordingly, share capital
and share premium of approximately
HK$17,266,000 and HK$1,684,929,000 were
recognised respectively. This resulted in
172,663,070 new ordinary shares issued for
cancellation.

In addition, SkyOcean Investment has
exercised its right to convert certain
Convertible Bonds Il with principal of
RMB120,000,000 into ordinary shares of the
Company during the year ended 31 December
2018. Upon conversion, the liability component
and equity component of approximately
HK$115,086,000 and HK$106,209,000
were derecognised respectively, and
accordingly, share capital and share premium
of approximately HK$2,228,000 and
HK$219,067,000 were recognised respectively.
This resulted in 22,279,106 new ordinary
shares issued.
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26.

IRRESRES &

26(b)

AR E S

(iii)

ABRRESHEAREOSMHZ
BRI — &

BEXFEREHEAQAARE R
2018F12A31 A L FEF A K F
BELERARRENER AR
EHRET LB E RETDS
RAEZREBAARAERE MARQ
AIEEREFHRFRENERS
% 5 AR #930,000,0007T.2 AJ #
REHFNERARARLBRE
BAETEEETARARNARA]
4 #£172,663,070/% @ A% H9 /5 =X
w14 o B E 35 £879,073,000/5
7T R A 5 569 823,122,00058 7T 5
BIREREER LR Bt
% 7N 4917,266,0007% 7T & B% 19 )i
{81,684,929,0005% 7T 71 9 Bl 4
R B E 1% % 17172,663,070/%
B AR A R4S o

AN R E E2018F12 8318 1E
FE RFARECITHELENE
&8 A AR 120,000,0007T 2
ETABmBRESNEBRAEKRDF
Tk B &3 4115,086,000
75 7T K 4 25 569> 106,209,000 7T
RERE D RIRKIEER Bt
[ AN 492,228,000/ 7T K B 15 3 (B
219,067,000/ 7T 71 73 Bl #% #E 58 -
B H 15 % 1722,279,106 % F1 &
R o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS 26. TTERBEFKESF &
— continued
The movements of the above bonds and FiEHRABRKRESAMETE 2
convertible bonds for both years are set out ;T
below:
Liability  Liability
component component
of of
Bonds I and Convertible Convertible
Bonds Il Bonds | Bonds Il Total
BHIR WRREF TRRES
el &R BESS @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET T FAEL
At 1 January 2018 #201851 818 713,852 23,728 1,398,763 2,136,343
Interest charged MEZH 78,414 2,202 110,466 191,082
Interest paid BRFE (58,217) (2,040) - (60,257)
Conversion of Convertible Bonds I E#a[# % & %I - - (994,159) (994,159)
Redemption of Bonds I BOEH (70,000) - - (70,000)
Exchange realignment A% (689) (1,266) (79,864) (81,819)
At 31 December 2018 and 2018512318 &

1 January 2019 20191818 663,360 22,624 435,206 1,121,190
Interest charged MEXH 67,744 2,662 37712 108,118
Interest paid BAHE (57:830) (2,438) - (60,268)
Redemption of Bonds | BEEH (110,000) - - (110,000)
Transaction costs on extension of ~ ERABKREFNEHZ

convertible bonds RHHA

and bonds (8,550) (360) - (8,910)
Extension of the Convertible Bonds | R A BB ES - 1,108 - 1,108
Exchange realignment IE 5 & 639 (84) (10,808) (10,253)
At 31 December 2019 5201912431 B 555,363 23512 462,110 1,040,985
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND BONDS

— continued

26.

The principal terms of the outstanding convertible
bonds at the end of reporting period is

summarised below:

Convertible Bonds |

IRRESRES &

RS IR RITEARAREZ A £ Z K
ST :

Convertible Bonds Il

TRRES TRREHI
2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 20184 2019 20185
Principal & RMBA R RMBARH RMBA R # RMBARE
19,680,000  19,680,0007t 450,000,000  450,000,0007C
HK$24,000,000 HK$24,000,000 HK$568,125,000 HK$568,125,000
BT B BT B
Coupon rate ZE 9.5% 8.5% Nil & Nil 2
Conversion price BIRE HK$7.2482% 70 HK$12i8 T HK$6.8% T HK$6.87% 7T
Maximum potential no. of MaERTETROH 3,311,166 2,000,000 83,545,601 83,545,601

shares to be issued
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB RR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E
27. DEFERRED TAX 27. EEFIE
The movement for the year in the Group's net AEERELERIBAEFERFEAN 2 EE
deferred tax liabilities was as follows: Dk

Fair value change on
investment properties/
properties under development
for sale transferred from
investment properties

REME EREREVEN

BRPFEVECIAEEED

2019 2018

20194 20184

NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5 THET T

At beginning of the RIS BT

reporting period (502,256) (389,156)
Charge to profit or loss FFAEE 9 (22,899) (159,738)

Exchange realignment M H AR 11,506 46,638

At the end of the REREHR

reporting period (513,649) (502,256)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from: NTEBEEEZABRELEHBEE:

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET T

PRC income tax losses HE FT IS H B 18 332,314 289,283
As it is not probable that future taxable profits R R AT 88 B AR SR B AR B A AT A R
will be available against which the deductible BHEAEBE 2R EREZ LKA
temporary differences and the unused tax HIEEE QI ERERREERIEEE R
losses of the Group can be utilised, deferred tax BIROTRE AR EREETSEIH-

assets have not been recognised. The deductible
temporary differences do not expire under the
current tax legislation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

217.

DEFERRED TAX - continued

The expiry of unrecognised PRC income tax
losses is as follows:

EEBIE - &
RHER2 P PS5 18 10 B B 10 10
T

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

TE T T T

31 December 2019 2019412 A31H - 41,531
31 December 2020 202012 A31H 72,192 77302
31 December 2021 2021912 A31H 42,620 42,744
31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 31,019 33,290
31 December 2023 2023%12A31H 92,216 94,416
31 December 2024 202412 A31H 94,267 -
332,314 289,283

At 31 December 2019, the Group had tax
losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$335,652,000 (2018: approximately
HK$227,173,000), subject to finalisation of the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the Hong Kong subsidiaries.

No deferred tax liabilities for undistributed profits
of the PRC subsidiaries have been recognised
as Directors are of the opinion that there is no
plan of dividend distribution out of the PRC in
the foreseeable future. At 31 December 2019,
the aggregate undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiaries was approximately HK$1,188,548,000
(2018: approximately HK$1,135,557,000) with
corresponding unrecognised deferred tax
liabilities amounted to HK$59,427,000 (2018:
HK$56,778,000).
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R2019F 12A310  AEBREBELEZ
T3 75 548 49 /335,652,000 7T (20184
#9227173,000% 7T) (BB EHBERHE
) - ATER BB KR BB AR 2 K
RIERTBRF o

HRNEERAWETE R R EREH
Bl o REEE - At W ERZE R RN B
NAZAD KR MNERELERIBEF-

R2019F 12A31H F BB G 2 KD
IR 3% K| 4858 49 /1,188,548,0007% 7T (2018
F 1 491,135,557000/8 7T ) * 1B IE 2 K HER
IR AL R T8 & (& 559,4270007% 7T (20184 :

56,778,000 7T ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB RR M
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E
SHARE CAPITAL 28. A
2019 2018
20195 20185
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
EEREE TER LRREE TET
Authorised: BE:
At beginning and end of RBEBRDNREBR
the reporting period
Ordinary shares of BREE0.108TZ
HK$0.10 each Lidlk 3,000,000,000 300,000 3,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
At beginning of the R B )
reporting period
Ordinary shares of BREE0.108TZ
HK$0.10 each L@k 285,490,845 28,550 263,211,739 26,322
Shares issued upon BRESRETRN
conversion of bonds - - 194,942,176 19,494
Repurchase of shares EOkH - - (172,663,070) (17.266)
At end of the RBEHR
reporting period
Ordinary shares of EREE0.10E T2
HK$0.10 each ZER 285,490,845 28,550 285,490,845 28,550

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
194,942,176 new ordinary shares were issued
upon conversion of certain Convertible Bonds I,
of which 172,663,070 shares were repurchased
and cancelled (note 26(b)).

HE2018F12A31A L FE  ReEElE T
A 2 1% 8 51105 25 17194,942, 176 % 37 L 38
[i% + B FR172,663,0708% f% 19 T LABE B & 7
5 (BtzE26(00) ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

29.

SHARE OPTION

The Group adopted a share option scheme on 29
November 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is (i)
to closely align the interests of the Directors
and senior executives of the Company with the
Company's performance and strategic objectives,
so as to lay a foundation for the Company's
future development and maximise shareholder
value, and (ii) to attract, retain and motivate key
personnel to achieve the Company’'s strategic
objectives by providing them with compensation
that is as a whole competitive in the talent
market.

The specific eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme (“Eligible Participants”) shall
be determined by the board of directors of
the Company (“Board of Directors”) at its sole
discretion, and such determination shall be
interpreted by the Board of Directors. Subject
to the discretion of the Board of directors, the
eligible participants shall belong to any of the
following classes:

(i) executive Directors, independent non-
executive directors and senior executives
of the Company who are responsible
for the decision-making, operation
and management of the Company as
determined by the Board of Directors; and

(ii) any other groups or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute to
the development of the Group including but
not limited to the qualified persons.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board
of Directors is authorised by the general meeting
to exercise discretion in determining, among
others, the grant date, the eligible participants
under the Share Option Scheme and the quantity
of share options to be granted. The Board of
Directors has the authority to determine the
conditions for the eligible participants to be
granted the share options.
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29.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

SHARE OPTION - continued

The option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any
time during their respective exercisable period
which would be determined and notified by the
Board of Directors to the grantee at the time of
making an offer.

4,928,676 share options with exercise price
HK$8.18 per share were granted to certain
directors and employees on 11 December 2018
("Grant Date”). These share options with vesting
periods from 11 December 2018 to 10 December
2022 were exercisable from the end of each
vesting periods up to 29 November 2028.

29.

(a) No share options were exercised during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, and no share options were granted
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Details of the share options at the end of

the reporting period are as follows:

BRE-E

BRRHE AR SR BRAR AT BRI R SR
BEITHEEM (MES R BONET
RAEGAEA) PBERFTHE o

4,928,67617 B I HER20185F 12 A1 A ([1%
L HHB]DIZETEESRSISELETET
EENEE - ZEHE BESAB2018
F12811B 220229128108 B &R B
B4R R AR H 22028411 A29H A] F17(F »

(@) H 220195 M20185F 12 A31H IE4F
e AR e 1T (F - R E2019
F12ANBILEFEMER L ER
Mo

RS BRI 2 IR T -

Date of Vesting Exercisable Exercise price
grant period period per share Number of share options
R AH HEH TEH SROTEE BREYA
2019 2018
2019% 20184
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 902,905 1,224,452
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
2018%F 127118 2018F12A11HE 2019F12A11HE 8.18% T
2019124108 202811 A298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 902,905 1,224,452
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
2018%F 127118 2018F12A1MEE 2020F12A11EZ 8188 T
2020128108 2028F 11 A29H
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 902,904 1,224,452
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
2018F12A11H 2018%12A1MBE 2021E12811BE 8.18% T
20215128108 2028F11A29H
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 902,904 1,224,451
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
2018F12A11H 2018F12A11EE 2022F12A1MBZE 8.18% T
20226128108 2028% 11 H29H
3,611,618 4897807
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

29. SHARE OPTION - continued 29.

(b) The cost of the share options granted were
estimated using the Black-Scholes model
by independent external valuer with the
following parameters:

Share price at Grant Date HK$8.10

Exercise price HK$8.18

Fair value at Grant Date HK$3.55
Expected Option life 8.42 t0 8.91 years
Expected volatility 40%

Expected Dividend yield 0%

Risk-free interest rate 1.939%

based on the yields of
the 2-year Exchange
Fund Notes

Total fair value of the share options at
Grant Date amounted to approximately
HK$17472,000. The non-cash share-based
payments recognised for the year ended
31 December 2019 are approximately
HK$8,818,000 (2018: HK$496,000).
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BRE-&

(b)

B BB 2 PR AN R B L SR d
BEIERAIA T 28328 N — 476
HTiR AU fh 5t

BB ER(E 8.10% T
IERE 8.18% 7T
REBHBAAEBME 35548
T8 A B2 P 4 F 1 8.42E8.914F

8 B % 18 40%

B H R B % 0%

B W F HR AN EE 1.939%
HeEBhaky

ERERH &

REHBHBRE s A EERE
#3/517472,000/8 7T ° FAEL £20199F
12A31 8 IEFEERRIER © AR
10 BERER N 3849 48,818,0007% 7T
(20184F : 496,000/ 7T ) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

- = —
29. SHARE OPTION - continued 29 BEBRE-&
(c)  Details of the movement of the share (©) EREERE FBFEOT:
options granted is as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZ2019F12A31H L EE
Number of shares issuable under the share options
BREETIRTNRAEE
Reclassification
of
category Exercised Forfeited
Exercise price 1January  Grant during during during during 31 December
Category Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share 2019 the year the year the year the year 2019
0195 EREH W95
#l REAE L i) SREE 1818 FhEE Eipik] ERfTR ER&H 12A318
Directors 11 December 2018 11 December 20180 10 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 113,185 - - - (15,435) 97750
December 2019 29 November 2028
j & 218F12A18 8E12AMAZ 2912818 E 818%T
2019F12A10R 20085114298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 113,185 - - - (15,434) 97751
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
218F12A1A BEI2ANAZ 00512818F 8.18%T
20205128108 2028118298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 113,184 - - - (15,434) 97750
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
2018512818 WI8ENANAZ N21512R18F 8187
021%12A108 2008117298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 113,184 - - - (15,434) 97750
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
201812818 BE12ANAZ N0F12R1EE 818%T
20225128108 20085114298
452,138 - - - 61,737) 391,001
Employees 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 1,111,268 - - - (306,113 805,155
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
] 2018512818 WI8ENANAZ 01951281182 81857
2019512A108 2008117298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 1,111,267 - - - (306,113) 805,154
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
201812818 8E12ANAZ 00512818Z 818%T
20205124108 20085114298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 1,111,267 - - - (306,113) 805,154
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
218F12A1A BEI2ANAZ 01E1RNBE 8.18%T
0215128108 228511 A298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 1,111,267 - - - (306,113) 805,154
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
2018512818 WI8EANAZ N0E1NRNEE 81857
2020%12A108 2008117298
4,445,069 - - - (1,224,452) 3,220,617
4,897807 - - - 1,286,189) 3,611,618

The weighted average exercise price of the
share options is HK$8.18.

BRER I 1T EE /8188
JG e
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

29. SHARE OPTION - continued 29 BEBRE-E&

(c) Details of the movement of the share () ERNERE FBEFENT
options granted is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ2018F12A31H L FE

Number of shares issuable under the share options
BREBTTETORASE

Reclassification
of
category Exercised Forfeited
Exercise price  Grant during during during during 31 December
Category Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share the year the year the year the year 2019
ERER 2195
B RiHBE BEH T8 BROEE ERRL Eipps] ERTR ERER 12A318
Directors 11 December 2018 11 December 2018 to 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 113,185 - - - 113,185
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
E% 218512818 21851281182 01951281182 8187
20195127108 2028511298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018t0 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 113,185 - - - 113,185
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
2185128118 WIBF12A11BE 020512ANBE 8.18% T
20205124108 2028% 115298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018t0 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 113,184 - - - 113,184
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
20185128118 2185128118 E 01512ANMBE 818
2021512108 2028F115298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018t0 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 113,184 - - - 113,184
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
20185125118 WIBENANAE 020F12A1MBE 818
2022512108 20285118298
452,738 - - - 452,738
Employees 11 December 2018 11 December 2018t0 11 December 2019 to HK$8.18 1,118,986 - - (7718 1,111,268
10 December 2019 29 November 2028
B8 2185128118 WIBF12A11BE 2019F128118E 81837
2019127108 2028% 115298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018to 11 December 2020 to HK$8.18 1,118,984 - - (1717 1,111,267
10 December 2020 29 November 2028
20185125118 WI8F12811BE 2020512A1MBE 818
20205124108 2028F115298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018t0 11 December 2021 to HK$8.18 1,118,984 - - (7m7) 1,111,267
10 December 2021 29 November 2028
20185125118 WIBENANAE 021512AMBE 8.I8ET
2021512A108 20285118298
11 December 2018 11 December 2018t0 11 December 2022 to HK$8.18 1,118,984 - - 7717) 1,111,267
10 December 2022 29 November 2028
2185128118 WIBF12A1NAE 020512ANBE 8.18% T
20225128108 2028% 115298
4,475,938 - - (30869) 4,445,069
4,928,676 - - (30,869) 4,897807
The weighted average exercise price of the IEIR R I 91T (B A8.18%8
share options was HK$8.18. JT°
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS/ 3. REMEEHAE KRURBER
MATURITY ANALYSIS OF MHEIEAH 27
UNDISCOUNTED LEASE PAYMENTS
AS LESSOR EHEHEA
The investment properties held by the Group for AEBFBBEHERSE ZIREMEZHEP
rental purpose have committed tenants for three FEAHA=ZEAZT=F HPXF»
months to thirteen years of which majority are HEzHeREFEHES
with fixed rental.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group R EER  AEERBE T RELEE
had contracted with tenants for the following TR 4T 2 R AR EEF 508 M R B
future minimum lease payments under non- REERNFHEBELITOT
cancellable operating leases and maturity analysis
of undiscounted lease payments:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
Year 1 14 28,652 34,479
Year 2 24 34,222 37833
Year 3 3F 28,510 31,860
Year 4 44 16,206 24,490
Year b 54 10,359 9,213
After year 5 5F 1% 36,567 26,193
154,516 164,068
COMMITMENTS 31, AR
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Development expenditure THIEE v ERMAX:
in respect of:
Investment properties "EYE 278,421 648,952
Properties under BRPEEME
development for sale 1,307,593 1,001,490
Property, plant and equipment WE BB k&E 117,973 126,951
1,703,987 393
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AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

32.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. HBEEE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
Mortgage loan guarantees REBAEEPMEITRME
provided by the Group to banks I B ERER (M)
in favour of its customers (note) 269,954 343,924

Note:

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of
the financial guarantee contracts of the Group
are insignificant at initial recognition, taking into
consideration the possibility of default by the relevant
buyers and, in case of default in payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can recover
the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalty. The
Group measures loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL in accordance with HKFRS 9, and when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. No provision has been made
in these consolidated financial statements for these
guarantees.
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees
in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% (2018:
5%) of the employee’s basic salary with the
maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per month
(2018: HK$1,500 per month). The obligation of
the Group with respect to MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contributions payable in future years.
The Group's contributions to the MPF Scheme of
HK$187000 (2018: HK$202,000) are charged to
profit or loss.

The employees of the Company’'s PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Company’'s PRC subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their employees’ payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme which
are calculated based on 20% (2018: 20%) of
the employee’s basic salaries during the vyear.
The Group's contributions to the PRC retirement
benefits scheme of HK$4,194,000 (2018:
HK$6,854,000) are charged to profit or loss.

33.

EBEENKRER

AEEBAEMEEBREZMARIENTE
SETEI([8TEEFTE]) B FTEITIR
BRmIMABES I EEG a s EATES
TEEERER A TEMEERANE
EEENH ABUITALHNESE
B RERBESFEIEN  BEREESR
D REEBEANEH S H5% (2018F :5% )
Mo RSt EEHET BR LR ASA
1,500/ 7T (20184 : & A 1,500/ ) ° A&
EYaESr NS TR BERESTE
VEH AT T8 f 3K o 2 U 2 A 51 AT BB A 40
BARFERMNOHER - AEENBRES
5T 2 £ 5%1870007% 7T (20184 : 202,000/
J0) BB -

KARIFREWBEARZEE AP EBTE
EZ BREBRKBFIFTEIZ K E - AAF
FENBARERBREEG®ZAETES
FE AR RAE FIET IR DA S @ Hl) o AR5
EEBERAREMNFEZH—EE2 BIE
FZETEWEL TR S HREEIIREES
RERNERG S 220% (20185 : 20% ) &t
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34.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Disposal of Sophie USA Holdings Limited
(“Sophie USA") and its subsidiaries (“Sophie
Group”)

On 31 May 2019, COMB+ Technology Holdings
Limited (“COMB+ Technology”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and TA
Apartment Fund Ill LLC (“TA Apartment”), an
independent third party incorporated in the United
States, entered into a share transfer agreement
(the “Share Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to
which COMB+ Technology agreed to sell, and
TA Apartment agreed to purchase the entire
issued share capital of Sophie USA, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of COMB+ Technology,
who owns 100% and 90% of equity interest
of Sophie USA Holdings, INC. (“Sophie INC.")
and 17422 Derian Irvine LLC (17422 Derian
Irvine”) respectively, at a total consideration
of US$27,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$209,250,000) (the “Transaction”). 17422
Derian Irvine is engaged in properties
development in the United States.

Upon the completion of the Transaction on 4 July
2019, Sophie USA, Sophie INC. and 17422 Derian
Irvine ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had received
consideration amounting to US$18,900,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$143,268,000)
in aggregate with the remaining consideration
amounting to approximately US$8,100,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$65,982,000) fully
received in January and February 2020.
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HEM B QT
BZEZ20195 128318 L EE

i £Sophie USA Holdings Limited
(I'Sophie USA | ) R M B 2 7
(T'SophiefE @ ])

201955 A31H ARG B2 E S
2 A]COMB+ Technology Holdings Limited
([COMB+ Technology J ) EETA Apartment
Fund Il LLC ([TA Apartment ] * R EEH
EMAT N BLE =) MRS EE
e ((RmERBZE]) R It COMB+
Technology[@ & & * M TA Apartment[d
& I B Sophie USA (COMB+ Technology
WEEZENBAR) 22BEETR
AN 5N B9 B A Sophie USA Holdings,
INC. ([Sophie INC. ]) 17422 Derian Irvine
LLC ([17422 Derian Irvine J)100% £90%
R4 - 48 X {8 527000,000E 7T (AEE A4
209,250,000/ 7T) ([RXFHFEIE]) ° 17422
Derian Irvine A E Bt B W) SR 5 o

M2019F7 H4B 2 5 FIE 7T A 1& * Sophie
USA - Sophie INC.}217422 Derian Irvine™
BAKRT M B AR 2019612831
A - ANEE DA HUENRE 18,900,000 T
(HHE R #1143,268,000/ 7T ) » FILHREL
8,100,0003% 7T ( #8& 4 4165,982,000/% 7T )
720201 A K2 A 7B EUER
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES - continued  34.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
— continued

Disposal of Sophie USA Holdings Limited
(“Sophie USA") and its subsidiaries (“Sophie

Group”) - continued

HEM B QR - &

BZ2019512A3MBLLFEE-&

i &£Sophie USA Holdings Limited

([Sophie USA 1) R E i B 2 7]

([SophiefE@E]) —#&

HK$'000
FHET
Properties under development for sale BRPGEME 326,203
Bank balances and cash RITEHRLIAS 1,547
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 R E A E 5RI8 RIERNIA (22,524)
Amounts due to related parties &S RA R A 3B (4,445)
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMES
— due within one year —A—F N E|H (83,040)
Net assets disposed of EREEEFREAE 217,741
Non-controlling interest in Sophie USA 7 Sophie USAZ FE 2 i 14 # 2 (849)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HMBRRZEE (7,642)
Consideration RIE 209,250
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary: HE&—fEKH B AR Z
WEMATFRE
Cash consideration received BWEERE 143,268
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of B BEHERTEHRERS (1,547)
141,721
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34.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Disposal of Fusion Link International Limited
(“Fusion Link”)

On 13 September 2018, the Company and
SkyOcean Investment entered into an agreement
(the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Company conditionally agreed
to dispose of, and SkyOcean Investment
conditionally agreed to purchase, the entire
issued share capital of Fusion Link, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which
indirectly owns 58% effective equity interest
in SkyOcean Tangshan. SkyOcean Tangshan
is engaged in the properties development in
Qian'an, the PRC.

In accordance to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the consideration should be
satisfied by SkyOcean Investment transferring
to the Company, and the Company buying-back
and cancelling, an aggregate of 172,663,070
ordinary shares of the Company held by
SkyOcean Investment upon the conversion
of the aggregated principal amount of
RMB1,050,000,000 of the Convertible Bonds Il
(note 26(b)) into the Company’s shares and to be
transferred to the Company.

Upon the completion of the transaction on 15
November 2018, Fusion Link ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Company. The Group, through
SkyOcean United held 51% equity interests of
SkyOcean Tangshan, represented 42% effective
equity interests attributable to the owners of the
Company.
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES - continued  34.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
— continued

Disposal of Fusion Link International Limited

HEM B QR - &

BZ2018F12ANBLLFEE-&

HERBERERAR (TME]) —&

(“Fusion Link”) - continued
2018
2018%F
HK$'000
T
Property, plant and equipment YE BB REE 1,152
Investment properties WA 1,027,144
Other long-term asset HEthREIEE 6,371
Properties under development for sale ERPGEME 887,248
Completed properties held for sale BERTIHFEME 228,618
Trade receivables B 5 eI FRIR 8,461
Other receivables, deposits and E b EUWGRIE - 12 TR
prepayments 1,914,896
Other current asset HEibmE&E 3,778
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LA S 3,192
Trade, other payables and accruals %%&Eﬁﬁfﬁ K18 N TE IR (639,144)
Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEE (986,056)
Contract liabilities BRAEE (6,924)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE (97.984)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE 2,350,752
Consideration received B E 1,385,939
Net assets disposed of: EREEEFE:
Net asset at the date of disposal REERBRZEEFE (2,350,752)
Fair value of remaining interest ﬁﬁuﬂﬁ’j MEaEatENBRTERZ
recognised as a joint venture NAEE 1,189,149
Non-controlling interest in SkyOcean United A KFEREA 2 FE12 Hl M #E % (215,782)
Gain on disposal (note) & e (B aE) 8,554
Net cash outflows arising from disposal: HEEANRSTLFRE:
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHERTEHRNIAS 3,192

Notes:

B 5L -

(i)

(ii)

The allotment and issue of an aggregate of 172,663,070
the Company's shares for cancellation took place in
three tranches on 12 November 2018, 13 November
2018 and 14 November 2018, respectively. The
consideration of the transaction which was determined
by the fair value of these shares based on their
market price on their cancellation dates amounted
to HK$1,385,939,000. The excess of the net assets
disposed over the consideration amounted to
HK$8,554,000 was recognised as other reserve as
deemed contribution to SkyOcean Investment.

Gain on disposal of SkyOcean Tangshan was accounted
for as deemed contribution to SkyOcean Investment
and recognised to other reserve for the year ended 31
December 2018.

(i)

(ii)

Bio 8 & %174 $£172,663,0700 A A

D UAHEITEEE H EIJﬁA2018¢11)El125
201811 A13H &2018F 11 A148 5 = #t
ET - RHGREDBEFHZERNBH
ZER D M ™ (E1,385,939,000/8 T ik &
NABEEEE-BEHELAESFEBLRE
8,554,000/ ST iER A E AL - RIEMRK
FREEE -

PERFE LB KENEZE2018F12A4
MMBLEFEARIARERRFEREE
B WREAREEDER
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35.

36.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES 3. EXEREEBEHRRKBEE
AND OBJECTIVES
The Group manages its capital to ensure that REBERERNUARRAEBET TR
entities in the Group will be able to continue as WIFECEER RREBE(CERELE
a going concern while maximising the return to BAREEHE AT REKNE R HBEF
owners of the Group through the optimisation of B REEZ BRI T E -
the debt and equity balances. The Group's overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net REB 2 EREHEHFEBAK  BIER
debt, which includes bank and other borrowings, TREMEER AT ESRES (M
convertible bonds and bonds, as disclosed in 25260 BIFTHEE)  BEHREERIASE
notes 25 and 26 respectively, net of cash and BMARKTAGEE AR (BEE
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners BITIRAREE) °
of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.
The Directors review the capital structure on a EETHENENEE (EAZERNAEF
regular basis. As part of this review, the Directors —IR EFERENKAREZEERIE
consider the cost of capital and the risks FR - IRIFESERES  AEEBEE
associated with each class of capital. Based on BT BT R IR 1B B DA R BE A TR B 7% B
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will ERREERSBREE N EBER -
balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. #@MIA
(A) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL (A) ST EZHERA
INSTRUMENTS
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Financial assets THMEE
Loans and receivables/ BAR NS H
Financial assets at o4 30 &Ny =g
amortised cost THEE
Trade receivables B 5 MW FIA 4,833 10,475
Other receivables H th & 5K I8 83,366 24,004
Amounts due from related FE U BE BSE R B FRIB
companies 634,833 890,586
Pledged bank deposits BEHEMBITER - 930
Bank balances and cash RITEBRNIES 40,980 185,545
764,012 1,111,540
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 3. sRMITAE-&
(A) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL (A) ERMIBE2EB-&
INSTRUMENTS - continued
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Financial liabilities EWmas
Financial liabilities R K K S R
at amortised cost THEE
Trade and bills payables 2 S ENFRIARENFEE 614,303 717,394
Other payables and accruals  E b fE{f 508 M IEIZ KB 90,629 88,530
Amounts due to & 1~ B3 B 8 B FRIE
related companies 1,088,762 1,098,050
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 3,983,034 3,968,634
Convertible bonds and bonds ~ A[# % & % & (& % 1,040,985 1,121,190
Lease liabilities HEBE 4,143 -
6,821,856 6,993,798
(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B) BEEREEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments
include trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, amounts due from/to related
companies, bank balances and cash,
pledged bank deposits, trade payables,
other payables and accruals, lease
liabilities, bank and other borrowings and
convertible bonds and bonds. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with
the Group’s financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below.

FEENTECHTIABREESRE
WORIR ~ Bt RURIR S &~ FEUR
/RIS AR R B RRIA - RITAERR
R CHEMRTER RN
I8~ Bt AR R IRRSUR A
BE - RITREMEBEERATREE
HFhEF MEFEMTAZFHED
BN S EAREE - EAKE 2B
TAMBzREREeRM SRR ('
BRERENERR) FEERE R
R - RIEZERR 2 BERER
X
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(B)  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that
the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. With the
majority of the Group's businesses
transacted in RMB and HK$, the
aforesaid currencies are determined
as the functional currencies of the
Company and some subsidiaries
respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries
have foreign currency in bank
deposits, amounts due from/
to related parties/subsidiaries,
prepayments and other receivables,
other payables and bonds, which
expose them to foreign currency
risk.

The net carrying amounts of the
Group's and inter-company foreign

3. TMIA-&
(B) HXEMTEEERKE &

™5 E R
(i) EEmEE

SINEE [\ FE 2 it T LA RE X
HHEUNEENB AR -
HRARE RO EBERS
UIARERETET B L
AME W B SUE RARE]
RETHBABZIEE
W o

AR E N EH B R BES A
THNEIRE RITF B
W FEfT AR AL P
BIFIR - BN R R A
Wk IR ~ B A A R I (B
7 BZRE SN g -

RI|ERR AEE R AT
RANEEECEREE

currency denominated monetary (BE)ZEEFENT:

assets (liabilities) at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT FET

Us$ ETT 115,764 240,990

RMB AR (55,735) (79,890)

HK$ BT (622,859) (671,658)

In addition, amounts due from certain
subsidiaries that are considered as
part of the Group’s net investment
in foreign operations and are
denominated in HK$, at the end
of the reporting period, amounted
to approximately HK$383,959,000
(2018: HK$383,959,000).
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES — continued

Market risk — continued

(B)

(i)

Currency risk — continued

The Group manages the foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring
the movements of the foreign
currency rate.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to
RMB and HKS$. The following table
details the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and
decrease in certain functional
currencies against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% (2018:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management
personnel and represents
management's assessment of
the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rate. The
sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% (2018:
5%) change in foreign currency rate.
A positive number below indicates
a decrease in loss or an increase in
profit for the year where functional
currencies strengthen 5% (2018:
5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2018: 5%)
weakening of functional currencies
against the relevant foreign
currencies, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit
and loss for the year.

3. €@MITARE-&
(B) HB¥EMTEEERKE &

™5 E B —

(i)

Amme—E
A EB BTSN E
=2 B ERIVEER -

BEED
TEETEEHARE RS
JUEBS o TR FF LA EE T
AT ERE K ABRINE 2
5% (20184 : 5% ) FHEMEZ
B2 BRSE ° 5% (20184 :
5% ) BREZEEABRNI
HwEINER R ATRSEE
EoWRREEEHERS
IR ] BB B 2 AT - U
DITEBFEAINEHE 2 &
BEEBIEE  UTHAREH
REFFREER 25% (20184F :
5% ) FBAEEME S
TX#ESI 2 EEIREEEES
HIERESNEE FHEB % (2018
F:5%)ERT FEEIE
R SR Z 3G 0 - (W)
B E N RRE N B2 (B5%
(20184F : 5% ) " QIS HFE
BaEEREMERZY
25
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 3. $TMIR-&
(B)  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B) HEREKMEEEERBKKX-E

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued

Market risk — continued

(i) Currency risk — continued (i)

Sensitivity analysis — continued

Decrease (increase) in loss/
(Decrease) increase in profit

™5 E b — &

Empg—&
BREDNT &

Decrease in other
comprehensive income

BERY (%M,

A G4 ) B HitGREWER D
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 2018%F 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR THET
US$ e (5,157) (10,491) - -
RMB ARE 2,326 3,335 - -
HK$ BT 26,004 28,041 (16,030) (16,030)
23,173 20,885 (16,030) (16,030)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES — continued

Market risk — continued

(B)

(i)

Fair value and cash flow interest
rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate on bank deposits and
bank borrowings carried at prevailing
market interest rates based on or
by reference to the interest rates
promulgated by the People’s Bank
of China. Fixed rate bank and other
borrowings and convertible bonds
and bonds expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. During the
year, the Group did not hedge its
fair value and cash flow interest rate
risk. Interest rate risk is managed
by the management on an ongoing
basis with the primary objective
of limiting the extent to which net
interest expense could be affected
by adverse movements in interest
rates.

The Group's cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of the interest rate
of variable-rate bank deposits and
bank and other borrowings. The
sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank deposits
and bank and other borrowings at
the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2018: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel
and represents management'’s
assessment of the effect from
possible change in interest rates.

3. €@MITARE-&
(B) HB¥EMTEEERKE &

™ 45 B by — 8

(i)

KR EBEREZREFE
= B
RRRTTERMIRITREER
RIS EGF L M7
MENEDRIERSEHE
ARSBITHEMEOFEEE
HIL A K ERRITER IR
TTIEERITM SN R KB
MARBE S RENKER -
ERBRITREMERRAH
Pl REFEAR R E AR
RIEEMNERER-FA-
AEBEWEEPEARER
RBEREN AR - EHE
EREEEN AR B2
BRERBIFIR 2 A H &
AJBESNF N B RSB 2 7
.,

AEEZ RS RENERR
FBEARZERITFEIA
KARTT REMEE 2 FIKE
&) o N X2 BUEE DT TR
EHREBRBITERALIR
TREMEEZFERBE
FEoRENDMEAEZBR
B RBESHRRESZS
MTESHEREBEFEY X
B o _EFFsk T FEB0ME HE 25
(20184F : 5OMEA &2 ) AWM E
BEIRA BAZBREFER
SRFTASREL R TARK
BREEBEFENED 5
27T
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued

Market risk — continued

(ii) Fair value and cash flow interest
rate risk — continued

If the interest rates had been
50 basis points (2018: 50 basis
points) higher or lower and all
other variables were held constant,
the Group's loss (2018: profit) for
the year would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$11,903,000
(2018: decrease/increase by
HK$12,907,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of each of the reporting period,
the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on each
individual trade and other receivables at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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BB —
%%u%t%aw&mga
(20184 : BOfEE2h) - i F
BEHMBHBFTTE A&
B F A EE (20184 /@ )
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7T (20184 @ R 48 hn
12,907000/8 7T ) °

FERBRHERG
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FERR (AHFHAREETEE
Mg AR EELRPEER)IRE
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36. €RIE-&

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment
- continued

The Group does not have significant
concentration of credit risk with exposure
spread over a number of counter parties
and customers.

Based on the ECL assessment, the credit
exposures for all the financial assets
(including trade and other receivables
and deposits, amount due from related
companies, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances), which are subject to
ECL assessment, are considered as low
risk because the counterparties have a
low risk of default and does not have
material past due amounts. During the
year, no loss allowance for these amounts
was recognised for the Group (2018:
approximately HK$6,000) (Note 19).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk analysis

The following table details the Group's
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group
is required to pay. The maturity dates for
other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. In
addition, the following table details the
Group's liquidity analysis for its derivative
financial instruments.

The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the
interest rate at the end of the reporting
period.

(B)

MEREEEERBK-&
EE R R &R E T - &

AEERYESREREERR M
R TI D BEZESEF I REF -

RIEEHEEBEI G MaEm
BE(BEESREMBUGRIER
e EWRER QR ZKE DEE
BITERRBITES AERNEE
Bk (7B TR E BESIERHE ) W
BERRRE RAAHFHEY
E B ER B I B RS F0E -
N AEETELZSSHBERS
1B (20184 « 96,0005 7T ) (H
$19) o

B R

TR E DT
TRAMAKEFTESRARL
BRIMBEN ZEXRBEERAE
ZAFHRRESRE BAEEEE
Rz &xF AR R IETES
BEERHARKEREEER
Hio leoh TRFFMANREITE SR
TAZRBEE DM

TREHFERRASRSRE i
HMERBZBHE  ARTREER
BRERRZ M EME L
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(B)

- = =
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 3. €EMIAE-E&
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (B) HEREKMEEEERBKKX-E
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES - continued
Liquidity risk — continued B R — &
Liquidity risk analysis — continued Ti BB B 7 AT — A
Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total amount at
interest or less than 3 months 1 year 2 years undiscounted 31 December
rate 3 months to 1 year to 2 years to 5 years cash flow 2019
R20195
mE REREE ZfiAE -£ZE WEE  AfRRE 12A318
TUHE  HRZEA - k3 bik:3 REER ZEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR TET TET TET TET TET
Non-derivative financial liabilities %74 ¢ HE &
Trade and bill payables BHEAFERENEE  NARER 614,303 - - - 614,303 614,303
Other payables and accruals EtESFEARERIE  NARER 90,629 - - - 90,629 90,629
Amounts due to related companies FEfT %% 2 5308 N/A REH 1,088,762 - - - 1,088,762 1,088,762
Lease liabilities HEEE 5.08% 1M 3221 - - 4332 4143
Convertible bonds and bonds ThkESRES
- Liabilities components -8EHH 841% - 11.63% - 1,113,384 - - 1,113,384 1,040,985
Bank and other borrowings BOREMEE 5.84% - 14.90% 1,623,621 254,538 1,608,149 997,487 4,483,795 3,983,034
3,418,426 1,371,143 1,608,149 997487 7,395,205 6,821,856
Financial guarantees contracts BB ERAL N/A T 269,954 - - - 269,954 o
Carrying
Weighted ~ On demand Total amount at
average  or less than 3 months 1 year 2years undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 months to 1 year t0 2 years t0 b years cash flow 2018
#R2018%F
ne =fiRz £z MEE  AfRRS 128318
TR = — ME ki3 REER ZEHEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
Non-derivative financial liabilities Ff74 @A E
Trade and bill payables LHRATERENZE  NATER 717394 - - - 717394 717394
Other payables and accruals EEMTARBRIE  NATER 88,530 - - - 88,530 88,530
Amounts due to related companies FETBE 2 5308 N/A TiEH 1,098,050 - - - 1,098,050 1,098,050
Convertible bonds and bonds ThkESRES
- Liabilities components -8Ed5 8.7%-12.8% - 794,274 513,581 - 1,307,855 1,121,190
Bank and other borrowings ROREREE 1.11%-9.64% 59,844 1,033,157 1,489,822 2,543,386 5,126,209 3,968,634
1,963,818 1,827431 2,003,403 2,543,386 8,338,038 6,993,798
Financial guarantees contracts BBERAY NA 7 E B 343,924 - - - 343,924 -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 3. T@MITHE-&
(C) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF (C) ERMITAECZAREEFTE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value of the Group's financial assets AEBUFLREMEERANAE
and financial liabilities that are not EBEfEvsRiEERESMAREZ
measured at fair value on a recurring AREE
basis
The Directors consider that the carrying EZRBNZEE U BRI
amounts of financial assets and financial KA EZeMEENEREE
liabilities measured at amortised cost in ZHRmEHEEAAEERS -
these consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 3. HMBEEREEZHR
CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM METEMELABEZEH
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Details of the changes in the Group's liabilities AEBRBEESMELEBGE 2 EHTEN
from financing activities are as follows: T
2019 20195
Non-cash changes
FRLEH
Foreign Disposal Extension of
1 January Financing exchange ofa Accrued  Convertible 31 December
2019 cash flow differences  subsidiary interest Bonds | 2019
20195 HE-H 133 20195
1818 RERERE HEEE WEAT EHAS  WRREH 12A31R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FERL TFERL FEL TERL FEL TERL
Amounts due to related companies FEfER 0 A3
(note 38(G) i) (i 238(6) i) 1,098,050 29,374 (34,217) (4,445) - - 1,088,762
Bank and other borrowings BOREMES 3,968,634 191,558 (94,118) (83,040) - - 3,983,034
Convertible bonds and bonds TERESRES 1,121,190 (179,178) (10,253) = 108,118 1,108 1,040,985
Lease liabilities HERE 10,167 (6,544) (50) - 570 - 4143
Interest payable ERFE 46,665 (303,533) - - 303,533 - 46,665
Total @it 6,244,706  (268,323)  (138,638) (87,485) 412,221 1,108 6,163,589
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37. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 37.

— continued

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES - continued

HttREREEH -&

MEETDFELEEZ2EH -&

2018 20184
Non-cash changes
FBLEH
Foreign Disposal Conversion of
1 January Financing exchange of a Accrued  Convertible 31 December
2018 cash flow  differences subsidiary interest Bonds Il 2018
20185 ir) & 20185
1R1E RERERE MEEE HELR [EHAE  AMARES 126318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR AT T THT TR THT FHT
Amounts due to related companies BB ARNE
(note 38(G){ii)) (Hi5E38(G)1ii) ) 433,762 718,198 (53,910) - - - 1,098,050
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE 4477847 624,291 (199,936)  (933,568) - - 3,968,634
Convertible bonds and bonds TRAREFRES 2,136,343 (130,257) (81,819) - 191,082 (994,159) 1,121,190
Interest payable ERFIS 46,551 (291,422) - - 291,536 - 46,665
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HBAR - (3,192) - - - - (3,192)
Total 5 7094,503 917618 (335,665) (933,568) 482,618 (994,159) 6,231,347
Notes: B 5
(a) The cash flows with amounts due to related companies, (a) ERAEMER A ARRIE  RITREMEES -
bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities, convertible HEBBE TRREFLESFULEMNT
bonds and bonds and interest payable represented BEZHReREREEHEL2RERANKEDN
the net amount of certain proceeds and repayments ETHRERBEBREFFE
disclosed in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
(b) Other changes mainly represents amortisation of up- (b) Hin @8 * ZERTREMEETER FE

front fee of bank and other borrowings.
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BBALT Z2HE

BribF 6 I IR E A BB 0 P ER 2 /8
BALRZIN ARERFAGET A

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Apart from the related party transactions
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
significant related party transactions during the
year.

(A)  During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group entered into property
management agreement with Tianrong
Property Service Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries (“Tianrong”), a company
held as to 64% by Mr. Zhou Zheng,
pursuant to which Tianrong would provide
property management service to the
Group from 1 August 2018 to 18 October
2021. The service expense for the year
was approximately HK$9,948,000 (2018:
HK$2,730,000).

(B)  During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group entered into an agreement with
DreamEast Pictures Co., Ltd. (“DreamEast
Pictures”), a company held as to 80%
by Mr. Zhou Zheng, pursuant to which
DreamkEast Pictures would provide the
Intellectual Properties Rights to the
Group from 1 August 2018 to 31 July
2021. The service expenses for the year
was approximately HK$4,200,000 (2018:
HK$1,810,000).

(C) During the year ended 31 December
2017, the Group entered into a tenancy
agreement with Sanhe SkyOcean Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Sanhe
SkyOcean”), a company held as to 80%
by Mr. Zhou Zheng, pursuant to which
Sanhe SkyOcean would lease the theme
park to the Group with the lease term from
October 2017 to December 2019. The rental
payment for the year was approximately
HK$2,161,000 (2018: HK$2,149,000).

38.

BERBEBALTRS
(A) MEZ=2018F12A318 It F

(B)

(C)

€ 7K & E HTianrong Property
Service Co., Ltd. X HKE A 7
([Tianrong ) (—ME B BEBELE
BECAWER Z AB) AT EE
1B 3% - #% Iit > Tianrong 8201848
B1HZE2021F10818H &R A%
BEIREMEETERE - FRRS
3 %9 59,948,000/ 7t (20187 :
2,730,000/ 7T) ©

REE2018F12A318 ILF & » &
EEEERFEZERAR (2
BHEY]) (—HMAERLEREE
80% 2 AR R ik Bt 2R
H EF B2018F8A1H £20214F7
A31B B mASLERHEMFHERE-
F N BR 7% B F #) /4,200,000 7T
(2018%F : 1,810,000 7T ) °

REE2017F12A318 L FE - &
EEE D KFHEHEREER
AR ([ FRFR |, — B ER ST
EHRES0% R 2 AR RIMAE
Wit B AR R AL E
HAH E RE L4 R T B 2017410 A
22019F 128 - FRNMAENFKLN B
2,161,000/ 7T (20184F : 2,149,000
HBIT) °
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38.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
— continued

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

During the current year, the Group raised
a new loan from SkyOcean Investment,
amounting to RMB232,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$258,812,000). Details
of the loan is set out in note 25(b)(ii).

During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Group entered into consultancy
service agreement with TianMao,
pursuant to which the Group would
provide consultancy service to TianMao
from 21 February 2019 to 20 February
2020. The service fee for the year ended
31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$24,172,000 (2018: nil).

During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group disposed of its entire
equity interest in its subsidiaries, Fusion
Link International Limited, to SkyOcean
Investment Holdings Limited, a company
held as to 80% by Mr. Zhou. Details of the
disposal is set out in note 34.

The above transactions also constituted
connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in the
chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED
PARTIES

(i) At 31 December 2019, amounts
due from related companies
of HK$634,833,000 (2018:
HK$890,586,000) were all non-
trade nature, unsecured, interest-
free and repayable within one year.
Mr. Zhou Zheng has controlling
interest in these related companies.
The maximum outstanding amount
due from related companies
was HK$890,586,000 (2018:
HK$890,586,000) during the current
year.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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AL ZHE-&

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

AEER AEEBRFREES
—EHE R ARE232,000,0007T
(1A 7 #9258,812,000/87T) - B
SHIBE M FE25(0) (i) ©

REZE2019F 12831 IEEE - &K
EE K] A ARS e - 15
I AREEE E 201992 A21 B 22020
F2 A20 A ARKIR L AR -
REZE2019F12A31B ILFE - IR
EE B #/A24,172,000% 7T (2018
FogE) o

RELE2018F12831H IEEE - K
EEHEHRHBRRBRRES
BRA R Z 2 BRI T RIF IR B AR
ARAR (—HBBELEFFO%
2z A7) o HE 2 FBEHNHEE
340

bt 32 5 IR _E T AR RIS 1 RA
BT M BER 5 R B RRER
%0

HEEBAL 2 REEER

(i) 72019128318 -+ FE U 8
B /X 7 2 5\ 78634,833,000
78 7L (20184F : 890,586,000
BIL)YBEESEE &
BB RAR—FRNE
2o B A S
NaELZ ISR o N AR
SRR A R 2 KBS
RIE 5 /890,586,000
7t (20184F : 890,586,000/
JL) °
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
— continued

OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED
PARTIES - continued

(G)

(H)

(ii)

(iii)

At 31 December 2019, amounts
due to related companies
of HK$1,088,762,000 (2018:
HK$1,098,050,000) were all non-
trade nature, unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. Mr.
Zhou Zheng has controlling interest
in these related companies.

The Group issued the Convertible
Bonds Il to SkyOcean Investment in
prior year. The finance cost incurred
during the current year and carrying
amounts of the liability component
of the Convertible Bonds Il are set
out in note 26.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP

Key management personnel of the Group
representing the Directors, who have
authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the
Group, directly or indirectly. Compensation
to key management personnel represents
Directors’ emoluments and is disclosed in
note 11.

38. BBMATZHE-&

(G)

(H)

HEBAL 2 AEESSR &

(ii)

(iii)

M2019F12A31H ' &
B8 B N R 2 A
1,088,762,0007% Jt (2018
£ :1,098,050,0007% 7T ) 13
BIBSHME EEF %
BRBREREE - FRE
EHEA SRR A T 2 1
MRS o

EF AEERXFRESH
TR ERI R AFE
B 2 IR RS B AT AR
FIBEHY 2 REESHR
P26 ©

FAEETEEEASHM

AEEETZEE ABEERAME
HERE  EERIEHIAREEES
ZHEANBEEZEFT - TEEEA
BWBIEES ZH B SFEHNH

5F11 e
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38.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
— continued

1)

GUARANTEES PROVIDED BY RELATED
PARTIES

(i) At 31 December 2019, Mr. Zhou
Zheng and certain related parties
provided joint personal guarantee for
the borrowings granted by certain
banks and other financial institutions
to the Group with the carrying
amount of RMB3,572,981,000
(2018: RMBS3,404,334,000), which
is equivalent to approximately

(2018:

approximately HK$3,885,339,000),

details of which are set out in note

HK$3,983,034,000

25.

(ii) At 31 December 2019, SkyOcean
Holdings Group Limited, a company
beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Zhou Zheng, provided corporate
guarantee for the borrowings
granted by certain banks and
other financial institutions to the
Group with the carrying amount
of RMB3,572,981,000(2018:
RMB3,404,334,000), which
equivalent to approximately

(2018:

approximately HK$3,885,339,000),

details of which are set out in note

HK$3,983,034,000

25.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT
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AL ZHE-&

) BEBATRHEZER

(i) R2019F12A318 - AKX
EERAETFT@EB AL
ABTRITREMS BHE
BRASERE2ER
B A AR #3,572,981,000
gL (2018%F : AR ¥
3,404,334,0007t) (ME R
#493,983,034,000/% 7T (2018
F : 493,885,339,0007& 7T) )
ZEEHREEDEAZR
BRFFIBEAIIFE25 -

(ii) R2019F12A318 - AKX
H B R A8 % IE &
ARRARFLEBREBERA
AIBLE TIRITREM S R
BERAEEEL ZER
B A AR #3,572,981,000
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3,404,334,0007t) (#E R
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
— continued

(n GUARANTEES PROVIDE BY RELATED
PARTIES - continued

(i)

(iv)

At 31 December 2019, DreamEast
(Sanhe) Entertainment Limited,
a company beneficially owned
as to 80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng,
provided corporate guarantee for
the borrowings granted by certain
banks to the Group with the carrying
amount of RMB304,681,000
(2018: RMB312,912,000), which
is equivalent to approximately
HK$339,647,000 (2018:
approximately HK$357,124,000),
details of which are set out in note
25.

At 31 December 2019, Mr. Zhou
Zheng and the Company provided
joint personal guarantee for the loan
from an independent third party to
the Group with the carrying amount
of RMB230,953,000 (2018: HK$Nil),
which is equivalent to approximately
HK$257,458,000 (2018: HKS$Nil),
details of which are set out in note
25.

3. FEBMALIZHBE-&

) FBEBATRH#HZER-&

(iii)

R2019F12 A318H AR
EHEEmEBS0%ER 2
NREHEF (= )0) 1R 4
RARE FTHRITAAE
EREZEREAARE
304,681,0007T (20184F : A
FR#312,912,0007T) (&
M 49339,6470007% 7T (2018
£F 1 #9357124,000%7T) ) 2
BEREQARER BHEF
TEHAMIFE25 ©

2019128318 A&
ERANAR—RBILE=
FRAREEREZERES
A R #230,953,0007T (2018
F:2HL) (BERD
257458,000/%8 7T (20184 :
LA ) CEFREHE
EIAER  BEFBEHNMH
5125 o
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38.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
— continued

GUARANTEES PROVIDE BY RELATED
PARTIES - continued

1)

(v)

(vi)

At 31 December 2019 and 2018,
Mr. Zhou Zheng and a related party,
provided joint personal guarantee
and Beijing SkyOcean Holdings, a
company beneficially owned as to
80% by Mr. Zhou Zheng, provided
corporate guarantee in favour of the
holders of the Convertible Bonds I,
the Bonds | and the Bonds Il (note
26). Furthermore, Convertible Bonds
|, the Bonds | and the Bonds Il are
also secured by share charge over
certain number of ordinary shares
of the Company held by SkyOcean
Investment Holdings Limited, the
immediate holding company of the
Company, details of which are set
out in paragraph headed “Mandatory
Early Redemption for Convertible
Bonds I, the Bonds | and the Bonds
[1” in note 26. In addition, SkyOcean
Investment Holdings Limited, being
the holder of Convertible Bonds
I, charged over certain part of
Convertible bonds Il in favour of the
holder of Bonds Il (note 26).

At 31 December 2018, Beijing
SkyOcean Holdings, a company
beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Zhou Zheng, provided corporate
guarantee for the borrowings
granted by certain banks and
other financial institutions to
the Group with a total amount
of RMB345,767,000, which is
equivalent to approximately
HK$413,642,000, details of which
are set out in note 25. The loans
were disposed through the disposal
of a subsidiary during the year
ended 31 December 2018 as
disclosed in note 34.
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) BEBATRHEZER-&

(v) 20194 20184 12 A31
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BRITTRES G5 RE
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FIFBARFREERE
RAREMESRIFEAE
e TR ESN (T
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(vi) 20185128318 A%
BEREBAONER 2 A

AL R R E TR
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES

Place and date of

39.

Issued and fully

FTEMBEATEH

incorporation/ paid share capital/  Attributable equity interest Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company and place of operation
gAY/ ERTRAEZ
WEAR AR KSR A BA/ZEMBE  ARAFEECRERAESZ FEERREEHY
2019 2018
20195 2018F
SkyOcean United Hong Kong/ HK$10,000 82.35% 82.35% Investment holding,
19 August 2010 Hong Kong
XEBA B/ 10,0007 82.35% 82.35% WEER:
2010%8A19A Bk
Skyleaf Holdings limited* BVI/ Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding,
8 August 2013 Hong Kong
RERREBRA RREXHE/ %7 100% 100% #ERR:
201358 A8H Bk
Beijing SkyOcean** PRC/ RMB 100% 100% Property development,
(Limited liability company) 6 March 2014 249,000,000 PRC
FRRFEEREARAA e/ AR 100% 100% WEBRE RE
(BREFRAR) 2014%3A6H 249,000,0007T
DreamEast(Sanhe)** PRC/ US$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding, PRC
(Wholly foreign-owned 29 January 2015
limited liability company)
BRF (ZH)REERAT wE/ 1,000,000%7 100% 100% RELR HE
(HEEERREART) 2015%1A29A
DreamEast Jiaxing Cultural PRC/ S$58,820,000 100% 100% Property development,
Investment Co., Ltd** 6 December 2016 PRC
(Wholly foreign-owned limited
liability company)
2RA(ZR) XM REBRRA e/ 58,820,000% T 100% 100% #NEER FEH
(HEBERREART) 201612568
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

39.

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

Attributable equity interest

held by the Company

TEMNBATIEN-&

Principal activities
and place of operation

gMEL/ BRTRARZ
WEARAR gk 9 4=k BAR/EMREA ALAAMBE2EERAER FTEERCEHY
2019 2018
2019F 20185
Hunan DreamEast** PRC/ RMB 100% 100% Property development,
(Limited liability company) 7 March 2017 100,000,000 PRC
NEERAXCERERAT e/ AR 100% 100% WEEE FE
(BREFAR) 2017%3A78 100,000,000
Jiangsu DreamEast** PRC/ RMB 100% 100% Property development,
(Limited liability company) 16 December 2015 100,000,000 PRC
BRA(OIH)XREERERRA &/ AR® 100% 100% #EERE +H
(BREEAR) 2015512168 100,000,0007C
DreamEast Future World** PRC/ RMB 100% 100% Tourism park operation,
(Limited liability company) 5 February 2015 6,000,000 PRC
ERAARER (ZT)VREBRAR A/ AR#6,000,00070 100% 100% MEELEEE E
(BREEAR) 201552 A5H
SkyOcean Cultural Development PRC/ RMB 100% 100% Property development,
Limited**("SkyOcean Cultural”) 20 April 2017 500,000,000 PRC
(Limited liability company)
REXERERAR ([REXL]) wE/ AR® 100% 100% NEER 8
(BREEAR) 2017454 A20R 500,000,000
* Issued capital held directly by the Company * BBEITRAARNAREERE
*x English name for identification only *x BENEHBEHRSE

The above table listed the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the operating results of the
Group for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Note:  None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

at the end of the year.
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39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39. FEMBELATRER &
SUBSIDIARIES - continued
Investment in the subsidiary, SkyOcean United, RZMB AR (RFEBE)WRE HE
represents 82.35% of the issued ordinary share 1T EBAR AR ZK10,000/8 70AY82.35% ©
capital of HK$10,000, a company engaged in ZARRBEBFEMKY HEREER
investment holding which conducts its business REEEBEHEBEER-
principally in and is incorporated in Hong Kong.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES BEEEBERFEEHMES ([
WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON- FlER]) 2B QMK ER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”)
The following table shows the information TRINTNEBHREERIEESEER 2
relating to the non-wholly owned subsidiary MEBARIZER BBERMEIERF
that has material NCI. The summarised financial fE ¥ S5 A 2 BRE »
information represents amounts before inter-
company eliminations.
SkyOcean
United
KEBE
At 31 December 2019 "2019%F12H31H
Proportion of NCI's ownership interests VSR A L ) 17.65%
HK$'000
FHET
Current assets MENEE 217
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,204,339
Current liabilities REBE (21,079)
Non-current liabilities ERBBE -
Net assets AEFE 1,183,477
Carrying amount of NCI FERE MR 2 BREE 208,884
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39. FEREBELATER &
SUBSIDIARIES - continued
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES BEEEBNERFEZGMES ([

WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON- ZHlteEs]) 2ME 2 RMBAER

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”) — continued B

294

HK$°000
FET
Year ended 31 December 2019 HZE2019F12831B L FE
Revenue A -
Expenses 53 (3,362)
Loss &5 18 (3,362)
Other comprehensive loss HEfpiraEia (27,281)
Total comprehensive loss R EEARE (30,643)
Loss attributable to NCI FE 78 I 14 4 75 B (G B 1B (593)
Total comprehensive loss FE T2 I 1 2
attributable to NCI JEIL iR A BB AR (5,409)
Net cash flows from: TGRS REFHE
Operating activities K EE) 1
Investing activities WEEE -
Financing activities B E B -
Total cash inflows IR & AR 1
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39.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”) — continued

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

39. FEMBLARER &

EEEREAFZHEER ([
EHtER ) 2MBLARMBER

— &

SkyOcean
United
FEBA

At 31 December 2018 M2018%F12A831H
Proportion of NCI's ownership interests FEPE ) 1 A o o WS A s L ) 17.65%
HK$'000
FET
Current assets MENEE 217
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,234,984
Current liabilities mEAaE (15,815)
Non-current liabilities ERBBE -
Net assets BEFE 1,219,386
Carrying amount of NCI FERE MR 2 BREE 215,222
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39. FEMEBLATER &
SUBSIDIARIES - continued
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES BEEEANERFEH RS ([3F
WITH INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL NON- EHMtER ) 2HBLAMBEN

=
=]

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI”) — continued B

296

HK$'000
FiE T
Year ended 31 December 2018 BIZ£2018F12A31H L FE
Revenue A -
Expenses 53 (2,702)
Loss g} (2,702)
Other comprehensive loss HEfpiraEia -
Total comprehensive loss iR W B 1R (2,702)
Loss attributable to NCI FE 122 1) 11 1 % B (L B 18 (477)
Total comprehensive loss FE 122 ) M 4 25 FE A
attributable to NCI re EEARE (477)
Net cash flows from: TOFRIREREFF:
Operating activities KR ED 10
Investing activities WEEE -
Financing activities & E B -
Total cash inflows IR & AR 10
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39.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES - continued
COMPOSITION OF THE GROUP

Principal activity

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

39. FEMBLATER &

REE AN

Place of incorporation/
establishment
and operation

Number of wholly-
owned subsidiaries

TEEK ML PRI R AR i B 2EMBARHE
2019 2018
2019F 20184
Investment holding Hong Kong 4 4
REER o
Investment holding BVI 6 10
REER HERLHS
Investment holding PRC 1 2
REER H B
Property development and management PRC 1" 9
MEEREEIER H B
Provision of corporate services Hong Kong 1 1
A A IR 5
Tourism park operation PRC 1 1
T 3 B4 B 58 H B
Movie and television culture PRC 3 2
AR X Y
Inactive BVI 3 3
TmEx BERLHS
Inactive u.S. - 1
TmEx EE
Inactive Hong Kong - 2
TmEx 5
Inactive PRC 4 4
Tme H B
34 39
Place of incorporation/
establishment and Number of non-wholly-
Other activity operation owned subsidiaries
Hi %% AEM BRI BR L R A i B F2EMBARRE
2019 2018
20194 20184
Investment holding Hong Kong 1 1
REERK BB
Movie and television culture PRC 1 1
2548 H Y
Property development and management U.S. - 1
MERRRER EH
2 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40.

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

R A YA R KRB

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets HREEE 4,010 -
Investments in subsidiaries RETE AR ZRE 726,768 744,062
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE L BfY /B A B FRIB 1,622,757 1,648,574
2,353,535 2,392,636
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and ~ EMEWIE 124 K&
prepayments TET3RIB 4,993 5,253
Bank balances and cash RITEBRLES 3,819 27028
8,812 32,281
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals H b fE T 08 R TE IR FRIE 145 807
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE BB A B FRIE 29,000 3
Amounts due to related companies JE 1 BB A & 58 8,650 49,230
Lease liability HEBE 4,143 -
Convertible bonds and bonds A} ESMESH 1,040,985 685,984
1,082,923 736,024
Net current liabilities REBAEFHE (1,074,111) (703,743)
Total assets less current BWEERRBEE
liabilities 1,279,424 1,688,893
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible bonds and bonds AIMEESMES - 435,206
NET ASSETS g ERE 1,279,424 1,253,687
Equity =
Share capital fi& A< 28,550 28,550
Reserves ] 1,250,874 1,225,137
TOTAL EQUITY EREs 1,279,424 1,253,687

This statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 8 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Zhou Jin
Director
B
o
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Yang Lei
Director
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40.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12831H IFF/E

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40. AATHBRRERRFHE &

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

— continued
MOVEMENT IN THE COMPANY'S RESERVES FARREES
Convertible
Share bonds Exchange
Share Other options equity translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BRE TRRES EX
BEE HittftE L ERffE & REEF o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FisT FHL T FHL T FAL
At 1 January 2018 20181 A1A 347939 (682,298 - 1,327,684 (160,402) 1,292,091 2,125,014
Profit and total comprehensive FREFRIGE NEEE
income for the year - - - - - 84,445 84,445
Issue of shares upon conversion of BRUARESBRETRN
convertible bonds (Note 26) (Fizt26) 1,903,996 - - (929,331) - - 974,665
Deemed contribution on disposal of LE-RNBARZ
a subsidiary BELE (2,068,763 191,017 - - - - (1876,846)
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ REHZLENURG A
(Note 29) BRI (M3E29) - - 496 - - - 496
Exchange difference on translation BEEEVERES - - - - (82,637) - (82,637)
At 31 December 2018 and 20185 12A318 &
1 January 2019 201951818 183,172 (490,381) 496 398,353 (243,039) 1,376,536 1,225,137
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ FREF| kA W EE
for the year - - - - - 42,371 42,377
Extension of the Convertible Bonds |~ ERARKEESI
(Note 26) (Hi3E26) - - - 515 - - 515
Equity-settled share-based payments ~ REHLEEURG B
[Note 29) BRI (W3E29) - - 83818 - - - 8,818
Exchange difference on translation BEEEVERES - - - - (25,973) - (25,973)
At 31 December 2019 R201912 8318 183,172 (490,381) 9,314 398,868 (269,012) 1,418,913 1,250,874
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31H IFFE

a.

42.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD

The COVID-19 outbreak has brought about
additional uncertainties in the Group's operating
environment in the PRC. As far as the Group's
businesses are concerned, the outbreak has so
far caused operational delays. The Group has
put in place contingency measures to lower
the impact from this outbreak. However, the
situation remains fluid at this stage. At the date
of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the Group is not in a position
to estimate the financial impacts of these
circumstances.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 8 May 2020.

DreamEast Group Limited 2R FEEHR AT

a.

42.

BEHWREEIH

COVID-19/& % SRS E M+ BIE L RIR®
KBS HEE RS - ILAKERERM S

RIBREESDERLERR - ANRECH
RS - RE R BRERRNTE -

AT BB BERADATTR T EEE - 1
WEZFAHYBRER AL AEEEE
BT ZFBERERNA T E

HES M BHRE

AHFETHREAE HEFERN202095 88K
RO IR HEBE AT o
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